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IMPORTANT INFORMATION 

This 2024 Financial Report contains forward-looking statements and non-IFRS 

financial information which should be read in conjunction with the important 

information on page 157. 
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1. COMPANY DETAILS 

Name of entity: Mineral Resources Limited 

ABN:  33 118 549 910 

Reporting period: For the year ended 30 June 2024 

Previous period: For the year ended 30 June 2023 

 

2. RESULTS FOR ANNOUNCEMENT TO THE MARKET 

  $M 

Revenues from ordinary activities up 10% to 5,278 

Profit from ordinary activities after tax attributable to the owners of 

Mineral Resources Limited 
down 48% to 125 

Profit for the year attributable to the owners of Mineral Resources 

Limited 
down 48% to 125 

 

Comments 

A commentary on the results for the period is contained within the Financial Report accompanying this 

announcement. 

 

3. NET TANGIBLE ASSETS 

 
Reporting period 

Previous 

period 

 
$/Share $/Share 

Net tangible assets per ordinary security1 17.81 17.59 

1 Net tangible assets per ordinary security does not include right-of-use assets and lease liabilities. 

 

 

4. DIVIDENDS 

 
Cents Franked % $M 

2024 Financial Year final dividend – No dividend declared - N/A - 

2024 Financial Year interim dividend – paid 26 March 2024 20.00 100% 39 

2023 Financial Year final dividend – paid 27 September 2023 70.00 100% 136 

2023 Financial Year interim dividend – paid 30 March 2023 120.00 100% 230 
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5. DETAILS OF ASSOCIATES AND JOINT VENTURES 

 

 

Reporting entity’s 

percentage holding 
 

Contribution to 

profit/(loss) 

 

Reporting 

period 
 

Previous 

period 
 

Reporting 

period 
 

Previous 

period 

 %  %  $M  $M 

   Aquila Resources Pty Ltd1 15.00%  15.00%  3  (2) 

   Binding Solutions Ltd2 18.50%  -  (2)  - 

   Delta Lithium Ltd 22.98%  -  (1)  - 

   Essential Metals Ltd -  19.55%  -  - 

   Northern Gateway Master Trust3 49.04%  -  -  - 

   Norwest Energy NL4 -  -  -  (2) 
1 Aquila Resources Pty Ltd is accounted for as an associate as the Group has significant influence primarily through representation on Aquila 

Resource Pty Ltd’s Board of Directors. 

2 Binding Solutions Ltd is accounted for as an associate as the Group has significant influence primarily through representation on Binding 

Solutions Ltd’s Board of Directors. 

3 Northern Gateway Master Trust is accounted for as a joint venture. 

4 As at 30 June 2023, Norwest Energy NL was a wholly owned subsidiary. 

Please refer to note 30 of the financial statements for further details of associates and joint ventures. 

 

6. DETAILS OF ENTITIES OVER WHICH CONTROL HAS BEEN GAINED OR LOST 

Effective 1 November 2023, MinRes gained control over the following entities: 

• Lithco No.2 Pty Ltd. 

• Tawana Resources Pty Ltd. 

 

During the financial year several entities were incorporated / established by the Group, including: 

• Onslow Iron Road Pty Ltd. 

• Onslow Iron Road Trust. 

 

Refer to note 29 of the financial statements for further details of controlled entities. 
 

7. AUDIT QUALIFICATION OR REVIEW 

The financial statements have been audited and an unmodified opinion has been issued. 
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COMPANY SECRETARIES 

Mark Wilson 
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REGISTERED OFFICE 
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PRINCIPAL PLACE OF BUSINESS  

20 Walters Drive 

Osborne Park WA 6017 
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F: + 61 8 9429 2436 
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www.nab.com.au 

 

SECURITIES EXCHANGE LISTING  

Mineral Resources Limited shares are listed 

on the Australian Securities Exchange (ASX: 

MIN) 

 

WEBSITE 

www.mineralresources.com.au 
 

 

GENERAL INFORMATION 

The financial statements cover Mineral Resources Limited as a group consisting of Mineral Resources Limited 

(the 'Company', ‘MinRes’ or 'Parent Entity') and the entities it controlled (the 'Group') at the end of, or during, 

the financial year. The financial statements are presented in Australian dollars, which is the Company’s 

functional and presentation currency. 

Mineral Resources Limited is a listed public company limited by shares, incorporated and domiciled in 

Australia. 

A description of the nature of the Group's operations and its principal activities is included in the Directors’ 

Report. 

The financial statements were authorised for issue, in accordance with a resolution of Directors, on 28 August 

2024.  

 

 

 

 

F
or

 p
er

so
na

l u
se

 o
nl

y

http://www.computershare.com/
https://www.ey.com/en_au
http://www.nab.com.au/
http://www.mineralresources.com.au/


 CORPORATE DIRECTORY 

 

MINERAL RESOURCES LIMITED 2024 FINANCIAL REPORT  |  8 

 

 

DIRECTORS’  

REPORT 
 

FINANCIAL YEAR ENDED 30 JUNE 2024 

 

F
or

 p
er

so
na

l u
se

 o
nl

y



DIRECTORS’ REPORT 

MINERAL RESOURCES LIMITED 2024 FINANCIAL REPORT  |  9 

The Directors present their report, with the financial statements, for the financial year ended 30 June 2024. 

 

DIRECTORS 

The following persons were Directors of Mineral Resources Limited during the whole of the financial year and 

up to the date of this report, unless otherwise stated: 

James McClements 

Chris Ellison 

Susie Corlett  

Kelvin Flynn (resigned 31 January 2024)  

Colleen Hayward AM  

Justin Langer AM 

Denise McComish (appointed 1 December 2023) 

Jacqui McGill AO (appointed 31 January 2024) 

Zimi Meka  

Xi Xi 

 

PRINCIPAL ACTIVITIES 

During the financial year, the principal continuing activities of the Group consisted of mining activities and the 

integrated supply of goods and services to the resources sector. 

An overview of the Group’s operations and a review of the operational performance, financial performance 

and cash and capital management are contained in the Operations and Financial Review below. 

 

DIVIDENDS 

 Cents Franked % $M 

2024 Financial Year final dividend – no dividend declared - N/A - 

2024 Financial Year interim dividend – declared 21 February 2024 20.00 100% 39 

2023 Financial Year final dividend – declared 28 August 2023 70.00 100% 136 

 

SIGNIFICANT CHANGES IN THE STATE OF AFFAIRS 

Other than as disclosed below in the Operations and Financial Review, there were no significant changes in 

the state of affairs of the Group during the financial year. 

 

OPERATIONS AND FINANCIAL REVIEW  

SUMMARY OF RESULTS 

Statutory Net Profit After Tax (NPAT) was $114M (FY23: $244M), down $130M on prior corresponding period (pcp) 

and includes $99M of non-cash, post-tax impairment charges mainly on exploration in the Yilgarn and sustained 

losses on equity-accounted investments. Also included within NPAT was a $283M pre-tax net gain plus a net tax 

benefit of $180M recognised on completion of the MARBL Joint Venture (MARBL JV) restructure. 

MinRes generated Underlying EBITDA1 of $1,057M for FY24 (FY23: $1,754M), down 40 per cent on pcp. The Lithium 

division was impacted by weaker prices, despite record volumes, while Iron Ore earnings benefited from higher 

achieved prices. The Mining Services division delivered a record result with continued growth in production 

volumes.  

Considering the Group’s current capital investment program, no final dividend has been declared. The 

fully franked interim dividend of $0.20 per ordinary share is the total full year dividend. 

 

 

 
1 The reconciliation of Underlying EBITDA to the IFRS financial metrics reported is contained in note 3 of the financial statements. 
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Cash and capital management 

 

MinRes maintained its liquidity throughout a period of significant capital investment for the Onslow Iron project. 

The following was completed in FY24: 

 

• US$1,100M Senior Unsecured Notes Offering in October 2023. 

• Restructured the MARBL JV on 18 October 2023 and received net proceeds of US$384M ($588M) from 

Albemarle. 

• Executed an iron ore customer prepayment of US$400M ($600M), repayable in equal amounts over FY26 

to FY28. 

• Entered an undrawn US$750M ($1,125M) bridge facility which will be cancelled upon receipt of the 

proceeds from the sale of the 49 per cent interest in the Onslow Iron haul road.  

• Upsized undrawn revolving credit facility to $800M, with maturity extended to June 2027.  

 

MinRes entered into a binding agreement with Morgan Stanley Infrastructure Partners for the sale of a 49 per 

cent interest in the Onslow Iron dedicated haul road for total expected proceeds of $1,300M. The sale is 

expected to be completed in 1H25.2 

 

At 30 June 2024, MinRes held cash and cash equivalents of $908M (FY23: $1,379M). In addition, MinRes had 

access to substantial undrawn debt facilities of $1,925M as at 30 June 2024 to support business development 

activities.  

 

 
 

 
 

1 Excluding capital repayments on hire purchase arrangements.  

 
2 Gross proceeds are payable in cash and comprise upfront consideration of $1,100M and deferred consideration of $200M, subject to 

achieving 35Mtpa run rate for any quarter before 30 June 2026. 
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Operating cash flow before financing and tax3 of $1,909M was up nine per cent on pcp, inclusive of working 

capital movements which benefited from iron ore prepayments of $600M.  
 

MinRes undertook significant capital investments in FY24 of $3,355M4. The majority of this capital investment was 

for Onslow Iron, which delivered first ore on ship in May 2024, ahead of schedule.     

 

• In addition to first ore on ship, the following milestones were achieved at Onslow Iron: 

• The first 15Mtpa NextGen crusher was commissioned and the mine stacker became operational. 

• All 500 of the resort-style rooms at Ken’s Bore were installed. 

• Significant progress was made on the haul road, which remains scheduled for completion in October 2024. 

• The haulage fleet was commissioned, with the first manned 330-tonne road trains in operation. Almost 70 

road trains made autonomous-ready, with 10 vehicles a month being equipped to reach a fleet size of 120. 

• The transshipping wharf was completed and the ship loader installed, with the truck unloading circuit, 

product handling shed, bridge reclaimer and transhipper loader all commissioned. 

• The first two transhippers began operations at the Port of Ashburton. 

 

Other key capital investments in FY24: 

 
• Commissioning and ramp up of Mt Marion expansion and preliminary development works to support 

future underground mining. 

• Pre-stripping of Stage 2 and 3 at Wodgina. 

• Ongoing gas exploration in the Perth Basin, with assembly and upgrades to the MinRes Explorer drill rig. 

• Investment to support new Mining Services contract wins. 

 
Mining Services 

 

Mining Services production volume was 269M wet metric tonnes (wmt), an increase of nine per cent (FY23: 248M 

wmt). Revenue increased 32 per cent to $3,380M (FY23: $2,562M), driven by growth in external crushing and 

haulage contracts, lithium production and Onslow Iron construction revenue.  

 

Underlying EBITDA was $550M (FY23: $484M) with an EBITDA margin (excluding Onslow Iron construction revenue)  

of 18 per cent (FY23: 19 per cent). Mining Services Production Underlying EBITDA was $2.1 per contract tonne, 

up 4 per cent on pcp.   

 

The Mining Services division was awarded six new contracts and renewed three contracts with Tier 1 

clients in FY24. 
 

 
3 Operating cash flow before financing and tax of $1,909M represents net cash from operating activities of $1,449M excluding cash from net 

financing costs and income taxes paid of $460M. 
4 Capex of $3,355M is reconciled to ‘Net cash used in investing activities’ of $3,866M by including portion funded through Onslow carry loan of 

$417M, less asset financing ($500M) and net investments ($430M). 
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1 Mining Services Production volumes are based upon TMM, crushed, processed, transported and other logistical services. Production 

Underlying EBITDA per Tonne is calculated based on Production Underlying EBITDA for FY24 of $554M (FY23: $489M), which reflects MinRes’ 

annuity style production-related earnings. 

2 CAGR (Compound Annual Growth Rate) since 1H19 calculated as the CAGR for the successive six-month periods from 1H19 to 2H24 

multiplied by two. 

 

Iron Ore 

FY24 (Attributable) YILGARN HUB PILBARA HUB ONSLOW5 TOTAL 

Lump weighting actual (%) 28% 19% All Fines  23%  

Shipped actual (M wmt) 7.6 10.4 0.2  18.1 

FOB Cost actual ($/wmt) 108 74    

 

MinRes operates three iron ore operations in Western Australia: the Pilbara Hub, the Yilgarn Hub and Onslow Iron. 

Iron ore exports in FY24 totaled 18.1M wmt across all hubs.  

Onslow Iron delivered first ore on ship in May 2024 – ahead of schedule. The first two transhippers loaded three 

minicape vessels in May and June, with 0.319M wmt (100 per cent) shipped at a grade above 58 per cent Fe. 

The Pilbara Hub shipped 10.4M wmt and Yilgarn Hub shipped 7.6M wmt in FY24. MinRes will cease exports at the 

Yilgarn Hub by 31 December 2024, with operations to safely ramp down in a staged approach over 1H25. 

Iron Ore revenue of $2,578M (FY23: $2,147M), 20 per cent higher on pcp with improved achieved prices from 

lower product discounts and increased shipments. The FY24 average iron ore price achieved was US$103/dmt, 

an increase of 11 per cent on pcp, representing a realisation of 86 per cent (FY23: 84 per cent) of the Platts 62% 

IODEX. 

The Yilgarn Hub FOB Cost was $108/wmt, 10 per cent higher on pcp as onsite haulage constraints continued 

through the year. The Pilbara FOB Cost was $74/wmt, four per cent higher on pcp from increased haulage costs 

attributable to diesel rise-and-fall charges. 

Total Iron Ore Underlying EBITDA of $394M (FY23: $185M) was 113 per cent higher than pcp. 

 

 

 

 

 
5 Onslow Iron attributable volumes are actual share of sales in the period which are expected to average at MinRes’ 57 per cent equity share 

over the life of the project. 
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Lithium  

FY24 (Attributable) MT MARION WODGINA BALD HILL TOTAL 

Product Spodumene Spodumene LBC Spodumene Spodumene 

Grade actual 4.1% 5.6%  5.2%  

Shipped actual 218k dmt SC6 201k dmt SC6 Sold 24kt 67k dmt SC6 486k dmt SC6 

FOB Cost actual 

($/dmt SC6) 
754 972 N/A   

 

Mt Marion 

Spodumene concentrate production at Mt Marion increased by 40 per cent on pcp to a record 328k dry metric 

tonnes (dmt) for FY24. MinRes shipped a record 218k dmt attributable share of SC6 spodumene concentrate in 

FY24. 

Underground development activity commenced in 2H24 with the box cut completed and the first portal fired in 

June 2024. 

The achieved SC6 price at Mt Marion was US$1,428/dmt, a decrease of 73 per cent on pcp, impacted by lower 

lithium prices. 

The FOB Cost of SC6 volumes shipped was $754/dmt, 32 per cent lower on pcp reflecting higher quality feed, 

increased recoveries and plant performance. 

Total Mt Marion Underlying EBITDA from spodumene sales was $229M (FY23: $909M). 

Wodgina 

Spodumene concentrate production increased by 44 per cent on pcp to 212k dmt, driven by an increase in 

MinRes’ share and higher ore mined.  

Shipments were a record 201k dmt attributable share of SC6 equivalent spodumene concentrate in FY24. The 

FOB Cost SC6 shipped was $972/dmt, marginally higher on pcp from lower recoveries impacted by oxide feed.  

In response to the pricing dynamics between spodumene and chemical indices, MinRes transitioned from tolling 

its share of Wodgina spodumene into lithium battery chemicals (LBC) to resuming spot spodumene sales in 2H24 

with 145k dmt sold at an achieved SC6 price US$1,141/dmt in 2H24.  

MinRes produced 18.4kt of LBC and sold down the remaining LBC inventory, with a total of 24kt sold across FY24 

at an average realised price of US$16,802/t (excluding VAT).  

Total Wodgina Underlying EBITDA was $171M (FY23: $425M), impacted by lower lithium indices, partially offset by 

higher volumes sold and lower spodumene feed costs for LBC production. 

MARBL JV  

MinRes completed the restructuring of the MARBL JV with Albemarle on 18 October 2023. MinRes’ share of the 

Wodgina mine increased from 40 per cent to 50 per cent and Albemarle resumed full ownership of the Kemerton 

lithium hydroxide processing plant. MinRes received total net cash proceeds of US$384M ($588M) from 

Albemarle for its share of Kemerton and completion adjustments at Wodgina and Kemerton effective 1 April 

2022, and recognised a net pre-tax gain of $283M on completion of the MARBL JV restructure.6 

Bald Hill 

MinRes finalised the acquisition of the Bald Hill mine and assumed control on 1 November 2023.  

Production ramped up in 2H24, driven by improved recoveries and plant performance.  

Over this period, MinRes shipped and sold 67k dmt SC6 spodumene concentrate at an SC6 achieved price of 

US$1,118/dmt.  

Total Bald Hill Underlying EBITDA was $17M. 

 
6 Net pre-tax gain of $283M includes a $333M gain on acquisition of an additional interest in a joint operation (note 24), a gain on settlement 

of pre-existing relationship as part of the restructured MARBL transaction of $51M (note 5), partially offset by pre-completion losses and 

transaction costs totalling $101M. In addition to the net pre-tax gain of $283M, the transaction resulted in a net tax benefit of $95M. 
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Energy 
 

MinRes achieved significant drilling and flow testing success in the Perth Basin across both natural gas (North 

Erregulla Deep-1; Lockyer-5 ST-1) and oil (North Erregulla-2) discoveries.   

The North Erregulla Deep-1 gas well demonstrated a maximum flow rate of 99 million standard cubic feet 

(MMscf) per day. The Lockyer-5 ST-1 gas development well achieved the highest stabilised flow rate in the Perth 

Basin of 104MMscf per day. Analysis confirmed that both development wells produced very clean gas with low 

carbon dioxide levels of approximately three per cent.   

In oil well testing, North Erregulla-2 oil well achieved a strong flow rate with current estimated potential average 

production rate of more than 1,100 barrels of oil per day. The oil assay analysis completed confirmed American 

Petroleum Institute (API) gravity of 31 degrees and 0.1 per cent sulphur, indicating a sweet, medium to light 

crude oil. 

The Company continued assembly and upgrade of the MinRes Explorer drill rig. Subsequent to FY24, the rig was 

deployed and commenced drilling of the North Erregulla-3 oil appraisal well in August 2024. MinRes Explorer is a 

fully containerised, low-operating cost, onshore unit capable of drilling to a vertical depth of 5,000 metres using 

an automated drill floor. 

A Final Investment Decision for the Lockyer Conventional Gas Project remains subject to WA Government 

agreement for partial gas export to support the investment. 

 

 

Outlook 

The outlook for MinRes remains very positive, particularly for its core Mining Services division.  

MinRes enters FY25 with the conclusion of the construction phase of the world-class Onslow Iron project and 

targeted ramp-up to nameplate production of 35Mtpa from June 2025. As Onslow Iron volumes increase, Group 

cash flows are expected to significantly increase facilitating a rapid deleveraging of the balance sheet from 

early 2025. 

Onslow Iron is a major growth catalyst for the Mining Services division. Earnings will grow significantly through the 

execution of the project’s innovative pit-to-ship operations over the life of mine, in addition to receiving a tolling 

fee per tonne of iron ore transported over the Onslow Iron haul road. Mining Services earnings from Tier 1 clients 

is also expected to expand strongly over the coming years as it delivers on recent contracts wins and renewals.  

The successful commencement of Onslow Iron will significantly increase volumes and transition the Iron Ore 

division into low-cost and long-life operations. 

The Lithium division remains focused on maximising the value of its three upstream operations in Western 

Australia. In the near term, the business will concentrate on lowering costs and capital spend, while assessing 

and maintaining flexibility to increase production subject to improved market conditions. Ongoing drilling across 

all three deposits and nearby tenure is expected to further improve resources and reserves. 

Following its onshore natural gas discoveries, the Energy division has advanced to the development stage. This 

division looks forward to further exploration and definition of numerous natural gas and oil prospects over the 

coming years.  

MinRes will continue to invest in industry-leading wellbeing initiatives to retain and attract high-quality people 

and promote a safe and family-friendly community on site.   

The Company will continue to assess options to unlock value and release capital across its diverse portfolio. A 

recent example is the announced sale of the 49 per cent interest in the Onslow Iron dedicated haul road to 

Morgan Stanley Infrastructure Partners for expected proceeds of $1,300M. Completion and the first $1,100M 

upfront payment is expected in the 1H25.  

MinRes’ strong liquidity position, focus on costs and increasing returns on invested capital positions the Company 

well for the future.   
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RISK MANAGEMENT 

 
MinRes’ approach to risk management is governed by an Enterprise Risk Management Framework Policy and 

Enterprise Risk Management Framework procedures, which together are referred to as the ERM Framework.  

Managing risks appropriately enhances the Company’s ability to successfully deliver on objectives, defend 

value-creating activities and meet the expectation of stakeholders. 

 

The ERM Framework provides a common language and tools across all business units and functions to describe, 

capture, assess and treat risks. This provides assurance to the Board that risks are being managed in accordance 

with the Company’s risk appetite while achieving the Company’s core purpose, embedding corporate values 

and protecting its reputation. 

 

The summary below outlines material risk groups (rated as high and above) that may affect the Company. The 

list is not exhaustive nor disclosed in order of materiality. MinRes’ Enterprise Risk Register accounts for additional 

risks, encompassing but not limited to critical factors such as: 

 

• business integrity  

• anti-bribery and corruption 

• respect for human rights and maintaining a responsible supply chain  

• ensuring positive community engagement 

• managing stakeholder relations 

• environmental factors such as water security, responsible waste and tailings. 

 

Refer to the Company’s policies relating to each of these, as disclosed on the Company’s website.  

 

MinRes acknowledges the importance of these risks and has implemented measures to mitigate their potential 

impact on the Company’s operations and stakeholders.  
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Key to risk disclosures 

 

 Financial 

 ESG (Environment, safety, community, reputation, health and wellbeing) 

 Compliance 

 Business continuity 

 People 

Category Risk description 
Potential impacts on 

performance 
MinRes controls 

 

Governance 

Framework 

 
  

Commodity  

price risk  

 

• Financial 

performance 

and shareholder 

returns  

 

• Solvency, cash 

flow and liquidity 

  

• Ability to 

achieve Group 

growth strategy 

including access 

to capital and 

debt markets 

 

• Treasury Policy  

 

• Diversification of 

operations and 

uncorrelated 

revenue streams 

(Iron Ore, Energy, 

Lithium and 

Mining Services) 

 

• Price sensitivity 

analysis including 

in liquidity 

management 

and budgeting 

and forecast 

processes  

 

 

 

• Audit and Risk 

Committee and 

Board 

  

• Executive 

Management 

Group 

 

• Iron Ore 

Marketing team 

 

• Lithium 

Marketing team 

 

• Group Treasury  

  

• Operational 

Finance Team  

 

• Risk Working 

Group 

 
  

Foreign  

exchange risk 

 

• Financial 

performance  

and shareholder 

returns  

 

• Ability to achieve 

Group growth 

strategy, including 

access to capital 

and debt markets  

 

• Solvency, cash 

flow and liquidity  

 

 

• Treasury Policy 

 

• Ongoing 

monitoring and 

reporting of 

foreign currency 

movements  

 

• Liquidity and 

credit 

management 

strategy  

 

 

• Audit and Risk 

Committee and 

Board 

 

• Group Treasury 

 

• Corporate 

Finance 

 

• Risk Working 

Group 

  

Climate change, 

emissions and 

stakeholder support 

 

• Loss of social 

licence to 

operate 

 

• Reputational 

damage 

 

• Challenges in 

accessing capital 

and debt markets 

 

 

 

• Continued 

monitoring of 

compliance with 

MinRes 

Sustainability 

reporting and 

regulatory 

frameworks 

 

 

 

 

 

• Sustainability 

Committee and 

Board  

 

• Decarbonisation 

team 

 

• Decarbonisation 

Working Group 
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Category Risk description 
Potential impacts on 

performance 
MinRes controls 

 

Governance 

Framework 

 

• Cost of failure to 

meet regulatory 

compliance 

 

• Damage to assets 

and infrastructure 

 

• Loss of efficiency 

because of lost 

time to extreme 

weather events 

 

• Risk assessment 

of vulnerable 

assets and 

subsequent 

monitoring 

 

 

• Decarbonisation 

Steering 

Committee 

  

Cultural heritage sites 

and social 

performance  

 

• Loss of land 

access and social 

licence to 

operate 

 

• Reputational 

damage 

 

• Impact on the 

ability to obtain 

future project 

approvals to 

achieve growth 

strategy  

 

• Increased costs 

for mitigation and 

regulatory 

outcomes 

 

 

• Continued 

monitoring and 

audit of heritage 

information and 

approvals  

 

• Engagement with 

Traditional Owners 

 

• Sustainability 

Committee and 

Board  

 

• Sustainability 

team 

 

• Responsible 

Heritage, 

Environment and 

Land Access 

Management  

Steering 

Committee  
  

• Heritage team  

 

 

  

Cyber incidents 

resulting in loss of 

data and business 

interruption  

 

• Impact to 

Corporate 

Services and/or 

operational 

performance 

affecting 

Corporate 

functions and/or 

resulting in  

production down 

time  

 

• Regulatory and 

legal action  

 

• Reputational 

damage 

 

• Cyber security 

awareness 

training program  

 

• Ongoing 

monitoring of 

systems and IT 

environment 

 

• Enhancements to 

software and 

systems  

 

• Crisis IT incident 

management 

plans and 

response 

 

 

• Audit and Risk 

Committee and 

Board  

 

• Information 

Technology team 

 

• Risk Working 

Group 

  

Geopolitical 

instability and 

disruption in the 

organisational value 

chains 

 

• Financial 

performance and 

shareholder 

returns  

 

 

• Liquidity and 

credit 

management 

strategy  

 

 

• Audit and Risk 

Committee and 

Board  
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Category Risk description 
Potential impacts on 

performance 
MinRes controls 

 

Governance 

Framework 

 

 

• Solvency, cash 

flow and liquidity 

 

• Crisis 

management 

plans and 

response 

 

• Diversification of 

materials suppliers 

and product 

customers  

 

 

• Executive 

Management 

Group 

 

• Group Treasury  

 

• Corporate 

Finance team 

 

• Risk Working 

Group 

 
  

Regulatory 

compliance  

 

• Loss of social 

licence to 

operate  

 

• Reputational 

damage  

 

• Challenges in 

accessing capital 

and debt markets 

  

• Operational 

performance 

resulting from 

increased costs 

 

 

• Implementation 

of risk 

management 

framework  

 

• Internal Audit 

function over 

governance, 

compliance and 

internal controls 

 

• Audit and Risk 

Committee, 

Sustainability 

Committee, 

Remuneration 

and People 

Committee, 

Technical 

Committee and 

Board  

 

• Executive 

Management 

Group  

 

• Corporate 

Finance team 

 

• Group Legal 

  

• Risk Working 

Group 

 
  

Biodiversity, closure, 

and rehabilitation 

 

• Loss of social 

licence to 

operate  

 

• Reputational 

damage  

 

• Increased costs 

for regulatory and 

compliance 

outcomes 

 

 

• External review of 

closure cost 

estimates and 

closure 

requirements 

 

• Implementation 

of Environmental 

Policy 

 

• Sustainability 

Committee and 

Board  

 

• Mine Closure 

Steering 

Committee 

 

• Responsible 

Heritage, 

Environment and 

Land Access 

Management  

Steering 

Committee  
  

• Water Working 

Group 
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Category Risk description 
Potential impacts on 

performance 
MinRes controls 

 

Governance 

Framework 

 

 

• Environment team 

 

• Sustainability 

team 

 

  

Work health, safety 

and wellbeing 

(inclusive of 

psychosocial 

hazards) 

 

• Fatality, illness or 

personal disability  

 

• Compliance with 

work health and 

safety obligations 

 

• Reputational 

damage 

including ability  

to attract and 

retain staff  

 

• Operational 

performance 

 

• Implementation 

of Critical 

Control 

Management 

system 

applicable to 

employees and 

contractors 

 

• Review and 

internal/external 

audit of 

processes and 

procedures 

 

• Injury and 

medical 

emergency 

evacuation 

protocols  

 

• Occupational 

health and 

exposure 

assessments  

 

 

• Sustainability 

Committee, 

Remuneration 

and People 

Committee and 

Board  

 

• Health and  

Safety team 

 

• Risk Working 

Group 

  

Talent and  

capability 

 

• Ability to attract 

and retain skilled 

labour  

 

• Loss of Corporate 

knowledge and 

experience  

 

• Operational or 

commercial 

disruptions 

including impact 

on organisational 

culture 

 

• Provision of 

leadership 

programs  

 

• Talent acquisition 

strategy including 

competitive 

remuneration and 

employee 

benefits  

 

• Succession 

planning  

 

• Employee 

experience 

feedback 

 

 

• Remuneration 

and People 

Committee and 

Board  

 

• People team 

 

• Diversity and 

Inclusion Steering 

Committee 

 

• Gender Equity 

Working Group 

 

• Risk Working 

Group 
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LIKELY DEVELOPMENTS AND EXPECTED RESULTS OF OPERATIONS 

The Outlook section on page 14 of this report provides an indication of likely developments and expected results.  

 

EVENTS AFTER THE REPORTING PERIOD 

There were no material events after the reporting period. 

 

ENVIRONMENTAL REGULATION 

The Group is subject to environmental regulation of its operations, including exploration and mining activities. 

The Directors are not aware of any significant known breaches of environmental regulations to which the Group 

is subject. 

The Group is registered under the National Greenhouse and Energy Reporting Act 2007 (Cth), under which it is 

required to report annual energy consumption and greenhouse gas emissions for its Australian facilities. The 

Group has systems and processes in place for the collection and calculation of data.  

 

INFORMATION ON DIRECTORS 

JAMES MCCLEMENTS 

Title: Independent Chair (appointed 2 March 2022)  

 Lead Independent Non-Executive Director (2017 financial year – 1 March 2022) 

Appointment: 29 May 2015 

Qualifications: B Econ (Hons) 

Experience and expertise: James has more than 35 years’ experience in the mining industry as a banker and 

fund manager financing projects globally.  

James was raised and educated in the Pilbara region of Western Australia and began his professional career 

with BHP Limited before joining Standard Chartered Bank in Perth and N.M. Rothschild & Sons in Sydney then 

Denver.  

James spent 11 years in the USA and co-founded Resource Capital Funds (RCF) during that time. He is the 

Managing Partner of RCF and has extensive Board experience having served as a director of 12 RCF portfolio 

companies. 

Other listed current directorships: None 

Former listed directorships (last three years): None 

Special responsibilities:  

• Chair of Board of Directors 

• Chair of Nomination Committee  

• Chair of Remuneration and People Committee (appointed 1 February 2024) 

 

Interests in shares at the date of the report: 26,636 

Interests in options at the date of the report: None 
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CHRIS ELLISON MNZM 

Title: Managing Director 

Appointment: 27 February 2006 

Experience and expertise: Chris is the founding shareholder of each of the three original subsidiary companies 

of Mineral Resources Limited (Crushing Services International Pty Ltd, PIHA Pty Ltd and Process Minerals 

International Pty Ltd).  

He has more than 40 years’ experience in the mining contracting, engineering and resource processing 

industries within Australia. Since 2013, Chris has also served as Honorary Consul for New Zealand within Western 

Australia. 

Other listed current directorships: Delta Lithium Ltd, Alita Resources Ltd 

Former directorships (last three years): None 

Special responsibilities: Managing Director 

Interests in shares at the date of the report: 22,893,896 

Interests in options at the date of the report: None 

Interests in share rights at the date of the report: 551,056 

 

SUSIE CORLETT 

Title: Independent Non-Executive Director 

Appointment: 4 January 2021 

Qualifications: BSc (Geo, Hons), FAusIMM, Graduate Australian Institute of Company Directors (AICD) 

Experience and expertise: Susie is a professional non-executive director following an executive career spanning 

mine operations, investment banking and private equity. 

Susie is currently a non-executive director of Iluka Resources Ltd and Aurelia Metals Ltd, a Trustee of the Australian 

Institute of Mining and Metallurgy (AusIMM) Education Endowment Fund and serves on the Advisory Board of 

The Foundation for National Parks and Wildlife. 

Originally a geologist, Susie has a background in mining operations and mineral exploration. During her 

executive career, she was an Investment Director for global mining private equity fund, Pacific Road, and 

worked in mining risk management and project finance for Standard Bank Limited, Deutsche Bank and 

Macquarie Bank. 

Susie is a Fellow of the AusIMM and member of Chief Executive Women. 

Other listed current directorships: Iluka Resources Ltd, Aurelia Metals Ltd 

Former listed directorships (last three years): None 

Special responsibilities:  

• Chair of Sustainability Committee 

• Member of Audit and Risk Committee  

• Member of Technical Committee (appointed 1 February 2024) 

 

Interests in shares at the date of the report: 6,199 

Interests in options at the date of the report: None 
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KELVIN FLYNN 

Title: Independent Non-Executive Director 

Appointment: 22 March 2010 (resigned 31 January 2024) 

Qualifications: B Com, CA 

Experience and expertise: Kelvin is a qualified Chartered Accountant with over 31 years of experience in 

investment banking and corporate advisory roles, including private equity and special situations investments 

and debt financing in the mining and resources sector.  

Kelvin has held various leadership positions in Australia and Asia, having previously been Executive Director/Vice 

President with Goldman Sachs and Managing Director of Alvarez & Marsal in Asia. He has worked in Corporate 

M&A, complex financial workouts, turnaround advisory and interim management. 

Kelvin is the Managing Director of the specialist alternative funds manager Harvis, which focuses on structured 

credit finance, investments and advice in the real estate and natural resources sectors.  

Other listed current directorships: Red 5 Ltd, Atrum Coal Ltd  

Former listed directorships (last three years): None 

Special responsibilities:  

• Chair of Audit and Risk Committee (resigned 31 January 2024) 

• Member of Nomination Committee (resigned 31 January 2024) 

 

Interests in shares: 17,475 (held upon Board resignation on 31 January 2024) 

Interests in options: None 

 

COLLEEN HAYWARD AM 

Title: Independent Non-Executive Director 

Appointment: 1 January 2023 

Qualifications: BAEd, BApplSc, Member AICD, PgCert (Cross Sector Partnerships)  

Experience and expertise: Colleen is a senior Noongar woman with more than 35 years’ experience developing 

and leading programs to support and empower Aboriginal people in Western Australia.  

Colleen has held senior appointments at a community, state and national level, spanning health, education, 

training, employment and law, including at Edith Cowan University where she is an Emeritus Professor in the 

School of Education.  

Colleen was awarded the 2008 National NAIDOC Aboriginal Person of the Year Award, the 2006 Premier of 

Western Australia’s prestigious Multicultural Ambassador’s Award and in 2009 was inducted into the WA 

Department of Education’s Hall of Fame for Achievement in Aboriginal Education. In 2012, she was inducted 

into the WA Women’s Hall of Fame. She is a Member in the General Division of the Order of Australia.  

In 2015, Colleen was awarded one of Murdoch University’s Distinguished Alumni for her work in the areas of 

equity and social justice.  

Other listed current directorships: None 

Former listed directorships (last three years): None 

Special responsibilities:  

• Member of Audit and Risk Committee 

• Member of Remuneration and People Committee (appointed 1 February 2024) 

• Member of Sustainability Committee  

 

Interests in shares at the date of the report: 2,117 

Interests in options at the date of the report: None 
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JUSTIN LANGER AM  

Title: Independent Non-Executive Director 

Appointment: 1 January 2023 

Qualifications: Graduate AICD  

Experience and expertise: Justin is a former world-class cricketer and coach of the Australian men’s national 

cricket team. He played 105 Test matches for Australia and competed at national and international levels until 

2007, finishing his glittering career as the greatest first-class run scorer in Australian cricket history.  

Following his playing career, Justin held various coaching roles and served as the Senior Assistant Coach of the 

Australian men’s cricket team from 2009 before becoming the Head Coach of Western Australian men’s cricket 

team and the Perth Scorchers in 2012. After serving a period as interim coach in 2016, Justin was appointed 

Head Coach of the Australian men’s cricket team in 2018, a role in which he served until 2022. He led the team 

successfully through a difficult period in Australian cricket. 

Justin is Head Coach of the Lucknow Super Giants in the Indian Premier League (IPL). He has been a member 

of the board of the West Coast Eagles Football Club since 2017 and is a highly sought-after public speaker, writer 

and media commentator. Justin also recently graduated from the AICD Company Directors Course. 

Justin was awarded an Order of Australia for his contribution to sport and various charity commitments. 

Throughout his career, Justin has embraced discipline, partnership and mateship to build successful and resilient 

teams, focused on strong internal culture. 

Other listed current directorships: None 

Former listed directorships (last three years): None 

Special responsibilities:  

• Member of Nomination Committee (appointed 1 February 2024) 

• Member of Remuneration and People Committee  

• Member of Sustainability Committee  

 

Interests in shares at the date of the report: 2,117 

Interests in options at the date of the report: None 

 

DENISE MCCOMISH 

Title: Independent Non-Executive Director 

Appointment: 1 December 2023 

Qualifications: FCA, Hon.D.Bus, Member AICD 

Experience and expertise: Denise brings comprehensive experience to the board across financial, corporate 

and ESG matters in the mining, energy, financial services and infrastructure sectors.  

Formerly a partner with KPMG for 30 years – specialising in audit and advisory services – Denise has also held 

several key leadership roles, including as a member of the KPMG Australia Board and as National Mining Leader.  

In addition to her non-executive director roles on the listed companies below, Denise currently serves on the 

boards of Synergy and Beyond Blue. She is a member of the Australian Takeovers Panel, a Councillor for the WA 

Division of AICD and chairs the Advisory Board for the School of Business and Law at Edith Cowan University. 

Denise is a Fellow of Chartered Accountants Australia and New Zealand, a member of the AICD and Chief 

Executive Women and in 2018 was recognised in the Top 100 Global Inspirational Women in Mining.  

Other listed current directorships: Gold Road Resources Ltd, Macmahon Holdings Ltd, Webjet Ltd   

Former listed directorships (last three years): None 

Special responsibilities:  

• Chair of Audit and Risk Committee (appointed 1 February 2024) 

• Member of Sustainability Committee (appointed 1 February 2024) 

 

Interests in shares at the date of the report: 943 

Interests in options at the date of the report: None 
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JACQUI MCGILL AO 

Title: Independent Non-Executive Director 

Appointment: 31 January 2024 

Qualifications: BSc (Extractive Metallurgy), MBA 

Experience and expertise: Jacqui is a highly credentialed executive and non-executive director with more than 

30 years of strategic and operational experience in large-scale operations in the mining and resources sectors.  

Her career in mining spanned commodities including iron ore, gold, coal and uranium, having held leadership 

roles across operations, business development, technology and project management. At BHP, Jacqui held chief 

executive level positions at Mitsui Coal and Olympic Dam Corporation, where she delivered a successful 

turnaround of business performance.  

Jacqui has extensive board experience and in 2020 was awarded an Officer of the Order of Australia for her 

distinguished service to the mining sector and advocacy for gender equity and workplace diversity. 

Other listed current directorships: New Hope Corporation Ltd; Gold Fields Ltd; 29Metals Ltd 

Former listed directorships (last three years): None 

Special responsibilities:  

• Chair of Technical Committee (appointed 1 February 2024) 

• Member of Remuneration and People Committee (appointed 1 February 2024) 

 

Interests in shares at the date of the report: 712 

Interests in options at the date of the report: None 

 

ZIMI MEKA 

Title: Independent Non-Executive Director 

Appointment: 17 May 2022 

Qualifications: B Eng (Hons) Mech, FEAust FAusIMM, Member AICD 

Experience and expertise: Zimi is Chief Executive Officer and a founder of engineering firm Ausenco Pty Ltd. He 

has more than 40 years of experience in the design, construction and operation of minerals processing plants 

and infrastructure, both in Australia and internationally.  

He has grown Ausenco from its inception in Australia into a well-respected global business with more than 3,000 

people across 26 offices in 14 countries servicing the minerals and metals, oil and gas, and industrial sectors.  

Zimi is the Queensland University of Technology’s 2008 Alumnus of the Year, was awarded the AusIMM’s 2009 

Institute Medal and is one of Australia’s top 100 influential engineers, as awarded by Engineers Australia. In 2013, 

Engineers Australia named him Queensland Professional Engineer of the Year. 

Zimi is a Fellow of Engineers Australia, a Fellow of the AusIMM, a Member of the AICD and a member of the 

Engineers Australia Hall of Fame. 

Other listed current directorships: C3 Metals   

Former listed directorships (last three years): None 

Special responsibilities:  

• Member of Nomination Committee (commenced 1 February 2024)  

• Chair of Remuneration and People Committee (1 July 2023 to 31 January 2024) 

• Member of Sustainability Committee (1 July 2023 to 31 January 2024) 

• Member of Technical Committee (commenced 1 February 2024) 

 

Interests in shares at the date of the report: 3,018 

Interests in options at the date of the report: None 

 

 

 

 

F
or

 p
er

so
na

l u
se

 o
nl

y



DIRECTORS’ REPORT 

MINERAL RESOURCES LIMITED 2024 FINANCIAL REPORT  |  25 

XI XI 

Title: Independent Non-Executive Director 

Appointment: 11 September 2017 

Qualifications: MA in International Relations (China Studies & International Finance), BS Chemical Engineering 

& Petroleum Refining, BS Economics 

Experience and expertise: Xi has more than 20 years’ experience in the global natural resources sector having 

served as a director of Sailing Capital, a US$2bn private equity fund founded by the Shanghai International 

Group. She has worked with numerous Chinese state-owned and privately-owned enterprises, advising on 

international acquisitions and investments.  

Xi has previously served as an analyst and portfolio manager for the Tigris Financial Group (Electrum) in New 

York, focused on the oil and gas and mining sectors. She has also led and managed several mineral exploration 

teams in West Africa and Latin America, including the discovery of a new silver-lead-zinc mine in Mexico.  

Other listed current directorships: Zeta Resources Ltd 

Former listed directorships (last three years): None 

Special responsibilities:  

• Member of Audit and Risk Committee 

• Member of Nomination Committee (1 July 2023 to 31 January 2024) 

• Member of Technical Committee (appointed 1 February 2024) 
 

Interests in shares at the date of the report: 21,653 

Interests in options at the date of the report: None 

 

INFORMATION ON COMPANY SECRETARIES 

 

MARK WILSON 

Mark joined Mineral Resources Limited as Chief Financial Officer in August 2018 and was subsequently appointed 

Company Secretary on 19 October 2018.  

Mark is an experienced senior executive with a strong track record in development and implementation of 

business strategy, balance sheet management, organisational design, project management and transaction 

execution.  

He has held senior positions in several Australian and international companies, including Laing O’Rourke, 

Multiplex and Brookfield Multiplex.  

Mark holds a Bachelor of Commerce (Finance), Bachelor of Laws from the University of New South Wales and a 

Graduate Diploma in Applied Finance and Investment from the Securities Institute of Australia. 

 

JENNA MAZZA 

Jenna joined Mineral Resources Limited in 2014 after starting her career in legal advisory. Over the past decade 

Jenna has developed a deep understanding of the business and held several senior legal roles.  

As General Manager, Corporate Legal she provided legal support to MinRes’ corporate head office and was 

involved in a series of major projects, including playing a significant role in the acquisition and restructure that 

led to the development of the landmark Onslow Iron project. She was appointed Joint Company Secretary on 

31 January 2024. 

Jenna holds a Bachelor of Laws (Hons) and a Bachelor of Commerce (Accounting). 

 

DEREK OELOFSE 

Derek has over 35 years’ financial and commercial management experience in large private, governmental 

and listed entities based in Australia, South Africa and the United Kingdom. Derek has a Bachelor of Accounting 

and Bachelor of Commerce degree from the University of the Witwatersrand in South Africa, a Master of Business 

Administration from Henley Management College in the United Kingdom and is a Fellow of the Institute of 

Chartered Accountants Australia and New Zealand. Derek joined Mineral Resources Limited in 2012 as Group 

Financial Controller and was appointed joint Company Secretary on 4 October 2018. Derek resigned as Joint 

Company Secretary on 31 January 2024. 

F
or

 p
er

so
na

l u
se

 o
nl

y



DIRECTORS’ REPORT 

MINERAL RESOURCES LIMITED 2024 FINANCIAL REPORT  |  26 

MEETINGS OF DIRECTORS 

The table below sets out the number of meetings of the Company's Board of Directors (the Board) and of each of the 

Board’s committees held during FY24. All Directors are invited to attend all Board committee meetings. Where a Director 

is not a member of the Board committee, “Held” in the table below is marked “n/a”. 

 Full  

Board 

Audit and Risk 

Committee 

Remuneration 

and People 

Committee 

Nomination 

Committee 

Sustainability 

Committee 

Technical 

Committee 

 Attended Held Attended Held Attended Held Attended Held Attended Held Attended Held 

James 

McClements1 
13 13 n/a n/a 5 5 2 2 n/a n/a n/a n/a 

Chris Ellison 13 13 n/a n/a 4 n/a 2 n/a n/a n/a n/a n/a 

Susie Corlett2 13 13 6 6 1 n/a n/a n/a 4 4 1 1 

Kelvin Flynn3 7 7 3 3 n/a n/a 1 1 n/a n/a n/a n/a 

Colleen 

Hayward4 
12 13 4 6 2 3 n/a n/a 4 4 n/a n/a 

Justin Langer5 13 13 n/a n/a 5 5 1 1 3 4 n/a n/a 

Denise 

McComish6 
7 7 3 3 1 n/a 1 n/a 2 2 n/a n/a 

Jacqui 

McGill7 
6 6 1 n/a 3 3 n/a n/a 1 n/a 1 1 

Zimi Meka8 8 13 n/a n/a 2 2 0 1 0 2 1 1 

Xi Xi9 13 13 6 6 1 n/a 1 1 n/a n/a 1 1 

1 James McClements served as Nomination Committee chair throughout the year and as Remuneration and People Committee member until 31 January 

2024 and from 1 February 2024 as Remuneration and People Committee chair. 
2 Susie Corlett served as Sustainability Committee chair and Audit and Risk Committee member throughout the year and from 1 February 2024 as Technical 

Committee member. 
3 Kelvin Flynn resigned on 31 January 2024. Prior to his resignation, he served as Audit and Risk Committee chair and Nominations Committee member.  
4 Colleen Hayward served as Audit and Risk Committee member and Sustainability Committee member throughout the year and from 1 February 2024 as 

Remuneration and People Committee member. 
5 Justin Langer served as Remuneration and People Committee member and Sustainability Committee member throughout the year and from 1 February 

2024 as Nominations Committee member. 
6 Denise McComish was appointed to the Board on 1 December 2024 and served as Audit and Risk Committee chair and Sustainability Committee 

member from 1 February 2024.  
7 Jacqui McGill was appointed to the Board on 31 January 2024, and served as Technical Committee chair and Remuneration and People Committee as 

member from 1 February 2024. 
8 Zimi Meka served as Remuneration and People Committee chair and Sustainability Committee member until 31 January 2024. From 1 February 2024 Zimi 

served as Nomination Committee member and Technical Committee member. 
9 Xi Xi served as Audit and Risk Committee member throughout the year and until 31 January 2024 as Nominations Committee member. From 1 February 

2024 Xi Xi served as Technical Committee member. 
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LETTER FROM THE REMUNERATION AND PEOPLE COMMITTEE CHAIR 
 

Dear Shareholder, 

 

On behalf of the Remuneration and People Committee (the Committee), I’m pleased to present the 2024 

Financial Year Remuneration Report for Mineral Resources Limited (MinRes or the Company).  

 

This year I returned to the position of Committee Chair when Zimi Meka stepped down from the role to prioritise 

his expanded remit, which now includes membership of a newly-created Technical Committee overseeing 

development and advancement of the Company’s mining assets.  

  

I thank Zimi for his guidance as Chair of the Remuneration and People Committee and know his skills and 

experience will bring significant benefit to the Technical Committee, supporting a robust governance structure 

for this new and critical forum.  

  

Associated with MinRes’ significant expansion in recent years, our employee numbers have increased to more 

than 8,400 in FY24. Our workforce may now have peaked for the short term – influenced by this year’s decision 

to cease exports from our Yilgarn operations, the scaling-down of our Onslow Iron construction workforce and 

the easing of mining and production across existing lithium operations.  

  

Our success is driven by an ability to adapt to change and remain agile in the face of shifting external 

environments. While MinRes must ensure the size of our workforce is appropriate for the scope and scale of our 

operations, we are able to still retain more expertise than comparable peers through our services business. 

  

MinRes is committed to creating a fair, diverse and inclusive work environment that helps attract, develop and 

retain the industry's best talent. Our holistic approach to reward combines competitive remuneration packages, 

training and development opportunities, industry-leading services and amenities, and comprehensive wellbeing 

programs – together supporting our people to perform at their best.  

  

Over the past 12 months, the rollout of resort-style accommodation at our Onslow Iron project and village 

upgrades across existing sites have enhanced safety and amenity for our people. The Company also 

announced the launch of a new internal flights department, MinRes Air, which will support improved operational 

reliability and efficiency while enhancing the travel experience for our fly-in fly-out workforce.  

  

MinRes remains committed to the wellbeing of its workforce, taking a human-centred approach to physical and 

mental health and prioritising leadership and education to encourage overall employee wellbeing. In FY24, the 

Company’s industry-leading mental health model was bolstered by the launch of the Mind Matters team – 

qualified mental health practitioners stationed across MinRes-owned and client sites offering ready access to 

support when it’s needed most.  

  

The Company’s Head Office also continues to deliver an unmatched employee experience, with in-house 

amenities and services providing an environment where our people can flourish. In FY25, this service offering will 

be further strengthened with the planned opening of a dedicated daycare service for children of MinRes 

employees, located next door to the Head Office.   

  

The Committee continues to prioritise development of in-house talent and in FY24 endorsed formal talent 

mapping and succession planning programs, set to be executed with the support of specialised external 

practitioners, which will be reviewed annually.  It’s important MinRes continues to identify and progress internal 

capability to ensure our Company’s success is backed by strong leadership pathways.    

 

CHANGES TO REMUNERATION FOR FY24 AND FY25  

  

Executive KMP fixed and at-risk remuneration opportunity 

The Committee, in conjunction with independent remuneration advisors, undertook a review of Executive Key 

Management Personnel’s (Executive KMP) remuneration during the year to ensure these align with the 

Company’s policy. In particular, fixed remuneration is targeted at the 50th percentile and Total Maximum 

Remuneration is targeted at up to the 85th percentile of similar roles in Comparator Businesses (refer to section 

three of the report). 
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While this analysis identified some variation to the Company’s policy, no increase to fixed or at-risk remuneration 

was made for Executive KMP for FY24.  The Committee will continue to review Executive KMP remuneration 

during FY25 and adjustments to fixed and at-risk pay may be made with effect from FY26. 

 

Evolution of Short-Term Incentive (STI) model 

As outlined in the 2023 Remuneration Report, in FY24 the STI assessment matrix for Executive KMP was modified 

to include business unit performance alongside overall Company performance. The existing measure of 

individual performance remains as part of the STI assessment model.  The amendments to the assessment matrix 

provide a more rounded assessment of Executive KMP’s performance at an individual, divisional and Company 

level.  More information is available in section six of the report.  
  
Changes to Long-Term Incentive (LTI) structure 

Return On Invested Capital (ROIC) will remain the sole performance metric used to determine vesting under the 

Company’s LTI plan. Historically, the invested capital element of ROIC has been calculated using amounts 

drawn from the Company’s year-end balance sheet.  

  
Following a review conducted during FY24, the Committee found this methodology could unintentionally deter 

investment as substantial new investments often do not contribute to profit in the year the investment is made, 

thereby significantly dragging on reported ROIC performance. A review of the methodology used to calculate 

ROIC or similar metrics for remuneration purposes at other ASX-listed businesses found calculating invested 

capital using year end balances was uncommon. 

  

Having also considered a range of other metrics and practices, the Committee proposed, and the Board 

approved, the amendment of the ROIC calculation methodology so that, for all LTI grants made from FY25 

onwards, invested capital will be calculated using amounts drawn from MinRes’ balance sheet at the start of 

the year.  

  

This approach will more appropriately allow for the timing of profit generation from investment and more 

accurately reflect the return generated on the funds entrusted to the Company. The Committee will continue 

to assess and adjust the Company’s LTI structure in the future, if required.  

  

Changes to Non-Executive Director fees 

Consistent with prior years, the Committee, in conjunction with its independent remuneration advisors, 

undertook a review of Non-Executive Director (NED) fees and recommended an increase for base board fees 

of less than one per cent and an increase to committee fees of between one per cent and 2.5 per cent, which 

together incorporate increases in the Superannuation Guarantee Levy. NED fees remain well within the fee pool 

limit approved by shareholders of $2.5M per annum. 

  

FY24 REMUNERATION OUTCOMES AND ALIGNMENT 

 

In assessing FY24 remuneration outcomes for Executive KMP, the Committee considered a range of 

achievements delivered by the Company over the past 12 months. Our focus on safety remained a top priority, 

with Total Recordable Injury Frequency Rate (TRIFR) performance significantly exceeding target, despite the 

addition of approximately 3,000 new roles across the company. 
  

External Sustainability ratings remained strong, work was completed on a new Net Zero Roadmap and 

establishment of an internal Decarbonisation Fund was approved.  

 

Operationally, this year MinRes also marked one of the most significant milestones in its history when first ore was 

achieved for the transformational Onslow Iron project in the West Pilbara region. This achievement was the 

culmination of years of hard work across the business and testament to the Company’s ongoing focus on 

innovation, agile decision making and in-house expertise. 
  

FY24 guidance was met across the existing Iron Ore and Lithium businesses, while further success in the 

Company’s conventional natural gas exploration program has strengthened efforts to harness cleaner energy 

sources to help power our operations.   
  

The ongoing growth of the Mining Services business was also pleasing, with six new contracts and three contract 

renewals over the period. This included an expansion into Queensland, which has strengthened our reputation 

as one of Australia’s leading mining service providers.   
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In this period of high capital growth, MinRes has maintained a disciplined focus on its balance sheet. The 

Company executed several key transactions including the partial sale of Onslow Iron’s dedicated haul road to 

Morgan Stanley Infrastructure Partners for expected proceeds of $1,300M – which highlighted the considerable 

value of MinRes’ portfolio of infrastructure assets and demonstrated our ability to recycle capital. Completion is 

expected in the second half of the 2024 calendar year, subject to finalisation of project conditions and Foreign 

Investment Review Board approval. 

 
Following a strong first half performance operationally, the Company declared an interim dividend of $0.20 per 

share in February 2024. Across the remainder of the financial year, MinRes took a conservative approach to 

balance sheet management considering significant capital expenditure on the Onslow Iron project, fluctuating 

global iron ore prices and further softening of lithium prices. As a result, no final dividend was declared and the 

total fully franked full year dividend for FY24 was $0.20 per ordinary share, comprising the interim dividend.   

  

The STI outcomes for Executive KMP range between 88 per cent and 95 per cent of maximum STI. Consistent 

with the design of the STI program and to further align management and shareholder interests, awards made 

under the STI plan to Executive KMP that exceed 50 per cent of the maximum STI opportunity are deferred in the 

form of rights to Company shares (Rights) that vest in two equal instalments; one year and two years following 

grant of the Rights.  
  

The FY21 LTI program matured in FY24 with average ROIC of 16.2 per cent across the FY21 to FY24 financial years 

inclusive. This provides an LTI outcome for Executive KMP of 89.9 per cent of maximum, which will vest in August 

2024.  

 

Further detail on MinRes’ performance and these outcomes can be found in section five of the report.  
  

The Committee is satisfied the FY24 remuneration outcomes reflect and support the Company’s strategic and 

financial performance and requirement to develop future leadership to sustain the business in the long term.  

  
I encourage you to review the full Remuneration Report outlined in the proceeding pages and thank you for 

your ongoing interest in our Company.  
  

 
James McClements  

Chair of Remuneration and People Committee 
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REMUNERATION REPORT  

CONTENTS 
This Remuneration Report forms part of the Directors’ Report for 
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1. KEY MANAGEMENT PERSONNEL 

Key Management Personnel (KMP) comprise those persons that have responsibility, authority and accountability 

for planning, directing and controlling the activities of the Group, directly or indirectly, including any director of 

the Company.  

In this report, a reference to KMP covers both Executive KMP and Non-Executive KMP; a reference to Executive 

KMP includes the Managing Director (MD) and Non-Executive KMP are referred to as Non-Executive Directors 

(NEDs). 

The following table outlines the Company’s KMP during the whole of FY24 and up to the date of this report, unless 

otherwise stated: 

 

EXECUTIVE KMP 

Chris Ellison    Managing Director  

Michael (Mike) Grey   Chief Executive Mining Services     

Chris Soccio   Chief Executive Iron Ore  

Joshua Thurlow   Chief Executive Lithium  

Mark Wilson   Chief Financial Officer and Company Secretary 

NON-EXECUTIVE KMP  

Current  

James McClements   Non-Executive Chair 

Susie Corlett   Non-Executive Director 

Colleen Hayward AM   Non-Executive Director  

Justin Langer AM   Non-Executive Director  

Denise McComish   Non-Executive Director (appointed 1 December 2023) 

Jacqui McGill AO   Non-Executive Director (appointed 31 January 2024) 

Zimi Meka   Non-Executive Director 

Xi Xi    Non-Executive Director 

 

Former  

Kelvin Flynn    Non-Executive Director (resigned 31 January 2024) 
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2. REMUNERATION GOVERNANCE 

2.1 REMUNERATION AND PEOPLE COMMITTEE INDEPENDENCE 

The Remuneration and People Committee continued to be comprised solely of independent NEDs: 

• James McClements, Committee Chair (appointed 1 February 2024, Committee Member from 1 July 2023 to 

31 January 2024). 

• Colleen Hayward AM, Committee Member (appointed 1 February 2024). 

• Justin Langer AM, Committee Member. 

• Jacqui McGill AO, Committee Member (appointed 1 February 2024). 

• Zimi Meka, Committee Chair from 31 January 2023 to 31 January 2024 (resigned from Committee  

31 January 2024). 

2.2 ROLE OF THE REMUNERATION AND PEOPLE COMMITTEE 

The purpose of the Remuneration and People Committee is to advise the Board on remuneration and people-

related strategies, policies and practices. This includes assisting and making recommendations to the Board in 

relation to the overall remuneration strategy of the Company, including its specific application to Executive KMP 

and NEDs. 

In fulfilling its purpose, the Remuneration and People Committee will also: 

• align the remuneration policies with the Company’s Purpose, Vision and Values 

• determine the eligibility, award and vesting of STI and LTI 

• work closely with the Audit and Risk Committee to ensure financial measures and risk and compliance 

outcomes properly inform the relevant STI and LTI outcomes 

• review reports on the Company’s gender pay equity position and actions to identify, eliminate and rectify 

any identified gaps. 

The Remuneration and People Committee convened regularly throughout FY24 and invited senior management 

and external consultant input as required.  

2.3 EXTERNAL AND INDEPENDENT ADVICE 

As with previous years, the Remuneration and People Committee engaged the services of independent external 

consultants to provide insights on KMP remuneration trends, regulatory and governance updates and market 

data. 

No remuneration recommendations as defined in Section 9B of the Corporations Act 2001 were obtained during 

FY24. 

 

3. REMUNERATION STRATEGY 

3.1 THE CONTEXT IN WHICH WE SET OUR REMUNERATION STRATEGY 

The remuneration framework is designed to support the Company’s vision to be recognised as a great Australian 

company which: 

• is a leading provider of innovative and sustainable mining services 

• provides innovative and low-cost solutions across the mining infrastructure supply chain 

• operates with integrity and respect 

• works in partnership with our clients, our customers, our people and our community to achieve these 

objectives. 
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To create wealth for shareholders, we task our management team with employing the capital entrusted to them 

to sustain attractive rates of return, that is, exceeding the long-term returns that could be achieved elsewhere at 

comparable levels of risk.  

This is recognised through the LTI program, both by rewarding management when undertaking long-term 

strategic growth initiatives that maintain high operating returns throughout commodity cycles, and in seeking 

opportunities to deploy capital innovatively for sustainable high future returns for shareholders. 

The Board has approved a strategy to deliver on this objective comprising: 

• a core business as a mining services contractor 

• an owner and operator of mining-related infrastructure 

• an acquirer or developer of significant profit share stakes in mineral projects with rights to operate the 

associated mines, for longer-term sustainability, higher capital efficiency and lower risk including from 

diversification 

• recycling of capital 

• a flexible balance sheet to fund organic growth for mining services and mining infrastructure businesses, while 

retaining a level of agility for opportunistic growth opportunities as they arise. 

The ability to execute this strategy innovatively, sustainably and in a way that creates attractive returns for 

shareholders is highly dependent on the quality of the Company’s culture, management and workforce. 

The difficulty of attracting and retaining executives of the necessary calibre to realise the above vision and 

strategy varies depending on the current phase of Australia’s resources industry. Industry demand for executive 

talent remains strong. This requires the Company to offer competitive remuneration, both in terms of fixed and 

variable opportunity, and to have adequate and effective retention mechanisms in place, such as the STI deferral 

arrangements which have been in place since FY20. 

As part of our wider employee engagement strategies, these actions ensure the Company retains experienced 

and competent employees who are capable of innovating to promote growth, ultimately leading to attractive 

long-term rates of return. The Company’s long-term sustainable growth is promoted within this framework by the 

delivery of a significant portion of remuneration in equity and the Company encourages KMP to hold the 

equivalent of at least one year’s Fixed Annual Remuneration (FAR) in Company shares, assisting in aligning the 

senior leadership team’s interest with shareholders’ interests. 

3.2 REMUNERATION PRINCIPLES 

The Company’s remuneration decisions are guided by principles including: 

• fairness and impartiality 

• transparency 

• promotion of a direct link between reward and performance 

• encouraging retention of key personnel over the longer term 

• alignment of employee, customer and shareholder interests 

• incentivising behaviour that optimises return on shareholder capital 

• flexibility to optimise returns via changes in investment strategy 

• prioritisation of the Company culture and behaviours that continue to promote physical and psychological 

safety, social and environmental responsibility, innovation and risk management. 

3.3 MARKET POSITION FOR REMUNERATION 

The Company conducted its annual review of its market position for KMP remuneration that included examination 

of common practice within comparable businesses, external advice and input from investors and their advisors. 

Fixed annual remuneration for Executive KMP is targeted at the 50th percentile of similar roles in Comparator 

Businesses (see below) while total maximum remuneration, inclusive of fixed and at-risk remuneration, is targeted 

at the 85th percentile (expected to be achieved only in the event of significant outperformance). 
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Comparator Businesses 

The Board annually reviews the group of KMP remuneration Comparator Businesses for the purposes of 

benchmarking remuneration offered to KMP, in terms of amounts and structure. In determining the Comparator 

Businesses, the Remuneration and People Committee considers ASX-listed companies of a comparable size in 

terms of enterprise value and revenue, with a particular focus on those in the commercial services and mining 

sectors, headquartered in Australia. 

The Company’s business model is not typical of peers in the resource sector as it incorporates services and asset 

ownership and development. The Comparator Businesses chosen by the Board therefore include a mix of 

companies of similar size to MinRes in the Metals & Mining, Capital Equipment, Commercial Services and 

Transportation sectors. 

The list of Comparator Businesses was reviewed in FY24 to ensure it remains relevant given the growth in operating 

activity, revenue and enterprise value enjoyed by the Company. As a result of this review, ALS Ltd, Newcrest 

Mining Ltd and OZ Minerals Ltd were removed from the FY23 Comparator Businesses list and Incitec Pivot Ltd and 

Pilbara Minerals Ltd were added. Other than these changes, the Comparator Businesses group has remained the 

same as was used in FY23.  

Current Comparator Businesses therefore comprise:   

Aurizon Holdings Ltd Origin Energy Ltd 

Cleanaway Waste Mgt Ltd Pilbara Minerals Ltd 

Downer EDI Ltd Qube Holdings Ltd 

Evolution Mining Ltd Seven Group Holdings Ltd 

IGO Ltd  Sims Ltd 

Incitec Pivot Ltd South32 Ltd 

Northern Star Resources Ltd  Washington H. Soul Pattinson & Company Ltd 

Orica Ltd Worley Ltd 
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4. REMUNERATION FRAMEWORK FOR FY24 

4.1 REMUNERATION FRAMEWORK 

The table below outlines the remuneration framework that applied to all Executive KMP in FY24: 

 

Fixed remuneration At-risk remuneration 

Element Fixed Annual 

Remuneration (FAR)  

 (Salary, 

superannuation 

and other fixed 

benefits) 

 

Short-Term Incentive (STI) Long-Term Incentive 

(LTI) 

Delivery 

format 

Cash Share Rights 

  Where STI for Executive 

KMP is equal to or more 

than 50 per cent of 

maximum STI, 50 per 

cent of maximum is 

paid in cash after the 

financial year end. 

Where STI is less than 50 

per cent of maximum, 

the full STI achieved is 

paid in cash after the 

financial year end. 

 

Portion of award 

over 50 per cent 

of maximum STI is 

deferred and 

awarded as Rights 

– the first half of 

which vest at 12 

months, and the 

second half at 24 

months after grant 

date, subject to 

ongoing service, 

claw-back and 

malus provisions. 

Rights vest four years 

after the grant date, 

subject to performance 

hurdles, ongoing service, 

malus and clawback 

provisions. 

Performance 

measures 

 Targets in the areas of safety, governance and 

sustainability; strategic growth, financial and 

operational performance, and organisational 

culture. 

Assessments in the areas of leadership, 

wellbeing and growth of our people, strength 

of supporting management team, level of 

collaboration and teamwork, issues resolution, 

stakeholder engagement, and innovation and 

creativity. 

Return on Invested 

Capital (ROIC). 

Performance  

period 

 One year. Vesting subject to four-

year average ROIC 

performance over the 

Performance period  

(Starting 1 July in the 

financial year of grant – 

i.e. for FY24, 1 July 2023). 

Link to 

MinRes 

strategy 

Serves to attract high-calibre people and motivate them to deliver on 

the Company’s immediate business objectives over a 24-36 month 

period. 

Recognises that MinRes 

is a capital-intensive 

business. Management 

and shareholder wealth 

are created through 

achieving superior long-

term returns on invested 

capital. 
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The timeline below illustrates the timing of rewards under the FY24 remuneration arrangements for Executive KMP. 

Details for each component are set out in section 4.3. 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

FY24  FY25 FY26 FY27 FY28 
Fixed Annual 

Remuneration 

(FAR)  

Paid throughout  

the year 

    

STI Performance period 

(12 months) 
Up to 50 per cent of 

maximum STI paid August 

2024. Any portion of award 

over 50 per cent of 

maximum STI is deferred 

and awarded as Rights in 

FY26 and FY27 (Deferred 

STI). 

Half of Deferred 

STI vests August 

2025, subject to 

ongoing service 

and claw-back 

provisions. 

Number of 

shares awarded 

based on value 

of award 

divided by the 

five-day VWAP 

up to and 

including 30 

June 2024. 

Half of 

Deferred STI 

vests August 

2026, subject 

to ongoing 

service and 

clawback 

and malus 

provisions. 

Number of 

shares 

awarded 

based on 

value of 

award 

divided by 

the five-day 

VWAP up to 

and including 

30 June 2024. 

 

LTI LTI awards for 

Executive KMP other 

than the MD: 

LTI Rights granted to 

Executive KMP July 

2023 (date of award 

letter).  

LTI award for MD: 

LTI Rights granted to 

MD November 2023 

(at the Annual 

General Meeting). 

Number of Rights 

granted based on 

the participant’s LTI 

opportunity ($) 

divided by the five-

day VWAP up to and 

including 30 June 

2023. 

  August 2027: 

Portion of FY24 LTI 

Rights vest, 

subject to four-

year average 

ROIC, continuous 

service, clawback 

and malus 

provisions. 

 
Total Performance Period (Four years) 

 

F
or

 p
er

so
na

l u
se

 o
nl

y



  
REMUNERATION REPORT (AUDITED) 

 

MINERAL RESOURCES LIMITED 2024 FINANCIAL REPORT  |  38 

4.2 REMUNERATION MIX 

The mix of Executive KMP’s fixed, short and long-term remuneration reflects the Company’s remuneration strategy 

of: 

• having substantial amounts of pay subject to service and performance so that remuneration can be 

maximised only by sustained high levels of performance over rolling four-year periods 

• paying a significant portion in equity, to reduce cash remuneration costs, align executive and shareholder 

interests and enable the enactment of clawback and malus provisions if MinRes’ values are not upheld. 

The table below summarises the “on target” and maximum remuneration mix applicable in FY24 for Executive 

KMP, with on target STI being 75 per cent of maximum STI and on target LTI being two-thirds of the LTI opportunity. 

For the MD, target STI is equal to the maximum STI opportunity. 

 

*Base FAR representing FAR excluding superannuation and other fixed elements of remuneration. 
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4.3 KEY COMPONENTS OF REMUNERATION 

The tables below summarise the key components of Executive KMP remuneration for FY24. 

FIXED ANNUAL REMUNERATION 

Composition FAR is comprised of base salary, superannuation and other fixed elements of 

remuneration such as vehicle allowances. 

Base FAR is comprised of base salary, excluding superannuation and other 

fixed elements of remuneration such as vehicle allowances. 

Determination Fixed remuneration is determined with reference to the 50th percentile of 

similar roles in Comparator Businesses, taking account of the experience and 

skills of the executive involved. 

Review Base FAR is determined on appointment and reviewed annually. 

SHORT-TERM INCENTIVE 

 

The key elements of the FY24 STI plan are as follows: 

 

Purpose Focus participants on delivery of business objectives over a 12-month period 

and exhibiting the leadership attributes expected of Executive KMP. 

Participation All Executive KMP. 

Opportunity The maximum STI opportunity is 125 per cent of Base FAR for the MD, 120 per 

cent of Base FAR for the CFO and 100 per cent of Base FAR for other Executive 

KMP. 

 

Target STI is 75 per cent of maximum STI opportunity. 

 

Performance period Performance is measured per financial year (1 July to 30 June). 

Exercise of discretion The Board has discretion, after considering recommendations from the 

Remuneration and People Committee, to adjust overall STI awards or an 

individual’s final STI award. This discretion will be exercised in the case of 

extraordinary events, exceptional circumstances/business performance 

and/or the individual’s performance. 

Payment Awards made under the STI plan up to 50 per cent of the maximum STI 

opportunity as defined above are settled in cash following year end. Any 

remaining amounts are deferred and settled in the form of Rights that vest in 

two equal instalments: one year and two years following grant of the Rights.  

 

Vesting is subject to continued service and the application of the clawback 

and malus provisions mentioned below. The quantity of Rights provided for 

each deferred portion is based on the deferred value divided by the Volume 

Weighted Average Price (VWAP) for the five trading days up to and including 

the last day of the award year. 
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Rights on termination To be eligible for payment, a STI participant must be employed by the 

Company on the date of payment and on the date at which Rights vest, 

subject to the application of the clawback and malus provisions mentioned 

below. Executive KMP whose employment is terminated before the date of 

payment/grant of Rights are ineligible for any STI payment / grant of Rights. 

Rights that have not yet vested will be cancelled where an Executive KMP’s 

employment is terminated prior to the vesting date. 

Clawback and malus 

provisions 

The Board may, at its discretion, reduce performance assessment determining 

payment (an in period adjustment), reduce or cancel vesting of an unvested 

deferred STI equity grant and/or recover any cash or grant value vested in the 

event of fraud, dishonesty, breach of duties, misstatement or manipulation of 

financial information. 

 

Performance measures  

(refer section 5.3 for FY24 outcomes and section 6 for changes for FY24) 

Group performance 

Safety, governance 

and sustainability – 

weighting 20 per cent 

• Safety performance, including TRIFR and lead indicators 

• Market and investor relationships including external perception study. 

• Sustainability performance against targets. 

Strategic growth – 

weighting 30 per cent 

• Development of long-life projects including continued development of 

Onslow Iron and associated infrastructure, including the haul road. 

• Delivering growth in Mining Services activities (tonnes of material moved 

and maintenance of margins). 

• Progression of gas exploration to aid energy transition and secure low-

cost energy. 

Financial and Operational 

performance  – weighting 

30 per cent 

• EBITDA performance against target. 

• Balance sheet management (working capital and gearing ratios). 

• Cash flow performance against target. 

• Cost discipline against target. 

• Delivery of physical outcomes in line with guidance. 

• Tonnes of production against target. 

Organisational culture 

– weighting 20 per cent 

• Employee engagement and turnover, specifically focused on the retention 

of senior employees. 

  

Individual performance assessment 

Key attributes expected 

of Executive KMP 

• Strength of leadership pertaining to the wellbeing and growth of our 

people. 

• Performance in growing and developing a strong management team. 

• Openness and directness of communication and focus on collaboration  

and teamwork. 

• Drive, energy and initiative in taking ownership of and resolving problems. 

• Engagement with stakeholders, and development of personal and business 

reputation. 

• Innovation and creativity. 
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LONG-TERM INCENTIVE 

The key elements of the FY24 LTI plan are as follows: 

Purpose To focus Executive KMP on: 

• achieving a high and sustained ROIC over the longer term, being a total 

of four years, including the current financial year (Grant Year) 

• encouraging agility and entrepreneurialism to seize opportunities for higher 

returns contingent on rapid capital deployment within relatively short 

timeframes 

• alignment with shareholders’ interests through Rights that do not vest until 

completion of a four-year period. 

 

Payment vehicle LTI grants provide rights to Company Shares (Rights) with Rights granted within 

the first half of the Grant Year (Grant Date). Subject to the Performance 

Measure mentioned below, Rights vest in the fourth financial year after the 

Grant Year. 

 

Participants have up until the 15th anniversary of the Grant Date (Expiry Date) 

to exercise Rights (convert Rights to Company Shares) with no exercise price 

being payable. Any vested Rights not previously exercised are automatically 

exercised at the Expiry Date. 

 

Opportunity The LTI grant opportunity is equal to 180 per cent of Base FAR for the MD, 150 

per cent of Base FAR for the Chief Financial Officer and 120 per cent of Base 

FAR for other Executive KMP.1 

 

LTI grant value An amount equal to the LTI opportunity (%) is granted to each LTI participant 

annually; being the Grant Year (e.g. FY24). Rights vest in the fourth financial year 

after the Grant Year (e.g. following the end of FY27 for the FY24 award) subject 

to the performance measure mentioned below. 

 

Number of LTI Rights The number of Rights to be issued is determined using the following formula: 

LTI Rights issued = (Base FAR x LTI Opportunity (%)) / VWAP 

where ‘VWAP’ is the five-day Volume Weighted Average Price to 30 June 

2023. 

 

Performance period Performance is measured over four consecutive years, being the Grant Year 

and the following three financial years. For grants made in FY24, the 

performance period is FY24 to FY27 inclusive, with Rights vesting in FY28. 

 

Performance measure The number of Rights that vest is subject to the four-year average ROIC 

achieved by the Company over the performance period. 

Further discussion of the calculation of ROIC is included in section 4.4 below. 
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Vesting hurdle The number of Rights that vest at the end of the performance period is 

determined by reference to the following hurdle: 

                     Four-year average ROIC                        % of maximum 

                           achievement                                   LTI opportunity ($) 

                        Less than 12%                                                  Nil 

                 Between 12% and 18%                 Pro-rata between 67% & 100% 

                               18%+                                                     100% 

Consistent with prior years, the selection of 12 per cent ROIC, being an after-tax 

measure, as the threshold for any Rights to vest, has historically reflected a level 

of performance above the Company’s nominal post-tax Weighted Average 

Cost of Capital (WACC) and ensures that value-destroying performance is not 

rewarded – i.e. that Executive KMP are focused on achieving returns for 

shareholders in excess of the Company’s cost of capital. 

The high vesting at threshold performance recognises that the Company has 

set a high bar relative to its cost of capital and to the rates of ROIC achieved 

by other large Australian listed businesses – see section 4.4 LTI Performance 

Measures and 5.4 LTI Performance Outcomes where MinRes’ performance 

compares to Comparator Businesses. It also recognises that inputs to the Cost 

of Capital can be volatile, so the threshold is set to remain above a cyclical 

increase in Weighted Average Cost of Capital.  

Vesting period All Rights vest four financial years after the Grant Year subject to the 

performance measure, clawback and malus provisions, and continued service. 

Holding lock No holding lock applies to Rights that vest under the FY24 LTI plan, as Rights vest 

only at the end of the performance period, provided the performance measure 

has been achieved. 

Dividends No dividends are paid to, or received by, Executive KMP on any Rights. 

To ensure alignment between shareholder and Executive KMP interests, each 

Right entitles Executive KMP to one MinRes share, plus an additional number of 

MinRes shares equal in value to the dividends paid on a MinRes share over the 

period from the Grant Date of the Rights to the date of exercise (Exercise Date) 

(Dividend Equivalent Rights). Without this entitlement, Executive KMP might be 

motivated to seek growth over dividend payments. If any Rights are forfeited, 

their associated Dividend Equivalent Rights are likewise forfeited. The grant date 

fair value of the underlying LTI award incorporates the dividend right.  

Clawback and malus 

provisions 
The Board has discretion to lapse Rights that are on foot, or clawback previously 

vested LTI awards, if the Board concludes Rights should not vest or should not 

have vested due to: 

• fraud, dishonesty or fundamental breach of duties (including 

misstatement or manipulation of financial information)  

• the intentional or inadvertent conduct of any person that the Board 

determines resulted in an unfair benefit being obtained by a participant. 

Hedging Hedging, or the use of derivatives such as collars, caps or similar products in 

relation to Company securities, including vested shares or unvested Rights, 

allocated under Company incentive schemes, are strictly prohibited, as is 

Executive KMP providing share entitlements/Rights as security for loans that may 

result in margin calls. 
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Cessation of employment Cessation of employment prior to the vesting date will result in automatic 

forfeiture of all unvested Rights unless the Board exercises its discretion (e.g. for 

health reasons, retirement or Change of Control as set out below). 

Change of control / 

resignation / retirement in 

the event of ill health 

In the event of a potential change of control, resignation or retirement due to ill 

health, the Board may exercise its discretion to determine whether to vest 

granted but unvested Rights. 

Board discretion The Board retains the discretion to amend, vary, terminate or suspend the LTI 

plan at any time. Any such variation, amendment, termination or suspension is 

not to adversely affect or prejudice rights of LTI participants holding Company 

shares or Rights at that time. 

 
1 The FY23 Remuneration Report stated that the LTI grant Opportunity for the other Executive KMP was 150%. The correct value was 120%. 

4.4 LTI PERFORMANCE MEASURES 

Calculating Return on Invested Capital (ROIC) 

ROIC is measured at a Group consolidated level, on the following basis: ROIC = Net Operating Profit After 

Tax/Invested Capital 

Where: Net Operating Profit After Tax (NOPAT) is calculated as the Company’s statutory Earnings Before Interest 

and Tax (EBIT) for the year, after applying the prevailing corporate tax rate. The earnings amount is 

adjusted to remove the impact of changes to accounting policies, fair value adjustments for, and 

impairment of, listed investments, whether favourable or unfavourable. 

Profits arising on the monetisation of investments, such as on the formation of joint ventures or the 

divestment of portion of the Group’s operations, are a standard part of the Group’s strategy and are 

therefore included in NOPAT. 

Invested Capital is the sum of closing balances for the relevant financial period’s Net Assets and Net 

Interest Bearing Debt at balance date, adjusted for cumulative accounting policy adjustments and 

cumulative fair value adjustments for listed investments. As discussed in section 6.2, for LTI grants in FY25 

and following, Invested Capital will be calculated based on opening, rather than closing balances. 

WHY ROIC HAS BEEN CHOSEN AS THE SOLE MEASURE TO DETERMINE LTI AWARDS 

The Board, with a recommendation from the Remuneration and People Committee, continue to be of the view: 

1. ROIC remains the most appropriate measure for evaluating entitlement to an LTI award, as: 

• it is the key value driver considered by the Company for capital investment decisions  

• it provides a clear and unambiguous link between Company performance and the creation of 

shareholder value 

• financial return earned on capital deployed is closely correlated to the creation of wealth for 

shareholders over time. 

 
2. MinRes continues to be a highly capital-intensive business. As such, it is vital that Executive KMP ensure that 

maximum returns are generated on invested capital, which again supports utilisation of ROIC as the most 

appropriate measure for assessing Executive KMP’s entitlement to LTI. 

 
3. Any additional measure would dilute Executive KMP’s focus on what is viewed by the Board as the 

Company’s key objective i.e. the effective deployment of capital to ensure creation of long-term wealth. 

 
4. Executive KMP already have strong alignment with Total Shareholder Return (TSR) given their exposure to the 

Company’s share price performance and dividends through incentive structures and associated Rights. 
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5. ROIC is a measure that is directly controlled by Executive KMP and is not influenced by market sentiment 

which can result in alternate measures, such as TSR, delivering volatile outcomes. 

 

6. Shareholder value is driven by a function of: 

• the excess of ROIC over the Company’s Weighted Average Cost of Capital   

• growth in Invested Capital 

• the number of years this growth can be sustained. 

 

The following table sets out components used to calculate ROIC for each of the last five financial years. 

 
FY20 

Actual 

FY21 

Actual 

FY22 

Actual 

FY23 

Actual 

FY24 

Actual 

NOPAT: $M $M $M $M $M 

Profit before tax (per income statement) 1,436.2 1,792.7 489.1 360.4 104.6 

Underlying items (a) 35.4 (230.4) 196.1 (42.1) 309.2 

Profit before tax (for ROIC) 1,471.6 1,562.3 685.2 318.3 413.8 

Less: Interest income (14.4) (10.0) (10.7) (39.2) (58.1) 

Add back: Interest expense 104.9 95.8 123.4 233.2 262.1 

Net Operating Profit Before Tax 1,562.1 1,648.1 797.9 512.3 617.8 

Less tax at 30% (468.7) (494.4) (239.3) (153.7) (185.3) 

NOPAT 1,093.4 1,153.7 558.6 358.6 432.5 
 

 
     

 
FY20 

Actual 

FY21 

Actual 

FY22 
Actual 

FY23 
Actual 

FY24 
Actual 

Invested Capital: $M $M $M $M $M 

Net assets (per balance sheet) 2,295.6 3,246.1 3,271.1 3,521.8 3,589.3 

Underlying (cumulative, net of tax)(a)  6.9 (154.3) (10.2) (39.6) 184.1 

Net assets for ROIC 2,302.5 3,091.8 3,260.9 3,482.2 3,773.4 

Net debt  - - 697.6 1,896.0 4,428.7 

Total Invested Capital 2,302.5 3,091.8 3,958.5 5,378.2 8,202.1 

Strategic cash holding  (100.0) (100.0) - - - 

Net Invested Capital 2,202.5 2,991.8 3,958.5 5,378.2 8,202.1 

ROIC % 49.6% 38.6% 14.1% 6.7% 5.3% 

Four-year average ROIC % 24.4% 29.1% 28.0% 27.3% 16.2% 

(a) Underlying earnings have been normalised for non-operating items, including gains/losses and impairments on strategic investments 

held in listed shares accounted for at fair value through profit or loss (FY24: $309.2M pre-tax; FY23: $42.1M pre-tax) and acquisitions of 

Group entities where such investments are held at the discretion of the Board. Adjustments are also made to operating profits for the 

effect of new/revised accounting standards. 

  

  

F
or

 p
er

so
na

l u
se

 o
nl

y



  
REMUNERATION REPORT (AUDITED) 

 

MINERAL RESOURCES LIMITED 2024 FINANCIAL REPORT  |  45 

The Company’s focus on disciplined investment has, since listing, delivered outstanding returns on the capital 

invested in it, and in turn delivered outstanding returns for its shareholders, both on an absolute and a relative 

basis. 

 

 

 

 

Note: The Company's four-year average ROIC performance has been in the top quartile of the ASX 1007 over the past five years to June 2023. 

Source: Juno Partners analysis. Adjustments made to reported results to ensure comparable with MinRes’ definition of ROIC as set out above. 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 
7 Defined as top 100 ASX listed, AU-domiciled companies at 30 June by market capitalisation, excluding companies in the investment, insurance 

and real estate sectors due to their heavy use of mark-to-market accounting.  
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5. REMUNERATION OUTCOMES FOR FY24 

5.1 STI PERFORMANCE MEASURES (UNAUDITED) 

 

5.1.1 SAFETY, GOVERNANCE AND SUSTAINABILITY 

The following measures were considered in determining the Safety, Governance and Sustainability performance 

score for Executive KMP for FY24: 

• Performance and outcomes against FY24 Sustainability Targets including TRIFR of 2.74,8 significantly 

exceeding target of 4.5. 

• Work awarded to Indigenous-owned businesses increased year-on-year to a record $68M in FY24, 

highlighting our commitment to driving economic empowerment of the communities where we operate. 

• One reportable heritage incident occurred during the year, which was self-reported to the regulator with 

the resulting investigation ongoing. Several actions have been implemented because of the incident, 

including Responsible Land Use training and heritage compliance workshops.  

• In FY24, MinRes recorded zero high impact9 environmental incidents and published its inaugural Biodiversity 

Strategy, which highlighted a continued focus on environmental stewardship.  

• Significant work was completed to review and refresh the Net Zero Roadmap. 

• Maintained high ratings with top ESG rating agencies – MSCI, Sustainalytics and ISS.  

• Achieved target of 90 per cent completion of Safe and Respectful Behaviour Training program and Code 

of Conduct Training program.  

• The female workforce participation rate (excluding construction) was 23.4 per cent; an increase of six per 

cent from FY23. 

• In FY24, MinRes reported no gender pay gaps for comparable positions.  

• The Indigenous representation rate (excluding construction) was 3.8 per cent, an increase of six per cent 

from FY23.   

5.1.2 STRATEGIC GROWTH 

FY24 was a year of delivery for the Company, which continues to strengthen its reputation as one of Australia’s 

most diversified and innovative businesses. Significant progress on large-scale projects across all business units 

continues to fuel the Company’s transformational growth. 

  

The Mining Services business remains the heartbeat of MinRes, applying extensive in-house experience and an 

innovation mindset to deliver timely, productive and efficient services for the Company and external clients. 

 

In FY24, six new external mining services contracts were awarded with Tier 1 clients, showcasing MinRes’ capability 

and infrastructure across lithium ore sorting, iron ore crushing, whole-of-mine services and road train haulage. This 

included Mining Services’ first contract on Australia’s east coast, delivering haulage services in Queensland for a 

Tier 1 mining company. 

 

MinRes continues to leverage its extensive in-house engineering and construction capability, backed by more 

than 25 years’ experience and supporting the Company to maintain full control and flexibility of project 

development, uphold rigorous quality standards and deliver word-class projects on time and on budget. 

 

During FY24 there was significant progress constructing Onslow Iron. This included the development of project 

infrastructure across the Ken’s Bore mine site, dedicated haul road, port facilities and resort accommodation, 

culminating in first ore on ship achieved ahead of schedule in May 2024. The project remains on track for 

completion by the end of the 2024 calendar year. 

 

MinRes entered into a binding agreement with Morgan Stanley Infrastructure Partners for the sale of a 49 per cent 

interest in Onslow Iron’s 150 kilometre dedicated haul road for expected proceeds of $1.3 billion, demonstrating 

innovative realisation of asset value and supporting balance sheet management. The transaction was the first of 

its kind in the Australian iron ore industry and showcases the considerable value of MinRes’ portfolio of 

infrastructure assets and an ability to unlock significant capital. 

 
8 TRIFR & LTIFR metrics are unaudited and are being finalised. 
9 High Impact Environmental Incidents are those incidents that have an actual environmental consequence of high or major (Level 4 and 

above). These events have an adverse impact on fauna/flora, habitat, soil, aquatic and land ecosystems, atmosphere or water resources 

lasting multiple years.  
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In another industry first, MinRes commenced direct flights between Brisbane and Ken’s Bore and Wodgina, 

unlocking a new employment market and further supporting the safety, productivity and wellbeing of its people 

and contractors. 

In Lithium, MinRes strengthened its world-class asset portfolio with the acquisition of the Bald Hill lithium mine in the 

Goldfields region of Western Australia. MinRes assumed control of the project on 1 November 2023 and now 

operates three hard rock lithium mines in one of the world’s most prospective regions.   

A restructuring of the MARBL JV with Albemarle was also finalised in FY24, with MinRes’ share of the Wodgina 

lithium mine increasing from 40 per cent to 50 per cent. Albemarle paid MinRes net proceeds of US$383M for the 

Company’s share of the Kemerton lithium hydroxide processing plant and completion adjustments at Wodgina 

and Kemerton. 

At the Mt Marion lithium operation in the Goldfields region, results from an extensive exploration program 

significantly increased confidence in the underground resource in the mine’s upper North Pit. The Company later 

announced it had doubled the underground Mineral Resource to 19.3Mt10, allowing for preliminary development 

works to commence to support future underground mining. 

A development contract was awarded to locally based specialist underground development contractor, 

Develop Global Limited, for the establishment of an exploration decline at Mt Marion. Works include 

establishment of surface facilities supporting underground mining activity, installation of underground mine 

infrastructure, excavating underground capital development and exploration drill platforms, completing box cut 

development and obtaining geological and operational data. 

MinRes’ Energy business continued to pursue opportunities to access low cost, reliable and cleaner fuel to power 

the Company’s operations.  In FY24, further strong progress was made with its exploration program in the onshore 

Perth Basin included outstanding test results across the Lockyer-5 gas production well and North Erregulla-2 oil 

appraisal well. The Company also acquired its own drill rig, MinRes Explorer, which is scheduled to be operational 

from Q1 FY25. 

5.1.3 FINANCIAL AND OPERATIONAL PERFORMANCE 

Financial results for the period are summarised as follows: 

• Revenue of $5,278M, up 10 per cent from FY23 of $4,779M. 

• Underlying EBITDA of $1,057M, down 40 per cent from FY23 of $1,754M. 

• Cash at bank $908M, with net debt on hand $4,428M. 

• ROIC of 5.3 per cent, and four-year rolling ROIC of 16.2 per cent. 

• Iron ore exports totalled 18.1M wmt across all hubs, in line with combined guidance. 

• Record shipments from Wodgina (201k dry metric tonnes (dmt) SC6) and Mt Marion (218k dmt SC6). 

• Mining Services production volumes of 269M wmt, up nine per cent on pcp, within guidance. 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 
10 ASX Announcement 21 February 2024 
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A summary of the Group’s financial performance over the past five years is set out in the tables below. 

 

Financial summary 
($M unless otherwise stated) 

FY20 FY21 FY22 FY23 FY24 

Earnings $M $M $M $M $M 

Revenue 2,125 3,734 3,418 4,779 5,278 

Underlying EBITDA 765 1,901 1,024 1,754 1,057 

NPAT 1,002 1,268 351 244 11411 

Return on Revenue 47% 34% 10% 5% 2% 

Return on Equity 44% 39% 11% 7% 3% 

ROIC 49.6% 38.6% 14.1% 6.7% 5.3% 

Diluted EPS (cents/share) 532.96 673.18 182.18 126.25 63.54 

      

Financial year ended 30 June  FY20 FY21 FY22 FY23 FY24 

 $ $ $ $ $ 

Final dividend for the  

preceding financial year 
0.3100 0.7700 1.7500 1.0000 0.7000 

Interim dividend for the  

current financial year 
0.2300 1.0000 - 1.2000 0.2000 

Total dividend paid 0.5400 1.7700 1.7500 2.2000 0.9000 

Share price 21.17 53.73 48.27 71.43 53.92 

Total Shareholder Return (TSR) 

(cumulative) 
31.21 82.36 75.65 114.58 87.17 

 

 

 
11 NPAT includes $99M of non-cash, post-tax impairment charges mainly on exploration in the Yilgarn and sustained losses on equity-accounted 

investments. Also included within NPAT was a $283M pre-tax net gain plus a net tax benefit of $180M recognised on completion of the MARBL 

Joint Venture (MARBL JV) restructure. 
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5.1.4 ORGANISATIONAL CULTURE AND DEVELOPMENT 

The Company continued to ensure organisational culture and development remained a focus for FY24: 

• As of 30 June 2024, MinRes employed 8,45612 employees, up 49 per cent when compared to 30 June 2023 

and influenced by the Onslow Iron construction ramp up and the acquisition of Bald Hill.  

• 75 per cent of employees participated in MinRes’ annual employee engagement survey which provided a 

score of 70 per cent employee engagement – three per cent above industry average of 67 per cent.  

• MinRes leadership programs were extended with more than 300 employees participating. 90 per cent of 

those who completed the program believed it was the best leadership program they had completed.  

• In an industry first, MinRes deployed a team of in-house qualified mental health counsellors, the Mind Matters 

team, to its mine sites across Western Australia. 

• Employee turnover remained stable at 23 per cent, representing a minor increase year-on-year of 2.6 per 

cent. 

5.2 DETERMINING STI PERFORMANCE 

The STI assessment matrix was modified in FY24 to include Group and Pillar (Business Unit) performance along with 

a measure of individual performance as per the following matrix.  

 

 

Awards under the STI program recognise what has been achieved by the participant and how they went about 

their work.  

5.2.1 GROUP AND PILLAR PERFORMANCE 

Drawing on an analysis of performance against key indicators, the Board reviews Group performance against 

objectives set and overall Pillar performance to determine a score out of 100 per cent. A score of 75 per cent 

reflects “On Target” performance.  

5.2.2 INDIVIDUAL PERFORMANCE ASSESSMENT  

For Executive KMP apart from the MD, a review of individual performance against core Executive KMP attributes 

is made by the Board to determine an individual performance assessment rating. The individual performance 

assessment outcome can range from 0 to 1.75. A score of 1.25 is awarded for “On Point” performance.  

 

 
12 MinRes employee figures do not include contractors or Non-Executive Directors 
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5.2.3 DETERMINING STI AWARD 

Except for the MD, the STI award is then a product of the Group and the relevant Pillar’s performance score (A) 

multiplied by the individual’s performance assessment (B) and the Executive KMP’s Target STI, being 75 per cent 

of their maximum STI opportunity (C).  

 

To fully link the MD’s STI reward to the overall rating of the Group’s performance, the MD’s STI outcome is not 

subject to the individual performance assessment element; the MD’s STI reward is the product of the Group 

performance score and the MD’s maximum STI opportunity. 

5.3 FY24 STI OUTCOMES 

Company objectives 

The Board’s assessment of performance against Company objectives for FY24 was as follows: 

Objective Weighting Overall score 

Safety, Governance and Sustainability 20% 17/20 

Strategic Growth 30% 30/30 

Financial and Operational Performance 30% 25/30 

Organisational Culture  20% 17/20 

Overall score for Company objectives  89/100 

Individual performance assessment 

Executive KMP other than the MD were individually assessed against each of the six core attributes required of 

our leadership team. The outcomes varied across attributes and individuals and the overall outcomes landed in 

the range between “On Point” and “Outstanding”. Each has been assessed as “On Point”. As noted at section 

5.2.3 above, the MD is not subject to an individual performance assessment. 

FY24 discretionary adjustments 

The Board determined that no discretionary adjustments to STI outcomes were required in FY24. 
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Outcomes measured against all outcomes above 

After consideration of the above factors, the Remuneration and People Committee recommended, and the 

Board accepted, the following outcomes for Executive KMP for FY24.  

Exec KMP Target STI1 X 

Group & 

Pillar score 

(per cent) 

X 

Individual 

performance 

assessment2 

= STI Outcome 
Settled in 

cash* 

Settled in 

equity* 

Overall 

outcome of 

max STI 

(per cent) 

MD $2,000,000  89  n/a  $1,780,000 $1,000,000 $780,000 89 

CE - Iron Ore $675,000  88  1.25  $742,500 $450,000 $292,500 83 

CE - Lithium $675,000  88  1.25  $742,500 $450,000 $292,500 83 

CE - Mining 

Services 
$675,000  88  1.25  $742,500 $450,000 $292,500 83 

CFO $900,000  95  1.25  $1,068,750 $600,000 $468,750 89 

 *Awards made under the STI plan to Executive KMP that exceed 50 per cent of maximum STI are deferred in the form of Rights that vest in two 

equal instalments; one year and two years following grant of the Rights. 
1 With the exception of the MD, target STI is 75 per cent of maximum STI opportunity. For MD, target STI is equal to the maximum STI opportunity. 
2 Although the individual performance assessments are all 1.25, this was an outcome of differing ratings across the various attributes for each of 

the roles assessed. 

5.4 LTI PERFORMANCE OUTCOMES 

Due to the structure of the LTI plan, LTI awarded to Executive KMP is applied against the FY21 award. FY21’s LTI 

was therefore assessed based on the average ROIC performance for the four years to 30 June 2024.  

 

ROIC for the FY24 year was 5.3 per cent, reflecting the significant increase in invested capital to enable the 

current strategic projects underfoot to increase shareholder value over time. The four-year average ROIC from 

FY21 to FY24 was 16.2 per cent, resulting in 89.9 per cent of the grant becoming eligible to vest in August 2024. 

 

The following table provides a summary of the LTI opportunities made to plan participants in the current and 

earlier financial periods and discloses the achieved ROIC performance relating to the applicable performance 

period.    

1 The Grant Date for FY23 and FY24 disclosed applies to Executive KMP other than the MD. The applicable Grant Date for the MD is the date of 

the AGM where these plans were approved by Shareholders. 

 

Section 4.3 above details the formula for determining the vesting of LTI Rights subject to the ROIC outcome over 

the four-year measurement period. 

 

 

 

 

 

Period 
Grant 

date 

Vesting 

date 

ROIC 

measurement 

period 

Status 

complete 

- % 

ROIC – % 
% eligible to 

vest 

     FY21 FY22 FY23 FY24 
Four-year 

average 

 

FY21 
1 Sept 

2020 

Aug 

2024 
FY21 to FY24 100 38.6 14.1 6.7 5.3 16.2 89.9 

FY22 
18 Oct 

2021 

Aug 

2025 
FY22 to FY25 75 - 14.1 6.7 5.3 - On-foot 

FY23 
19 Dec 

20221 

Aug 

2026 
FY23 to FY26 50 - - 6.7 5.3 - On-foot 

FY24 
3 Jul 

20231 

Aug 

2027 
FY24 to FY27 25 - - - 5.3 - On-foot 
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Retention Plan Incentive (RPI)  

From time to time the Company offers Rights under the RPI to select staff, including some members of the 

Executive KMP. There are no other performance hurdles attached to these Rights. During FY24, two offers made 

during FY20 vested - 19,555 Rights for the Chief Executive – Mining Services and 21,855 Rights for the Chief Financial 

Officer. 

 

The key elements of the FY20 RPI are set out below, and in table 5.5, table 8 in the respective LTI disclosures and 

table 9 below.  

 

Participants By invitation only  

Opportunity The RPI grant opportunity for Executive KMP participants was equal to 30 per cent of 

Base FAR in the Grant Year. 

Number  

of RPI Rights 

The number of Rights to be issued was determined using the following formula: 

RPI Rights issued = (Base FAR x RPI Opportunity) / VWAP 

where ‘VWAP’ was the five-day Volume Weighted Average Price to the Grant Date. 

Vesting hurdle Vesting was subject to continued satisfactory service throughout the Vesting period. 

Vesting period All Rights vested three financial years after the Grant Year subject to the performance 

period hurdle, clawback and malus provisions. 

# Note: the key terms of the RPI relating to payment vehicle, holding lock, dividends, clawback and malus provisions, hedging, cessation of 

employment, change of control / resignation / retirement in the event of ill health and Board discretion are consistent with those of other LTI plans 

and are included in section 4.3 above. 
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5.5 TAKE HOME PAY (NON-IFRS AND UNAUDITED) 

The following tables provide a summary of the cash value of remuneration realised for each Executive KMP during 

the year, which may be useful in understanding Executive KMP’s current year pay and alignment with performance. 

The FY24 table highlights the significant increase in company share price and shareholder value achieved in recent 

years. These remuneration outcomes tables differ from the statutory (IFRS) remuneration tables in section 8 below. 

  

FY24 
Cash salary 

and fees1 

STI cash 

bonus2 
STI vesting3 

LTI 

vesting4 

Other 

benefits5 
Total 

STI vesting 

share price 

growth6 

LTI vesting 

share price 

growth6 

Total 

 including 

share price 

growth 

 $ $ $ $ $ $ $ $ $ 

  Executive  

  Director 
         

  Chris Ellison 1,600,000 1,000,000 468,046 1,884,868 71,999 5,024,913 112,206 8,183,907 13,321,026 

  Other  

  Executives 
         

  Mike Grey 900,000 450,000 272,003 1,163,260 89,872 2,875,135 72,915 4,963,006 7,911,056 

  Chris Soccio 900,000 450,000 - - 27,500 1,377,500 - - 1,377,500 

  Joshua Thurlow 900,000 450,000 - 370,166 27,500 1,747,666 - 446,922 2,194,588 

  Mark Wilson 1,000,000 600,000 382,348 1,548,801 126,272 3,657,421 90,752 6,626,667 10,374,840 

Total 5,300,000 2,950,000 1,122,397 4,967,095 343,143 14,682,635 275,873 20,220,502 35,179,010 
1 Cash salary and fees exclude superannuation contributions, which are reported within 'Other Benefits'. 
2 STI rewards of up to 50 per cent of an Executive KMP’s maximum STI are settled in cash, with the balance settled in Rights. Amounts included 

here relate to performance during FY23, paid in FY24. 
3 FY21 STI and FY22 STI equity settled awards that have vested during FY24, calculated as the number of Rights vested multiplied by the grant date 

fair value as prescribed under AASB 2. 
4 FY20 LTI, FY21 LTI and FY20 RPI Rights that have vested during FY24, calculated as the number of Rights vested multiplied by the grant date fair 

value as prescribed under AASB 2. 
5 Other Benefits relate to non-monetary benefits and superannuation benefits that are awarded for performance during FY24. Mike Grey and 

Mark Wilson each received $62,372 in Resource Development Group Ltd (RDG) share options during FY24 as remuneration for serving as Company 

Directors of RDG. RDG forms part of the Group. 
6 The share price growth amount is equal to the number of LTI and/or RPI Rights vested multiplied by the increase in the Company share price 

over the period from grant date to vesting date. 

 
 

FY23 
Cash salary 

and fees1 

STI cash 

bonus2 
STI vesting3 

LTI 

vesting 

Other 

benefits4 
Total 

STI vesting 

share price 

growth5 

LTI vesting 

share price 

growth 

Total 

 including 

share price 

growth 

 $ $ $ $ $ $ $ $ $ 

Executive Director          

Chris Ellison 1,593,846 600,000 556,137 - 65,436 2,815,419 570,028 - 3,385,447 

Other Executives          

Mike Grey 900,000 384,000 372,738 - 105,292 1,762,030 371,900 - 2,133,930 

Chris Soccio 450,000 - - - 12,646 462,646 - - 462,646 

Joshua Thurlow 450,000 - - - 12,646 462,646 - - 462,646 

Mark Wilson 999,231 380,000 416,562 - 138,329 1,934,122 415,642 - 2,349,764 

Former:          

Paul Brown6 228,846 384,000 332,386 - 89,756 1,034,988 314,695 - 1,349,683 

Total 4,621,923 1,748,000 1,677,823 - 424,105 8,471,851 1,672,265 - 10,144,116 
1 Cash salary and fees exclude superannuation contributions, which are reported within “Other Benefits”.  
2 STI rewards of up to 50 per cent of an Executive KMP’s maximum STI are settled in cash, with the balance settled in Rights. Amounts included here relate 

to performance during FY22, paid in FY23. 
3 FY20 STI and FY21 STI equity settled awards that vested during FY23, calculated as the number of Rights vested multiplied by the grant date fair value 

as prescribed under AASB 2. 
4 Other Benefits relate to non-monetary benefits and superannuation benefits that are awarded for performance during FY23. Paul Brown, Mike Grey 

and Mark Wilson each received $80,000 in Resource Development Group Ltd (RDG) share options during FY23 as remuneration for serving as NEDs of 

RDG. RDG forms part of the Group. 
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5.5 TAKE HOME PAY (NON-IFRS AND UNAUDITED)(CONTINUED) 

5 The “share price growth” amount is equal to the number of Rights vested multiplied by the increase in the Company share price over the period from 

the commencement of the performance period to vesting date. 
6 Paul Brown resigned as the Chief Executive – Lithium on 30 September 2022. 

 

 

6. KEY CHANGES TO REMUNERATION FOR FY24 AND FY25  

6.1 EXECUTIVE KMP FIXED AND AT-RISK REMUNERATION OPPORTUNITY  

Consistent with prior years, the Committee, in conjunction with its independent remuneration advisors, undertook 

a review of Executive KMP’s remuneration during the year to ensure these align with the Company’s policy, in 

particular for Fixed Remuneration targeted at 50th percentile and Total Maximum Remuneration targeted up to 

the 85th percentile of similar roles in Comparator Businesses (refer section 3.3). 

 

While this analysis found that some variation to the Group’s policy, no increase to fixed or at-risk remuneration 

was made for Executive KMP for FY24.  The Committee further determined that no increase will be made to 

Executive KMP remuneration for FY25. 

 

The Committee will review Executive KMP remuneration during FY25 and adjustments to fixed and at-risk pay may 

be made with effect from FY26. 

6.2 CALCULATING ROIC 

ROIC is the sole performance metric used to determine vesting under the Company’s LTI plan. Historically, the 

Invested Capital element of ROIC has been calculated using amounts drawn from the Company’s year-end 

balance sheet.  Following a review conducted during FY24, the Committee found this methodology could 

unintentionally deter investment as substantial new investments often do not contribute to profit in the year the 

investment is made, thereby significantly dragging on reported ROIC performance. 

 

A review of the methodology used to calculate ROIC or similar metrics for remuneration purposes at other ASX-

listed businesses found that calculating Invested Capital using year end balances was uncommon. 

 

Given the above, the Committee proposed and the Board approved the amendment of the ROIC calculation 

methodology so that, for all LTI grants from FY25 onwards, Invested Capital will be calculated using amounts 

drawn from the Company’s balance sheet at the start of the year. 

 

This methodology will more appropriately allow for the timing of profit generation from investment and more 

accurately reflect the return generated on the funds entrusted to the Company. 

6.3 NED FEES 

In FY23, the Committee, in conjunction with its independent remuneration advisors, undertook a review of NED 

fees  to ensure they aligned with the Company’s policy. The review showed Committee fees required revision to 

ensure they remained in line with MinRes’ Comparator Businesses and NED fees were adjusted for FY24. To 

accommodate these changes, the Board recommended, and Shareholders approved at the November 2023 

Annual General Meeting, an increase in the Director fee pool limit to $2.5M per annum.   

 

For FY25, the Committee has recommended, and the Board has approved, a minor increase to NED fees to 

incorporate increases in the Superannuation Guarantee Levy. NED fees remain well within the fee pool limit. 

 

NED fees for FY24 and FY25 are set out in table 7.2. 
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7. SUMMARY OF EMPLOYMENT CONDITIONS 

7.1 EXECUTIVE KMP 

The table below summarises the employment agreements in place with Executive KMP as at the date of this 

report. 

Executive KMP 
Term of 

agreement 
Base FAR1 Base FAR1 

Notice period: 

Executive KMP 

and MinRes 

Termination 

entitlements2 

  FY25 FY24   

Chris Ellison (MD) Full time – 

permanent 
$1,600,000 $1,600,000 12 months 

Notice 

period per 

contract 

Mike Grey  

(CE Mining 

Services) 

Full time – 

permanent 
$900,000 $900,000 12 months 

Notice 

period per 

contract 

Chris Soccio  

(CE Iron Ore) 

Full time – 

permanent 
$900,000 $900,000 12 months 

Notice 

period per 

contract 

Joshua Thurlow 

(CE Lithium) 

Full time – 

permanent 
$900,000 $900,000 12 months 

Notice 

period per 

contract 

Mark Wilson  

(CFO and 

Company 

Secretary) 

Full time – 

permanent 
$1,000,000 $1,000,000 12 months 

Notice 

period per 

contract 

 

1 Base FAR comprises the executive’s salary and excludes superannuation and other fixed entitlements.  

2 Should this amount be a value that requires shareholder approval then it can be reduced to maximum permissible amount without 

shareholder agreement. 

 

7.2 NON-EXECUTIVE DIRECTORS 

NEDs receive fees to recognise their contribution to the work of the Board and the additional time and effort 

associated with chairing and/or participating in Board committees on which they serve. NED remuneration is 

reviewed annually by the Remuneration and People Committee. 

The following table outlines the NED fees, inclusive of superannuation, effective as at the date of this report for 

the Board and associated Committees. 

NED remuneration is not linked to Company performance, although to create alignment with shareholders, NED 

fees continue to be paid 50 per cent in cash and 50 per cent in Company shares. NEDs are encouraged to hold 

at least one year’s worth of fees in Company shares and NEDs are subject to the Company’s Securities Trading 

Policy. 
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The Remuneration and People Committee recommended, and the Board approved, revisions to fees paid for 

FY25 to NEDs to incorporate increases in the Superannuation Guarantee Levy, as set out the following table. 

 

Board/Committee fees (per annum)  Chair Member 

 FY25 FY24 FY25 FY24 

 $ $ $ $ 

Board 412,5002 410,0002 171,000 170,000 

Board – Lead Independent Director1 - - - - 

Audit and Risk Committee 40,500 40,000 20,500 20,000 

Remuneration and People Committee3 - 40,000 20,500 20,000 

Nomination Committee - - 20,500 20,000 

Sustainability Committee 40,500 40,000 20,500 20,000 

Technical Committee 40,500 40,000 20,500 20,000 
 

1 Following James McClements’ appointment in FY22 as Non-Executive Chair this position has been vacant and remains vacant as at the date 

of this report.  
2 The Board Chair does not receive any fees for chairing or being a member of any of the Board Committees. 
3 Following James McClements re-appointment as Remuneration and People Committee Chair effective 1 February 2024, the Committee fee 

payable to the chair is included in the remuneration payable to the Board Chair.  

 

A resolution was passed at the 2023 AGM to approve an increase in the maximum pool to $2.5M to facilitate 

sufficient headroom in the pool to allow for the appointment of additional NEDs, an allocation of entitlements for 

participation in Board Committees, and for an increase in the NED fees should this be recommended by the 

Remuneration and People Committee.  
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8. KMP STATUTORY REMUNERATION SCHEDULES 

The following tables detail the statutory remuneration disclosures prepared in accordance with the Corporations 

Act 2001 and Australian Accounting Standards. These tables differ from the Take Home Pay tables in section 5.5, 

due to the accounting treatment of share-based payments. 

 

 Short-term benefits 

Post-

employment 

benefits 

Share-based payments   

FY24 
Cash salary 

and fees 
Other3 

STI cash 

value4 

Non-

monetary 

Superan-

nuation 

STI equity 

value 

LTI equity 

value7 
 

NED 

remuneration5 
Total 

Performance 

Related6 

 $ $ $ $ $ $ $  $ $ % 

Non-Executive Director           

Current            

James 

McClements 
191,250 - - - 27,500 - -  191,250 410,000 - 

Susie Corlett 107,357 - - - 23,619 - -  107,357 238,333 - 

Colleen 

Hayward8 
98,348 48,000 - - 21,637 - -  98,348 266,333 - 

Justin Langer 98,348 - - - 21,637 - -  98,348 218,333 - 

Denise 

McComish1 
58,934 - - - 12,965 - -  58,934 130,833 - 

Jacqui 

McGill1 
41,610 - - - 9,497 - -  41,610 92,717 - 

Zimi Meka 99,850 - - - 21,967 - -  99,850 221,667 - 

Xi Xi 115,405 - - - - - -  115,405 230,810 - 

Former            

Kelvin Flynn2 58,934 - - - 12,965 - -  58,934 130,833 - 

            

Executive Director           

Chris Ellison 1,600,000 - 1,000,000 44,499 27,500 527,200 (1,600,732)  - 1,598,467 - 

            

Other Executives           

Mike Grey 900,000 62,372 450,000 - 27,500 204,122 (620,214)  - 1,023,780 2% 

Chris Soccio  900,000 - 450,000 - 27,500 153,728 (121,747)  - 1,409,481 27% 

Joshua 

Thurlow 
900,000 - 450,000 - 27,500 153,728 17,843  - 1,549,071 30% 

Mark Wilson 1,000,000 62,372 600,000 36,400 27,500 321,963 (867,146)  - 1,181,089 3% 

            

Total 6,170,036 172,744 2,950,000 80,899 289,287 1,360,741 (3,191,996)  870,036 8,701,747  

1 Denise McComish commenced on 1 December 2023 and Jacqui McGill commenced on 31 January 2024. 
2 Kelvin Flynn resigned from the Company's Board on 31 January 2024. 
3 Mike Grey and Mark Wilson each received $62,372 in Resource Development Group Ltd (RDG) share options during FY24 as remuneration for serving 

as Company Directors of RDG. RDG forms part of the Group. 
4 50 per cent of the FY24 STI plan on each Executive KMP’s maximum STI opportunity, is paid in cash and relates to the performance during FY24, 

paid in FY25. 
5 Equity component of NED remuneration. 
6 Negative percentages are not disclosed. 
7 The value disclosed includes reversals for LTI plans granted in prior years which are no longer expected to vest. 
8 Other remuneration includes remuneration received by Colleen Hayward relating to cultural advisory services rendered. 
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8. KMP STATUTORY REMUNERATION SCHEDULES (CONTINUED) 

 Short-term benefits 

Post-

employment 

benefits 

Share-based payments   

FY23 

Cash 

Salary and 

fees 

Other3 
STI Cash 

value1 

Non-

Monetary 

Superan- 

nuation 

STI equity 

Value 

LTI equity 

value6 
 

NED 

Remuneration2 
Total 

Performance 

Related 

 $ $ $ $ $ $ $  $ $ % 

Non-Executive Director           

James 

McClements 
195,692 - - - 25,752 - -  195,692 417,136 - 

Susie Corlett 107,019 - - - 23,157 - -  107,019 237,195 - 

Kelvin Flynn 101,987 - - - 21,417 - -  101,987 225,391 - 

Colleen 

Hayward4,7 
45,000 32,000 - - 9,450 - -  45,000 131,450 - 

Justin Langer4 45,000 - - - 9,450 - -  45,000 99,450 - 

Zimi Meka 94,135 - - - 20,098 - -  94,135 208,368 - 

Xi Xi 119,488 - - - - - -  119,488 238,976 - 

            

Executive Director           

Chris Ellison 1,593,846 - 1,000,000 40,144 25,292 499,612 2,833,781  - 5,992,675 72% 

            

Other Executives           

Current            

Mike Grey 900,000 80,000 450,000 - 25,292 245,058 1,285,884  - 2,986,234 64% 

Chris Soccio  450,000 - 225,000 - 12,646 22,639 263,386  - 973,671 48% 

Joshua 

Thurlow 
450,000 - 225,000 - 12,646 22,639 403,640  - 1,113,925 52% 

Mark Wilson 999,231 80,000 600,000 33,036 25,292 359,312 1,773,824  - 3,870,695 69% 

            

Former            

Paul Brown5 228,846 80,000 - - 9,756 - 340,651  - 659,253 52% 

            

Total 5,330,244 272,000 2,500,000 73,180 220,248 1,149,260 6,901,166  708,321 17,154,419  

1 50 per cent of the FY23 STI plan on each Executive KMP’s maximum STI opportunity is paid in cash and relates to the performance during FY23, 

paid in FY24. 
2 Equity component of NED remuneration.  
3 Paul Brown, Mike Grey and Mark Wilson each received $80,000 in Resource Development Group Ltd (RDG) share options during FY23 as 

remuneration for their RDG NED remuneration. RDG forms part of the Group. 

4 Colleen Hayward and Justin Langer commenced on 1 January 2023. 
5 Paul Brown resigned as the Chief Executive Lithium on 30 September 2022. 
6 The comparative information has been restated to incorporate awards under the LTIP and RPI granted to certain Executive KMP in prior years 

which were omitted in error.  The impact on the FY23 total remuneration expense is an increase of $378,168, consisting of $267,291 (being the RPI 

equity value) and $110,877 (being the LTI equity value). The restatement impact to FY20 is $112,849, FY21 is $144,525 and FY22 is $144,525 (all 

relating to historical RPI Grants). See section 9 for a breakdown of number of shares to which each Executive KMP is entitled. The number of Rights 

granted as reflected in section 9 have been amended to align with full plan entitlements. 
7 Other remuneration includes remuneration received by the Colleen Hayward relating to cultural advisory services rendered. 
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9. SHARE RIGHTS GRANTED, VESTED AND POTENTIAL FUTURE VESTING 

 
 

 

             Rights to shares: 

FY24 Plan Grant date 1 
Performance 

Periods 

No. of 

share 

rights 

granted 

Value per 

share right 

granted at 

grant 6,10 

$/right 

Total value of 

share rights 

granted at grant 

date 15 

$  

No. vested 

during the 

year 

Vested 

during the 

year 

% 

No. 

forfeited 

during the 

year 

% 

forfeited 

during the 

year  

Remaining, 

subject to 

vesting 

conditions 

Year in 

which 

share 

rights may 

vest 

No. of 

share 

rights 

which may 

vest 

Maximum 

future 

expense  

$ 

Chris Ellison 

FY20 LTI  

FY20 DER2 
31/08/2019 

FY20 to FY23 

FY20 to FY23 

142,577  

23,184 

13.22 

- 

1,884,868  

- 

142,577  

23,184 
100% - 0% 

- 

- 

FY24 

FY24 

- 

- 

- 

-  

FY21 LTI  

FY21 DER2 
01/09/2020 

FY21 to FY24 

FY21 to FY24 

92,577 

13,987 

28.62 

- 

2,649,565 

- 

- 

- 
0% - 0% 

92,577 

13,987 

FY25 

FY25 

92,577 

13,987 

- 

- 

FY21 STI 20/08/2021 FY21 to FY23 7,875 51.05 402,019 3,938 50% - 0% - FY24 - - 

FY22 LTI 

FY22 DER2 
18/10/2021 

FY22 to FY25 

FY22 to FY25 

41,710  

1,842 

43.36 

- 

1,808,546  

- 

- 

- 
0% - 0% 

41,710  

1,842 

FY26 

FY26 

41,710  

1,842 

1,808,546 

- 

FY22 STI 31/08/2022 FY22 to FY24 8,348 63.97 534,022 4,174 50% - 0% 4,174 FY25 4,174 14,308 

FY23 LTI 

FY23 DER2 
17/11/2022 

FY23 to FY26 

FY23 to FY26 

58,923  

1,673 

82.95 

- 

4,887,663 

- 

- 

- 
0% - 0% 

58,923  

1,673 

FY27 

FY27 

58,923  

1,673 

4,887,663 

- 

FY23 STI 29/08/2023 FY23 to FY25 4,814 69.48 334,477 - 0% - 0% 4,814 
FY25 

FY26 

2,407 

2,407 

13,092 

61,711 

FY24 LTI 

FY24 DER2 
16/11/2023 

FY24 to FY27 

FY24 to FY27 

40,771 

533 

62.60 

- 

2,552,265 

- 

- 

- 
0% - 0% 

40,771 

533 

FY28 

FY28 

40,771 

533 

2,552,265 

- 

FY24 STI3 28/06/2024 FY24 to FY26 14,077 53.92 759,025 - 0% - 0% 14,077 
FY26 

FY27 

7,038 

7,039 

199,780 

256,481 

Mike Grey 

FY20 LTI 

FY20 DER2 
31/08/2019 

FY20 to FY23 

FY20 to FY23 

67,328 

11,581 

13.22 

- 

890,076  

- 

67,328 

11,581 
100% - 0% 

- 

- 

FY24 

FY24 

- 

- 

-  

- 

FY20 RPI 

FY20 DER2 
19/09/2019 

FY20 to FY24 

FY20 to FY24 

19,555 

3,594 

13.97 

- 

273,183 

- 

19,555 

3,594 
100% - 0% 

- 

- 

FY24 

FY24 

- 

- 

-  

- 

FY21 LTI 

FY21 DER2 
01/09/2020 

FY21 to FY24 

FY21 to FY24 

43,718 

6,605 

28.62 

- 

1,251,202 

- 

- 

- 
0% - 0% 

43,718 

6,605 

FY25 

FY25 

43,718 

6,605 

- 

- 

FY21 STI 20/08/2021 FY21 to FY23 5,644 51.05 288,126 2,822 50% - 0% - FY24 - - 

FY22 LTI 

FY22 DER2 
18/10/2021 

FY22 to FY25 

FY22 to FY25 

19,697 

870 

43.36 

- 

854,062 

- 

- 

- 
0% - 0% 

19,697 

870 

FY26 

FY26 

19,697 

870 

854,062 

- 

FY22 STI 31/08/2022 FY22 to FY24 4,000 63.97 255,880 2,000 50% - 0% 2000 FY25 2,000 6,856 

FY23 LTI 

FY23 DER2 
19/12/2022 

FY23 to FY26 

FY23 to FY26 

22,097 

628 

81.72 

- 

1,805,767  

- 

- 

- 
0% - 0% 

22,097 

628 

FY27 

FY27 

22,097 

628 

1,805,767  

- 

FY23 STI 29/08/2023 FY23 to FY25 1,633 69.48 113,461 - 0% - 0% 1,633 
FY25 

FY26 

816 

817 

4,438 

20,950 

FY24 LTI 

FY24 DER2 
03/07/2023 

FY24 to FY27 

FY24 to FY27 

15,290 

200 

72.82 

- 

1,113,418 

- 

- 

- 
0% - 0% 

15,290 

200 

FY28 

FY28 

15,290 

200 

1,113,418 

- 

FY24 STI3 28/06/2024 FY24 to FY26 5,279 53.92 284,624 - 0% - 0% 5,279 
FY26 

FY27 

2,639 

2,640 

76,717 

97,442 

Chris 

Soccio 

FY23 LTI 

FY23 DER2 
19/12/2022 

FY23 to FY26 

FY23 to FY26 

22,097 

628 

81.72 

- 

1,805,767  

- 

- 

- 
0% - 0% 

22,097 

628 

FY27 

FY27 

22,097 

628 

1,805,767 

- 

FY23 STI 29/08/2023 FY23 to FY25 1,633 69.48 113,461 - 0% - 0% 1,633 
FY25 

FY26 

816 

817 

4,438 

20,950 

FY23 RPI 

FY23 DER2 
01/07/2022 

FY23 to FY27 

FY23 to FY27 

10,230 

452 

46.82 

- 

478,969 

- 

- 

- 
0%  - 

0% 

0% 

10,230 

452 

FY27 

FY27 

10,230 

452 

325,657 

- 

FY24 LTI 

FY24 DER2 
03/07/2023 FY24 to FY27 

FY24 to FY27 

15,290 

200 

72.82 

- 

1,113,418 

- 

- 

- 
0% - 0% 

15,290 

200 

FY28 

FY28 

15,290 

200 

1,113,418 

- 

FY24 STI3 28/06/2024 FY24 to FY26 5,279 53.92 284,624 - 0% - 0% 
2,639 

2,640 

FY26 

FY27 

2,639 

2,640 

76,717 

97,442 

Joshua 

Thurlow 

FY20 RPI 

FY20 DER2 
01/09/2019 

FY20 to FY25 

FY20 to FY25 

19,202 

3,529 

13.82 

- 

265,372 

- 

- 

- 
0% - 0% 

19,202 

3,529 

FY25 

FY25 

19,202 

3,529 

32,872 

- 

FY21 LTI 

FY21 DER2 
15/12/2020 

FY21 to FY24 

FY21 to FY24 

11,439 

1,515 

32.26 

- 

370,166 

- 

11,439 

1,515 
100% - 0% 

- 

- 

FY24 

FY24 

- 

- 

- 

- 

FY21 RPI 

FY21 DER2 
28/01/2021 

FY21 to FY25 

FY21 to FY25 

10,049 

497 

36.35 

- 

365,281 

- 

- 

- 
0% - 0% 

10,049 

497 

FY25 

FY25 

10,049 

497 

18,860 

- 

FY22 LTI 

FY22 DER2 
18/10/2021 

FY22 to FY25 

FY22 to FY25 

5,793 

287 

43.36 

- 

251,184 

- 

- 

- 
0% - 0% 

5,793 

287 

FY25 

FY25 

5,793 

287 

34,855 

- 

FY23 LTI  

FY23 DER2 
19/12/2022 

FY23 to FY26 

FY23 to FY26 

22,097 

628 

81.72 

- 

1,805,767  

- 

- 

- 
0% - 0% 

22,097 

628 

FY27 

FY27 

22,097 

628 

1,805,767 

- 

FY23 STI 29/08/2023 FY23 to FY25 1,633 69.48 113,461 - 0% - 0% 1,633 
FY25 

FY26 

816 

817 

4,438 

20,950 

FY24 LTI 

FY24 DER2 
03/07/2023 

FY24 to FY27 

FY24 to FY27 

15,290 

200 

72.82 

- 

1,113,418 

- 

- 

- 
0% - 0% 

15,290 

200 

FY28 

FY28 

15,290 

200 

1,113,418 

- 

FY24 STI3 28/06/2024 FY24 to FY26 5,279 53.92 284,624 - 0% - 0% 5,279 
FY26 

FY27 

2,639 

2,640 

76,717 

97,442 

Mark Wilson 

FY20 LTI  

FY20 DER2 
31/08/2019 

FY20 to FY23 

FY20 to FY23 

94,061 

16,724 

13.22 

- 

1,243,486 

- 

94,061 

16,724 
100% - 0% 

- 

- 

FY24 

FY24 

- 

- 

-  

- 

FY20 RPI 

FY20 DER2 
19/09/2019 

FY20 to FY24 

FY20 to FY24 

21,855 

4,017 

13.97 

- 

305,314 

- 

21,855 

4,017 
100% - 0% 

- 

- 

FY24 

FY24 

- 

- 

-  

- 

FY21 LTI 

FY21 DER2 
01/09/2020 

FY21 to FY24 

FY21 to FY24 

61,076 

9,228 

28.62 

- 

1,747,992 

- 

- 

- 
0% - 0% 

61,076 

9,228 

FY25 

FY25 

61,076 

9,228 

- 

- 

FY21 STI 20/08/2021 FY21 to FY23 6,307 51.05 321,972 3,154 50% - 0% - FY24 - - 

FY22 LTI 

FY22 DER2 
18/10/2021 

FY22 to FY25 

FY22 to FY25 

27,517 

1,215 

43.36 

- 

1,193,137 

- 

- 

- 
0% - 0% 

27,517 

1,215 

FY26 

FY26 

27,517 

1,215 

1,193,137 

- 

FY22 STI 31/08/2022 FY22 to FY24 6,920 63.97 442,672 3,460 50% - 0% 3,460 FY25 3,460 11,861 

FY23 LTI 

Y23 DER2 
19/12/2022 

FY23 to FY26 

FY23 to FY26 

30,690 

872 

81.72 

- 

2,507,987 

- 

- 

- 
0% - 0% 

30,690 

872 

FY27 

FY27 

30,690 

872 

2,507,987 

- 

FY23 STI 29/08/2023 FY23 to FY25 2,177 69.48 151,258 - 0% - 0% 2,177 
FY25 

FY26 

1,088 

1,089 

5,918 

27,924 

FY24 LTI 

FY24 DER2 
03/07/2023 

FY24 to FY27 

FY24 to FY27 

21,235 

278 

72.82 

- 

1,546,333 

- 
- 0% - 0% 

21,235 

278 

FY28 

FY28 

21,235 

278 

1,546,333 

- 

FY24 STI3 28/06/2024 FY24 to FY26 8,460 53.92 456,143 - 0% - 0% 8,460 
FY26 

FY27 

4,230 

4,230 

122,968 

156,128 
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9. SHARE RIGHTS GRANTED, VESTED AND POTENTIAL FUTURE VESTING (CONTINUED) 

1 Grant date is determined in accordance with AASB 2 Share Based Payments. 
2 Dividend equivalent rights that attach to the FY20, FY21, FY22 FY23 and FY24 LTI plans, as well as the FY20, FY21 and FY23 RPI plans where 

applicable. These rights have an automatic vesting / exercise upon exercise of the underlying LTI and RPI share right and can be satisfied in cash 

or shares at the Board's discretion.  
3 The FY24 STI plan value reflected in the table above is determined by applying the share price on 28 June 2024 as required the AASBs in 

determining the provisional value of Rights granted subject to final Remuneration and People Committee approval in August 2024. In FY25 the 

value of these Rights will be calculated by the share price on the date of final plan award approval.  

 

 

10. EQUITY INSTRUMENTS HELD BY KMP 

10.1 RIGHTS AWARDED UNDER INCENTIVE PLANS 

The following table details Rights awarded under incentive plans subject to service conditions and 

performance hurdles yet to be tested and vested Rights that have not yet been exercised and converted into 

shares. NEDs do not participate in incentive plans nor do NEDs hold unvested Rights. 

 

Number of Rights 

Balance 

at start of 

year 

Granted 

Exercised 

and 

converted 

to shares 

Other 

additions 

Notional 

dividends 

attaching 

in year 

number1 

Disposals/

Other4 

Balance 

at end of 

year 

Balance 

vested 

and 

exercisabl

e 

Executive Director         

Chris Ellison 401,093 54,848 (173,873) - 3,386 (10,373) 275,081 551,056 

         

Executive KMP         

Mike Grey 206,7092 20,569 (83,731) - 2,517 (4,898) 141,166 23,150 

Chris Soccio 34,6092 20,569 - - 631 - 55,809 - 

Joshua Thurlow 75,5452,3 20,569 (12,826) - 1,324 - 84,612 267 

Mark Wilson 282,6832 29,695 (6,614) - 3,944 (6,843) 302,865 136,657 

Total 1,000,639 146,250 (277,044) - 11,802 (22,114) 859,533 711,130 

1 
DERs attach to the unvested LTI and RPI grants. Rights have an automatic vesting / exercise upon exercise of the underlying Right. 

2 
The comparative information has been restated to incorporate awards under the LTI plan and RPI granted to certain Executive KMP in a prior 

year which were omitted in error – see section 8 and 9. 
3 The balance has been restated to incorporate all equity instruments on foot for the Executive KMP at 30 June 2023, including RPI, LTI and Dividend 

Equivalent Rights (DER). 
4 Represents the adjustment to the Executive KMP entitlement under the FY21 LTI plan to reflect the achieved ROIC over the four-year vesting 

period. 
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10.2 KMP SHAREHOLDINGS 

The number of MinRes shares held during FY24 by NEDs and Executive KMP of the Company, including their 

Related Parties, (as defined in the Corporations Act 2001 and AASB 124.9) is set out below: 

Number of  

shares 

Balance at  

start of year 

Issued as part of 

remuneration1 

Other  

additions2 
Disposals Other4 

Balance at the  

end of the year 

Non-Executive Directors1  

Current  

James McClements 23,652 2,984 - -  26,636 

Susie Corlett 4,537 1,662 - -  6,199 

Colleen Hayward 595 1,522 - -  2,117 

Justin Langer 595 1,522 - -  2,117 

Denise McComish3 - 943 - -  943 

Jacqui McGill3 - 712 - -  712 

Zimi Meka 1,480 1,538 - -  3,018 

Xi Xi  20,192 1,461 - -  21,653 

       

Former       

Kelvin Flynn4 16,589 886 - - (17,475) - 

  

    Executive Director  

Chris Ellison5 22,711,318 173,873 8,573 -  22,893,764 

       

Executive KMP       

Mike Grey5 1,269 106,880 - (84,999)  23,150 

Chris Soccio - - - -  - 

Joshua Thurlow - 13,092 - (12,825)  267 

Mark Wilson 56,098 143,271 736 -  200,105 

Total 22,836,325 450,346 9,309 (97,824) (17,475) 23,180,681 
 

1 Shares paid to Non-Executive Directors disclosed in this table were part of the FY24 remuneration package. Shares for the FY23 remuneration 

package were issued in the current financial year. The quantity of shares granted is based on the proportion of fees payable dividend by the 

VWAP for the five trading days to the end of each quarter of the financial year. 
2 Other additions include shares received as part of the Company’s Dividend Reinvestment Program and other shares purchased. 
3 Denise McComish commenced on 1 December 2023 and Jacqui McGill commenced on 31 January 2024. 
4 Kelvin Flynn resigned as an Independent Non-Executive Director effective 31 January 2024. At resignation date he held 17,475 shares. 
5 Opening balance has been adjusted to disclose Executive KMP number of shares held at 1 July 2023. 
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11. TRANSACTIONS WITH RELATED PARTIES 
 

The following transactions occurred with related parties All transactions with related parties are at arm’s length. 

The terms associated with the goods and services received are reviewed and revised periodically. 

1 Lease rental is paid for the occupancy of properties from which some of the Group’s operations are performed. Occupation of these premises 

date back to prior to the Company’s listing in 2006. The ongoing need for the occupation of these premises, as well as the rental arrangements, 

is assessed periodically. 
2 Charges include agency and marine services related to importation and commissioning of maritime assets, draft survey services, hold inspection 

services, port captaincy services and marine warranty services. 

3 Annual employee remuneration paid to five (FY23: five) close relatives of the Executive KMP employed by the Group. In FY23, one of the five 

employees was employed on a casual basis and earned less than $10,000 for the financial year. The salary and conditions of any family members, 

including any family members of officers of the Company, are applied consistently based on the relevant band of employment and requisite skills 

and experience, benchmarked against comparator roles and reviewed periodically. 

 

Several Directors of the Company hold or have held positions in other companies (personally related entities) 

where it is considered they control or significantly influence the financial or operating policies of those entities. 

Other than the transactions shown above, there were no reportable transactions with those entities for FY24 

(FY23: nil). 

 

This concludes the Remuneration Report, which has been audited. 

Key Management Personnel / Director’s interests      2024                          2023 

      $                           $ 

Lease rent expense1 2,315,843 2,315,843 

Purchase of catering supplies 56,683 37,299 

Import/export services expense2 1,248,343 427,991 

Remuneration expense for related parties3 874,251 654,690 
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INDEMNITY AND INSURANCE OF OFFICERS 

The Company has indemnified Company Directors and Executives for costs incurred, in their capacity as a director 

or executive, for which they may be held personally liable, except where there is lack of good faith. 

During the financial year, the Company paid a premium in respect of a contract to insure the Directors and 

Executives of the Company against a liability to the extent permitted by the Corporations Act 2001. The contract of 

insurance prohibits disclosure of the nature of the liability and the amount of the premium. 

 

INDEMNITY AND INSURANCE OF AUDITOR 

The terms of engagement for certain services require the Company to compensate and reimburse Ernst & Young 

(“the Auditor”) for, and protect the Auditor against, any loss, damage, expense, or liability incurred by the Auditor in 

respect of third-party claims arising from a breach by MinRes of any obligation under the engagement terms. 

 

PROCEEDINGS ON BEHALF OF THE COMPANY 

No person has applied to the Court under section 237 of the Corporations Act 2001 for leave to bring proceedings 

on behalf of the Company, or to intervene in any proceedings to which the Company is a party for the purpose of 

taking responsibility on behalf of the Company for all or part of those proceedings. 

 

NON-AUDIT SERVICES 

Details of the amounts paid or payable to the Auditor for non-audit services provided during the financial year by 

the Auditor are outlined in note 36 to the financial statements. 

The Directors are satisfied that the provision of non-audit services during the financial year, by the Auditor (or by 

another person or firm on the Auditor’s behalf) is compatible with the general standard of independence for Auditors 

imposed by the Corporations Act 2001. 

Directors are of the opinion the services as disclosed in note 36 to the financial statements do not compromise the 

Auditor’s independence requirements of the Corporations Act 2001 for the following reasons: 

• All non-audit services have been reviewed and approved to ensure that they do not impact the integrity and 

objectivity of the Auditor. 

• None of the services undermine the general principles relating to Auditor independence as set out in APES 110 

Code of Ethics for Professional Accountants issued by the Accounting Professional and Ethical Standards Board, 

including reviewing or auditing the Auditor’s own work, acting in a management or decision-making capacity 

for the Company, acting as advocate for the Company or jointly sharing economic risks and rewards. 

 

COMPANY OFFICERS WHO ARE FORMER PARTNERS OF THE AUDITOR 

There are no officers of the Company who are former partners of the Auditor. 

 

ROUNDING OF AMOUNTS 

The Company is of a kind referred to in Corporations Instrument 2016/191, issued by the Australian Securities and 

Investments Commission, relating to “rounding-off”. Amounts in this report have been rounded off in accordance 

with that Corporations Instrument to the nearest million dollars, unless otherwise stated. 

 

AUDITOR’S INDEPENDENCE DECLARATION 

A copy of the Auditor’s independence declaration as required under section 307C of the Corporations Act 2001 is 

set out immediately after this Directors’ Report. 

On behalf of the Directors 

 

Chris Ellison  

Managing Director 

28 August 2024 
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A member firm of Ernst & Young Global Limited 
Liability limited by a scheme approved under Professional Standards Legislation 

Ernst & Young 
11 Mounts Bay Road 
Perth  WA  6000  Australia 
GPO Box M939   Perth  WA  6843 

 Tel: +61 8 9429 2222 
Fax: +61 8 9429 2436 
ey.com/au 

 

Auditor’s independence declaration to the directors of Mineral Resources 
Limited 

As lead auditor for the audit of the financial report of Mineral Resources Limited for the financial year 
ended 30 June 2024, I declare to the best of my knowledge and belief, there have been: 

a. No contraventions of the auditor independence requirements of the Corporations Act 2001 in relation 
to the audit;  

b. No contraventions of any applicable code of professional conduct in relation to the audit; and 

c. No non-audit services provided that contravene any applicable code of professional conduct in relation 
to the audit. 

This declaration is in respect of Mineral Resources Limited and the entities it controlled during the 
financial year. 

 
 
 
Ernst & Young 
 
 
 
 
D S Lewsen 
Partner 
28 August 2024 

AUDITOR’S INDEPENDENCE DECLARATION
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CONSOLIDATED INCOME STATEMENT FOR THE YEAR ENDED 30 JUNE 2024 

 
 Group 

 
Note 

2024 
$M 

2023 

$M 

Revenue 4 5,278 4,779 

Other income  5 474 140 

Expenses from operations    

Changes in closing stock  (16) 408 

Raw materials and consumables  (513) (368) 

Equipment costs  (377) (293) 

Subcontractors  (496) (417) 

Employee benefits expense  (1,278) (906) 

Transport and freight  (876) (887) 

Depreciation and amortisation 6 (628) (450) 

Impairment charges 6 (142) (789) 

Other expenses 6 (1,117) (663) 

Profit from operations  309 554 

Finance income  58 39 

Finance costs 6 (262) (233) 

Net finance costs  (204) (194) 

Profit before tax  105 360 

Income tax benefit/(expense) 7 9 (116) 

Profit after tax for the year  114 244 

Other comprehensive income    

Items that may be reclassified subsequently to profit or loss    

Net profit/(loss) on cash flow hedges  5 (5) 

Other comprehensive income for the year, net of tax  5 (5) 

Total comprehensive income for the year  119 239 

Profit after tax for the year is attributable to    

Non-controlling interest  (11) 1 

Owners of Mineral Resources Limited  125 243 

  114 244 

Total comprehensive income for the year is attributable to    

Non-controlling interest  (11) 1 

Owners of Mineral Resources Limited  130 238 

  119 239 

    

Earnings per share attributable to ordinary equity holders of 

the parent: 

 
Cents Cents 

Basic earnings per share 8 64.22 127.37 

Diluted earnings per share 8 63.54 126.25 

The above consolidated income statement should be read in conjunction with the accompanying notes. 
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CONSOLIDATED BALANCE SHEET AS AT 30 JUNE 2024 

 
The above consolidated balance sheet should be read in conjunction with the accompanying notes.

  Group 

 Note 
2024 

$M 

2023 
$M 

Assets    

Current assets    

Cash and cash equivalents 9 908 1,379 

Receivables and contract assets 10 1,027 658 

Inventories 11 607 606 

Current tax assets  - 15 

Disposal group held for sale 24 - 775 

Other assets 12 98 41 

Total current assets  2,640 3,474 

Non-current assets    

Receivables 10 439 70 

Investments accounted for using the equity method 30 108 96 

Other financial assets 13 141 206 

Property, plant and equipment 14 5,170 2,973 

Exploration and evaluation assets 15 987 985 

Mine properties 15 2,657 568 

Deferred tax assets 7 82 - 

Intangibles   8 23 

Total non-current assets  9,592 4,921 

Total assets  12,232 8,395 

Liabilities    

Current liabilities    

Trade and other payables 17 1,784 851 

Borrowings 18 255 136 

Income tax 7 14 54 

Employee benefits 19 269 114 

Provisions 20 140 72 

Liabilities associated with disposal group held for sale 24 - 27 

Total current liabilities  2,462 1,254 

Non-current liabilities    

Trade and other payables 17 637 65 

Borrowings 18 5,081 3,139 

Deferred tax 7 - 95 

Employee benefits 19 9 4 

Provisions 20 459 316 

Total non-current liabilities  6,186 3,619 

Total liabilities  8,648 4,873 

Net assets  3,584 3,522 

Equity    

Issued capital 21 954 887 

Reserves  132 69 

Retained profits  2,459 2,519 

Equity attributable to the owners of Mineral Resources Limited  3,545 3,475 

Non-controlling interest  39 47 

Total equity  3,584 3,522 
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CONSOLIDATED STATEMENT OF CHANGES IN EQUITY FOR THE YEAR ENDED 30 JUNE 2024 

 

 
Issued 

capital 
Reserves 

Retained 

profits 

Non- 

controlling 

interest 

Total equity 

Group $M $M $M $M $M 

Balance at 1 July 2022 504 29 2,694 44 3,271 

Profit after tax for the year - - 243 1 244 

Other comprehensive income for the year, 

net of tax 
- (5) - - (5) 

Total comprehensive income for the year - (5) 243 1 239 

Transactions with owners in their capacity 

as owners: 
     

Shares issued under Dividend Reinvestment 

Plan (note 21, note 22) 
19 - (19) - - 

Equity settled share-based payments - 33 - - 33 

Purchase of shares under employee share 

plans (note 21) 
(3) - - - (3) 

Tax effect on employee share awards  - 4 - - 4 

Employee share awards vested (note 21) 7 (7) - - - 

Dividends paid, net of Dividend 

Reinvestment Plan (note 22) 
- - (399) - (399) 

Acquisition of subsidiary 360 17 - 213 590 

Transactions with non-controlling interest:      

Acquisition of non-controlling interest - - - (213) (213) 

Other - (2) - 2 - 

Balance at 30 June 2023 887 69 2,519 47 3,522 
 

 
The above consolidated statement of changes in equity should be read in conjunction with the 

accompanying notes. 
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CONSOLIDATED STATEMENT OF CHANGES IN EQUITY FOR THE YEAR ENDED 30 JUNE 2024 
 

 
Issued 

capital 
Reserves 

Retained 

profits 

Non- 

controlling 

interest 

Total equity 

Group $M $M $M $M $M 

Balance at 1 July 2023 887 69 2,519 47 3,522 

Profit/(Loss) after tax for the year - - 125 (11) 114 

Other comprehensive income for the year, 

net of tax 
- 5 - - 5 

Total comprehensive income for the year - 5 125 (11) 119 

Transactions with owners in their capacity 

as owners: 
     

Shares issued under Dividend Reinvestment 

Plan (note 21, note 22) 
5 - (5) - - 

Equity settled share-based payments 48 36 - - 84 

Tax effect on employee share awards  - 23 - - 23 

Employee share awards vested (note 21) 14 (14) - - - 

Dividends paid, net of Dividend 

Reinvestment Plan (note 22) 
- - (170) - (170) 

Transactions with non-controlling interest:      

Dilution of the Group’s interest in a 

controlled entity 
- - - 3 3 

Other - 13 (10) - 3 

Balance at 30 June 2024 954 132 2,459 39 3,584 

 

The above consolidated statement of changes in equity should be read in conjunction with the 

accompanying notes. 
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CONSOLIDATED STATEMENT OF CASH FLOWS FOR THE YEAR ENDED 30 JUNE 2024 

  Group 

 Note 
2024 

$M 

2023 

$M 

Cash flows from operating activities    

Receipts from customers  5,562 4,779 

Payments to suppliers and employees  (3,653) (3,029) 

  1,909 1,750 

Interest received  51 39 

Interest and other finance costs paid  (378) (257) 

Income taxes paid  (133) (178) 

Net cash from operating activities 9 1,449 1,354 

    

Cash flows from investing activities    

Payments for investments in financial assets  (684) (217) 

Proceeds from disposal of investments  330 85 

Payments for property, plant and equipment  (2,108) (1,308) 

Proceeds from disposal of property, plant and equipment  33 16 

Payments for intangibles  (2) (3) 

Payments for exploration and evaluation  (241) (105) 

Payments for mine development expenditure  (1,413) (404) 

Amounts received from joint operations  - 47 

Amounts received/(paid to) other parties  2 (13) 

Proceeds from sale of disposal group  24 588 - 

Payments for equipment subsequently financed  (371) - 

Net cash used in investing activities  (3,866) (1,902) 

    

Cash flows from financing activities    

Dividends paid  (170) (401) 

Proceeds from borrowings  2,238 - 

Repayment of borrowings  (25) (2) 

Payment of lease liabilities  (78) (110) 

Purchase of shares under employee share plans  - (3) 

Net cash provided by/(used in) financing activities  1,965 (516) 

Net decrease in cash and cash equivalents  (452) (1,064) 

Cash and cash equivalents at the beginning of the financial 

year 

 
1,379 2,428 

Effects of exchange rate changes on cash and cash 

equivalents 

 
(19) 15 

Cash and cash equivalents at the end of the financial year  908 1,379 

 
The above consolidated statements of cash flows should be read in conjunction with the accompanying 

notes. 
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1. BASIS OF PREPARATION AND MATERIAL ACCOUNTING POLICIES 

1.1 BASIS OF PREPARATION 

These general purpose financial statements have been prepared in accordance with Australian Accounting 

Standards and Interpretations issued by the Australian Accounting Standards Board (AASB) and the Corporations 

Act 2001, as appropriate for for-profit entities. These financial statements also comply with International Financial 

Reporting Standards as issued by the International Accounting Standards Board (IASB). 

Historical cost convention 

The financial statements have been prepared under the historical cost convention, except for, where applicable, 

the revaluation of certain financial assets and liabilities (including derivative instruments) at fair value through 

profit or loss. 

Significant accounting judgements, estimates and assumptions 

The preparation of the financial statements requires the use of certain significant accounting estimates. 

Preparation of the financial statements also requires management to exercise judgement in the process of 

applying the Group’s Accounting Policies. The areas involving a higher degree of judgement or complexity, or 

areas where assumptions and estimates are significant to the financial statements, are disclosed in note 2. 

Currency 

The financial statements are presented in Australian dollars ($), which is Mineral Resources Limited’s functional 

and presentation currency. 

Rounding of amounts 

The Company is of a kind referred to in Corporations Instrument 2016/191, issued by the Australian Securities and 

Investments Commission (ASIC), relating to ‘rounding-off’. Amounts in this report have been rounded off in 

accordance with that Corporations Instrument to the nearest million dollars, unless otherwise stated. 

Reclassifications of items in the financial statements  

Minor reclassifications of items in the financial statements of the previous period have been made in accordance 

with the classification of items in the financial statements for FY24. 

Going concern 

The Directors have made an assessment of the Group’s ability to continue as a going concern for the 12 months 

from the date of this report and consider it appropriate to adopt the going concern basis of accounting in 

preparing the Group’s financial statements. 

1.2 PRINCIPLES OF CONSOLIDATION 

(a) Subsidiaries 

The consolidated financial statements incorporate the assets and liabilities of all subsidiaries of the Company as 

at 30 June 2024 and the results of all subsidiaries for the year then ended. 

Subsidiaries are all those entities over which the Group has control. The Group controls an entity when the Group 

is exposed to, or has rights to, variable returns from its involvement with the entity and can affect those returns 

through its power to direct the activities of the entity. Subsidiaries are fully consolidated from the date on which 

control is transferred to the Group. They are de-consolidated from the date that control ceases. 

Intercompany transactions, balances and unrealised gains on transactions between entities in the Group are 

eliminated on consolidation. Unrealised losses are eliminated unless the transaction provides evidence of the 

impairment of the asset transferred. Accounting policies of subsidiaries have been changed where necessary to 

ensure consistency with the policies adopted by the Group. 

The acquisition of subsidiaries is accounted for using the acquisition method of accounting in accordance with 

AASB 3 Business Combinations. A change in ownership interest, without the loss of control, is accounted for as an 

equity transaction, where the difference between the consideration transferred and the book value of the share 

of the non-controlling interest acquired is recognised directly in equity attributable to the parent. 
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The Income Statement and each component of other comprehensive income is attributed to the equity holders 

of the parent of the Group and to the non-controlling interests, even if this results in the non-controlling interests 

having a deficit balance. 

Where the Group loses control over a subsidiary, it derecognises the assets including goodwill, liabilities and non-

controlling interest in the subsidiary together with any cumulative translation differences recognised in equity. The 

Group recognises the fair value of the consideration received and the fair value of any investment retained 

together with any gain or loss in the consolidated income statement. 

(b) Joint arrangements 

Certain of the Group’s exploration and production activities are conducted through joint arrangements. A joint 

arrangement is an arrangement over which two or more parties have joint control.   

A joint operation is a type of joint arrangement in which the parties with joint control of the arrangement have 

rights to the assets and obligations for the liabilities relating to the arrangement.  

In relation to its interests in joint operations, the financial statements of the Group include: 

• assets, including its share of any assets held jointly 

• liabilities, including its share of any liabilities incurred jointly 

• revenue from the sale of its share of the output arising from the joint operation 

• share of the revenue from the sale of the output by the joint operation 

• expenses, including its share of any expenses incurred jointly. 

 

A joint venture is a joint arrangement whereby the parties that have joint control of the arrangement have rights 

to the net assets of the arrangement. Joint ventures are accounted for using the equity method. 

(c) Associates 

An associate is an entity over which the Group has significant influence and that is neither a subsidiary nor an 

interest in a joint arrangement. Investments in associates are accounted for using the equity method. 

(d) Employee share trust 

The Group has in place a trust to administer the Group's employee share and share rights schemes; the Mineral 

Resources Employee Share Trust (the MinRes EST/EST). The EST is consolidated, as the substance of the relationship 

is that the EST is controlled by the consolidated entity. Shares held by the EST are disclosed as treasury shares and 

deducted from contributed equity. 

1.3 SUMMARY OF MATERIAL ACCOUNTING POLICIES 

This note provides a summary of the accounting policies that are considered material and relevant to the 

preparation of the financial statements, to the extent that they have not already been disclosed in other notes 

to the financial statements throughout the report. These policies have been consistently applied to all the years 

presented in these financial statements, unless otherwise stated. 

(a) New or amended Australian Accounting Standards and Interpretations adopted 

The Group has adopted all new, revised or amending Australian Accounting Standards and Interpretations issued 

by the AASB that are mandatory for the current reporting period.  

AASB 2021-2 Definition of Accounting Estimates – Amendments to AASB 108 Accounting Policies, Changes in 

Accounting Estimates and Errors  

The amendments to AASB 108 clarify the distinction between changes in accounting estimates, changes in 

accounting policies and the correction of errors. They also clarify how entities use measurement techniques and 

inputs to develop accounting estimates. The amendments had no impact on the Group’s consolidated financial 

statements.   
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AASB 2021-2 Disclosure of Accounting Policies – Amendments to AASB 101 Presentation of Financial Statements  

The amendments to AASB 101 and AASB Practice Statement 2 Making Materiality Judgements provide guidance 

and examples to help entities apply materiality judgements to accounting policy disclosures. The amendments 

aim to help entities provide accounting policy disclosures that are more useful by replacing the requirement for 

entities to disclose their “significant” accounting policies with a requirement to disclose their “material” 

accounting policies and adding guidance on how entities apply the concept of materiality in making decisions 

about accounting policy disclosures.  The amendments have had an impact on the Group’s disclosures of 

accounting policies, but not on the measurement, recognition or presentation of any items in the Group’s 

financial statements.   

AASB 2021-5 Deferred Tax related to Assets and Liabilities arising from a Single Transaction – Amendments to 

AASB 112 Income Taxes  

The amendments to AASB 112 narrow the scope of the initial recognition exception, so that it no longer applies 

to transactions that give rise to equal taxable and deductible temporary differences such as leases and 

decommissioning liabilities.   

The amendments have had no impact on the measurement or recognition of deferred taxes. The disclosures 

relating to the analysis of temporary differences in note 7 have been amended to reflect the gross up of 

temporary differences on right of use assets and lease liabilities which were previously disclosed on a net basis. 

AASB 2023-2 International Tax Reform – Pillar Two Model Rules – Amendments to AASB 112 Income Taxes 

In June 2023, the AASB issued AASB 2023-2 which made amendments to AASB 112 with immediate effect.  

The amendments have been introduced in response to the OECD’s BEPS Pillar Two rules and include:  

• a mandatory temporary exception to the recognition and disclosure of deferred taxes arising from the 

jurisdictional implementation of the Pillar Two model rules  

• disclosure requirements for affected entities to help users of the financial statements better understand an 

entity’s exposure to Pillar Two income taxes arising from that legislation, particularly before its effective date.  

The Group has applied the mandatory temporary exception in preparing its financial statements for the year 

ended 30 June 2024. 

The Group will ultimately be subject to Pillar Two legislation in the various jurisdictions in which it operates. The 

Group’s operations are primarily based in Australia, where exposure draft legislation has now been released. The 

Group is in the process of assessing this draft legislation which is not expected to have a material impact on the 

Group.  Due to the complexities involved in applying the legislation, the Group will continue to monitor and assess 

the impact of the Pillar Two legislation once enacted or substantively enacted in each relevant jurisdiction.  

(b) Goods and Services Tax (GST) and other similar taxes 

Revenues, expenses and assets are recognised net of the amount of associated GST, unless the GST incurred is 

not recoverable from the tax authority. In this case it is recognised as part of the cost of the acquisition of the 

asset or as part of the expense. 

Receivables and payables are stated inclusive of the amount of GST receivable or payable. The net amount of 

GST recoverable from, or payable to, the tax authority is included in other receivables or other payables in the 

balance sheet.  Cash flows are presented on a gross basis.  

The GST components of cash flows arising from investing or financing activities which are recoverable from, or 

payable to the tax authority, are presented as operating cash flows. Commitments and contingencies are 

disclosed net of the amount of GST recoverable from, or payable to, the tax authority. 

(c) New and amended Australian Accounting Standards and Interpretations issued not yet effective 

Australian Accounting Standards and Interpretations that have recently been issued or amended but are not yet 

mandatory have not been early adopted by the Group for FY24. The Group's assessment of the impact of these 

new or amended Australian Accounting Standards and Interpretations, most relevant to the Group, are below. 
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AASB 2022-5 Lease Liability in a Sale and Leaseback – Amendments to AASB 16 Leases 

Amends AASB 16 to require a seller-lessee to subsequently measure lease liabilities arising from a sale and 

leaseback transaction in a way that does not result in recognition of a gain or loss that relates to the right of use 

it retains. This is achieved by requiring the expected variable lease payments to be included in the lease liability. 

This is the only type of lease liability that includes variable payments as all ‘normal’ lease liabilities include only 

fixed payments (i.e. do not include variable lease payments which do not depend on an index or rate). 

The adoption of this standard is not expected to have a significant impact on the Group.  

Application date for the Group: 1 July 2024 

Classification of Liabilities as Current or Non-current – Amendments to AASB 101 Presentation of financial 

statements 

The amendment applies to annual reporting periods beginning on or after 1 January 2024. The amendments 

clarify what is meant by a right to defer settlement; that a right to defer must exist at the end of the reporting 

period, and that classification is unaffected by the likelihood that an entity will exercise its deferral right.  

The adoption of this standard is not expected to have a significant impact on the Group.  

Application date for the Group: 1 July 2024 

AASB 2023-1 Disclosures: Supplier Finance Arrangements – Amendments to AASB 107 Statement of Cash Flows 

Amends AASB 107 to specify disclosure requirements to enhance the current requirements. The amendments 

clarify the characteristics of supplier finance arrangements and require an entity to provide information about 

the impact of supplier finance arrangements on liabilities and cash flows. 

The adoption of this standard is not expected to have a significant impact on the Group.   

Application date for the Group: 1 July 2024 

AASB 18 Presentation and Disclosure in Financial Statements – Replacing AASB 101 Presentation of Financial 

Statements 

AASB 18 will introduce the following enhanced requirements for the presentation of financial statements: 

• In the income statement, introducing new required categories (operating, investing and financing) and 

subtotals (operating profit and profit before financing and income taxes). 

• Disclosures about management defined performance measures. 

• Enhanced guidance on grouping of information, including guidance on whether information should be 

presented in the primary financial statements or disclosed in the notes, and disclosures about items labelled 

as “other”. 

The adoption of this standard will impact disclosures in the consolidated financial statements of the Group. 

Application date for the Group: 1 July 2027 

Other authoritative guidance 

In July 2024, the IFRS Interpretations Committee (IFRIC) published its final agenda decision on disclosures of 

revenue and expenses for reportable segments. The IFRIC observed that IFRS 8 Operating Segments (AASB 8 

being the Australian equivalent of IFRS 8) requires an entity to disclose certain specified amounts for each 

reportable segment when those amounts are: 

• included in the measure of segment profit or loss reviewed by the Chief Operating Decision Maker (CODM) 

even if they are not separately provided to or reviewed by the CODM, or 

• regularly provided to the CODM, even if they are not included in the measure of segment profit or loss. 
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IFRS 8 sets out the required disclosures, which includes “material items of income and expense” disclosed in 

accordance with IAS 1 Presentation of Financial Statements. IFRIC noted that IFRS 8 does not require an entity to 

disclose by reportable segment each item of income and expense presented in its Income Statement or disclosed 

in the notes. In determining information to disclose for each reportable segment, an entity applies judgement 

and considers the core principle of IFRS 8.  

The Group is in the process of assessing the impact of the agenda decision with respect to information on material 

items of income and expenditure not currently provided to the CODM by reportable segment, and will reconsider 

and update, if necessary, its operating segment disclosures in note 3 in future reporting periods. 

2. SIGNIFICANT ACCOUNTING JUDGEMENTS, ESTIMATES AND ASSUMPTIONS 

The preparation of the financial statements requires management to make judgements, estimates and 

assumptions that affect the reported amounts in the financial statements. Management continually evaluates its 

judgements and estimates in relation to assets, liabilities, contingent liabilities, revenue and expenses.  

Management bases its judgements, estimates and assumptions on historical experience and on other various 

factors, including expectations of future events management believes to be reasonable under the 

circumstances. The resulting accounting judgements and estimates will seldom equal the related actual results.  

The judgements, estimates and assumptions that have a significant risk of causing a material adjustment to the 

carrying amounts of assets and liabilities within the next financial year are found in the respective notes below: 

 

Climate related matters 

Strategy and approach to managing climate change 

MinRes has a long-term target of achieving net zero by 2050 and remains committed to achieving this goal.  

Climate change has been identified as both a material opportunity and risk for MinRes. To ensure appropriate 

management, climate governance is incorporated into MinRes’ corporate governance framework and receives 

Board oversight. 

 

Regulatory reform 

In March 2024, the Federal Government introduced the Treasury Laws Amendment (Financial Market 

Infrastructure and Other Measures) Bill 2024. This Bill proposes changes to the Corporations Act 2001 that will 

introduce mandatory climate-related financial disclosures in the future in line with the AASB’s Australian 

Sustainability Reporting Standards (ASRS) which are expected to apply to the Group from 1 July 2025. 

In FY24, the revised Safeguard Mechanism (SGM) was implemented by the Clean Energy Regulator. Responsible 

emitters are facility operators that have operational control of an individual facility whose Scope 1 emissions 

exceed the 100,000 tonnes of carbon dioxide equivalent (tCO2-e) threshold and consequently must register the 

facility under the SGM. MinRes is currently required to report under the SGM for three facilities: Koolyanobbing, Mt 

Marion and Wodgina.  

 

 

 Note 

Accounting for construction contracts 4 

Income tax 7 

Classification of loans receivable 10 

Exploration and evaluation costs 15 

Ore to be mined 15 

Mine start date 15 

Impairment of non-financial assets  16 

Site rehabilitation provisions and project closure  20 

Accounting for asset acquisitions 25 

Accounting for contingent consideration payable on asset acquisitions 26 
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Acquisition of carbon credits 

The Group’s carbon credits and offsetting strategy is currently managed at a Group level.  

In FY24, MinRes purchased its first Australian Carbon Credit Units (ACCUs) to meet its FY23 SGM obligations for Mt 

Marion and Wodgina. As Koolyanobbing’s emissions did not exceed its calculated adjusted baseline in FY23, no 

offset units were required to be surrendered to ensure compliance. The Group forecasts significant growth in 

emissions between FY25 and FY30, due to ramping up of the Onslow Iron project. 

The Group recognises a liability where an obligation to purchase carbon credits exists at the balance sheet date. 

Progressing MinRes’ strategy - Internal Decarbonisation Fund 

Integral to MinRes’ decarbonisation plan is the Internal Decarbonisation Fund (“Decarb Fund”) effective 1 July 

2024, which is designed to provide a financial incentive for MinRes business units to embed MinRes’ 

decarbonisation targets as part of its business-as-usual operations. MinRes operations are charged a carbon price 

for every tonne of Scope 1 and 2 emissions from the consumption of energy commodities, with emissions 

calculated monthly based on diesel, gas and electricity invoices and power–related data.   

The Decarb Fund will provide funding to meet the Group’s SGM compliance obligations through the purchase of 

approved carbon credits, as well as providing funding for opportunities for Group-wide decarbonisation in power 

generation and material movement (e.g. electrification and automation of mining, haulage and transport 

systems).  

Impact on the financial statements 

The Group considers climate-related matters in estimates and assumptions, where appropriate. This assessment 

includes a wide range of possible impacts on the Group due to both physical and transition risks. Even though 

critical minerals, such as lithium, that the Group mines assist in enabling a transition to a lower-emissions 

environment, climate-related matters increase uncertainty in estimates and assumptions underpinning several 

items in the financial statements. The Group is closely monitoring relevant changes and developments, such as 

new climate-related legislation. In addition, the climate scenario modelling work MinRes has undertaken in 

preparation for reporting under ASRS facilitates the Group’s understanding of climate-related risks under 

difference climate scenarios. 

The following areas of the financial statements are most directly impacted by climate-related matters:  

• Useful lives of fixed assets: When reviewing the residual values and expected useful lives of assets, the Group 

considers climate-related matters, such as climate-related legislation and regulations, physical impacts etc. 

that may affect the Group’s ability to use certain assets. See note 14 for further information.  

• Impairment of non-financial assets: The value-in-use of non-financial assets may be impacted in several 

different ways, such as climate-related legislation and regulations and changes in demand for the Group’s 

products. The Group has concluded that no reasonably possible change in a climate-related assumption 

used in the 2024 impairment tests would, in isolation, result in impairment. The Group considered the 

expectation of increased costs of emissions in the cash flow forecasts in assessing value-in-use. See note 16 

for further information. 

• Site rehabilitation liabilities: The impact of climate-related legislation and regulations is considered in 

estimating the timing and future costs of restoration obligations. See note 20 for further disclosures. 

Given the complexity of physical risk modelling and the ongoing nature of the Group’s physical risk assessment 

process and climate strategy, the identification of additional risks and/or the detailed development of the 

Group’s response may result in material changes to financial results and the carrying values of assets and liabilities 

in future reporting periods. 
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3. OPERATING SEGMENTS 

The Group has identified its operating segments based on internal management reports that are reviewed by the 

CODM in assessing performance and in determining the allocation of resources. The Group reports its business 

results as five operating segments (referred to as “Pillars”) being Mining Services, Iron Ore, Lithium, Energy and 

Other Commodities. All are operating within the Australian resources sector. 

“Central” comprises primarily corporate non-segmental items of income and expenses, and associated assets 

and liabilities not allocated to Pillars as they are not considered part of core operations and are not directly 

attributable to the Pillars. 

The performance of each Pillar is measured based on Underlying EBITDA, defined as earnings before interest, tax, 

depreciation, amortisation, impairment, fair value gain/loss on investments and exchange gain/loss and other 

one-off items. The reconciliation of Underlying EBITDA to net profit before tax is presented in this note. The 

accounting policies applied for internal reporting purposes are materially consistent with those applied in the 

preparation of the financial statements. 

Operating segment information 

 Mining 

Services Iron Ore Lithium Energy 

Other 

Commo

dities1 

Central 
Inter- 

segment2 
Total 

Group – 2024  $M $M $M $M $M $M $M $M 

Revenue         

External revenue 1,272 2,578 1,409 - 19 - - 5,278 

Intersegment 

revenue 
2,108 - - 16 - - (2,124) - 

Total revenue 3,380 2,578 1,409 16 19 - (2,124) 5,278 

Segment result – 

Underlying EBITDA 
550 394 384 1 6 (170) (108) 1,057 

         

Assets         

Segment assets 4,235 2,237 3,337 688 240 1,625 (130) 12,232 

Liabilities         

Segment liabilities (1,564) (1,524) (620) (36) (8) (4,896) - (8,648) 

Segment net assets 2,671 713 2,717 652 232 (3,271) (130) 3,584 
1 Other Commodities includes manganese and garnet. 

2 Underlying EBITDA represents elimination of internal profits that are temporarily unrealised to the Group. 
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Mining 

Services 
Iron Ore Lithium Energy 

Other 

Commo-

dities1 

Central 
Inter-

segment2 
Total 

Group - 2023 $M $M $M $M $M $M $M $M 

Revenue         

External revenue 731 2,147 1,892 - 9 - - 4,779 

Intersegment 

revenue 
1,831 - - 12 - - (1,843) - 

Total revenue 2,562 2,147 1,892 12 9 - (1,843) 4,779 

Segment result – 

Underlying EBITDA 
484  185 1,325 (9) 4 (165) (70) 1,754 

         

Assets         

Segment assets 2,953 783 2,138 517 276 1,867 (139) 8,395 

Liabilities          

Segment liabilities (1,067) (481) (197) (19) (118) (2,991) - (4,873) 

Segment net assets 1,886 302 1,941 498 158 (1,124) (139) 3,522 
1 Other Commodities includes manganese and garnet. 

2 Underlying EBITDA represents elimination of internal profits that are temporarily unrealised to the Group. 

 

Reconciliation of Underlying EBITDA to profit before tax 

 2024 2023 

 $M $M 

Underlying EBITDA1 1,057 1,754  

Depreciation and amortisation (628) (450) 

Net finance costs (204) (194) 

Items excluded from underlying earnings   

Impairment charges (note 6) (142) (788) 

Realised loss on sale of financial assets (note 6) (55) - 

Net fair value (loss)/gain on equity instruments at fair value through profit or 

loss (note 6, note 5) 
(238) 42 

Net foreign exchange gain/(loss) (note 5, note 6) 54 (73) 

Net gain on commodity contracts 12 - 

Duties and other costs associated with restructured MARBL transaction (note 

6) 
(57) - 

Loss on disposal of Kemerton (note 6) (44)  

Gain on acquisition of an additional interest in a joint operation (note 24) 333 - 

Gain on settlement of pre-existing relationship as part of the restructured 

MARBL transaction (note 24) 
51 - 

Remeasurement of equity accounted investments (note 5) - 69  

Software implementation costs (17) - 

Onerous contract (17) - 

Total excluded from underlying earnings (120) (750) 

Profit before tax2 105 360 
1 Refer to Operating Segment information on page 79. 
2 Refer to Consolidated Income Statement on page 66. 
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Geographical information 

Refer note 4 for segment revenue disaggregation based on the geographical locations of external customers. 

All non-current assets of the Group, exclusive of financial instruments and deferred tax assets, are in Australia.  

Major customer information 

During the year ended 30 June 2024, Lithium segment revenues from the largest two customers amounted to 

$677M and $558M respectively. For the Iron Ore segment, revenues from the largest customer amounted to 

$554M, arising from the sale of commodities and related freight revenue. No other single customer contributed 

10 per cent or more to the Group’s revenue for the year. 

During the year ended 30 June 2023, Lithium segment revenues from the largest two customers amounted to 

$623M and $584M respectively. For the Iron Ore segment, revenues from the three largest customers amounted 

to $616M, $342M and $274M respectively, arising from the sale of commodities and related freight revenue. No 

other single customer contributed 10 per cent or more to the Group’s revenue for the year. 

 

4. REVENUE 

 

Disaggregation of revenue 

The disaggregation of revenue is as follows: 

 

  
Mining 

Services 
Iron Ore Lithium Energy Other Total 

Group – 2024 $M $M $M $M $M $M 

Revenue from contracts with customers       

Sale of iron ore - 2,5121 - - - 2,512 

Sale of lithium - - 1,516 - - 1,516 

Mining services revenue 1,253 - - - - 1,253 

Other - - - - 19 19 

Total revenue from contacts with customers 1,253 2,512 1,516 - 19 5,300 

Other revenue       

Iron ore pricing adjustments - 66 - - - 66 

Lithium pricing adjustments - - (107) - - (107) 

Leasing and interest revenue 19 - - - - 19 

Total other revenue 19 66 (107) - - (22) 

Total external revenue 1,272 2,578 1,409 - 19 5,278 

Geographical information (by location of 

customer) 
      

Australia 1,272 13 - - 8 1,293 

Asia - 2,565 1,409 - 2 3,976 

Other - - - - 9 9 

Total external revenue 1,272 2,578 1,409 - 19 5,278 

Timing of revenue recognition       

Goods and services transferred at a point in 

time 
- 2,578 1,409 - 19 4,006 

Goods and services transferred over time 1,272 - - - - 1,272 

Total external revenue 1,272 2,578 1,409 - 19 5,278 

 
1 The Group received sales proceeds of $19M in relation to the Onslow Iron project. The project is still in the development phase.  
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Mining 

Services 
Iron Ore Lithium Energy Other Total 

Group – 2023 $M $M $M $M $M $M 

Revenue from contracts with customers       

Sale of iron ore -  2,185 - - -  2,185 

Sale of lithium  - - 1,962 - - 1,962 

Mining Services revenue 731 - - - - 731 

Other - - - - 9 9  

Total revenue from contacts with customers 731  2,185 1,962 - 9  4,887  

Other revenue       

Iron ore pricing adjustments - (38) - - - (38) 

Lithium pricing adjustments -  -  (70) - -  (70) 

Total other revenue -  (38)  (70) - -    (108) 

Total external revenue  731 2,147 1,892  - 9    4,779  

Geographical information (by location of 

customer) 
           

Australia 731 -   - - 7 738 

Asia -  2,147 1,892 - -    4,039 

Other -     -  - - 2 2 

Total external revenue  731 2,147 1,892  - 9   4,779 

Timing of revenue recognition       

Goods and services transferred at a point in 

time 
- 2,147 1,892 - 9 4,048 

Goods and services transferred over time 731 - - - - 731 

Total external revenue 731 2,147 1,892 - 9 4,779 

 

Contract balances 

Contract assets 

The Group holds a contract asset of $29M (30 June 2023: nil) in relation to a construction contract (note 10). 

Excluding this, the Group does not have any material contract assets as at 30 June 2024 (30 June 2023: nil) as 

performance and a right to consideration occurs within a short period of time and all rights to consideration are 

unconditional. 

Trade receivables 

A receivable represents the Group’s right to an amount of consideration that is unconditional (i.e. only the 

passage of time is required before payment of the consideration is due). Refer to note 10 for trade receivables. 

Contract liabilities 

If a customer pays consideration before the Group transfers goods or services to the customer, a contract liability 

is recognised when the payment is made or the payment is due (whichever is earlier). Contract liabilities are 

recognised as revenue when the Group performs its obligations under the contract. 

From time to time, the Group recognises contract liabilities in relation to: 

(i) iron ore and lithium sales which are sold under Cost and Freight (CFR) and Cost, Insurance and Freight (CIF) 

Incoterms, whereby a portion of the cash may be received from the customer before the freight/insurance 

services are provided 

(ii) mining services revenue, including crushing services, where mobilisation charges may be received from the 

customer at the start of the contract; revenue for mobilisation charges is recognised as performance 

obligations in the contract are satisfied. 

See note 17 for further details of contract liabilities disclosed within Trade and Other Payables. 
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Accounting policy for revenue recognition 

Revenue from contracts with customers 

Revenue is recognised at an amount that reflects the consideration to which the Group is expected to be entitled 

in exchange for transferring goods or services to a customer.  

The Group has generally concluded that it is the principal in its revenue contracts as it typically controls the goods 

or services before transferring them to the customer. 

The value of variable consideration is estimated using either the “expected value” or “most likely amount” 

method. The measurement of variable consideration is subject to a constraining principle whereby revenue will 

be recognised only to the extent that it is highly probable that a significant reversal in the amount of cumulative 

revenue recognised will not occur. The measurement constraint continues until the uncertainty associated with 

the variable consideration is subsequently resolved. 

(i) Sale of goods 

The Group earns revenue by mining, processing, and selling iron ore, spodumene concentrate and lithium battery 

chemicals to customers under a range of commercial terms. 

The Group sells the majority of its products on CFR or CIF International Commercial Terms (Incoterms) which mean 

that the Group is responsible for providing freight services after the date at which title of the goods passes. The 

Group therefore has a separate performance obligation for freight/services provided for sale of products under 

CFR and CIF Incoterms. 

Revenue from the sale of product is recognised at the point in time when control has been transferred to the 

customer, no further work or processing is required by the Group, the quantity and quality of the goods has been 

determined with reasonable accuracy, the price is fixed or determinable, and collectability is reasonably assured. 

This is generally when risk and reward of ownership passes.  

The majority of the Group's sales agreements specify that risk and reward of ownership passes when the product 

is physically transferred onto the ocean-going vessel or other delivery mechanism. In practical terms, revenue is 

generally recognised on the bill of lading date, which is the date the commodity is delivered to the shipping 

agent. Within each contract to sell commodity products, each unit of product shipped is a separate performance 

obligation. 

The Group’s sales agreements may allow for price adjustments based on the market price at the end of the 

relevant quotational period (QP) stipulated in the contract. These are referred to as provisional pricing 

arrangements and are such that the selling price for the product is based on prevailing market prices on a 

specified future date after shipment to the customer. Adjustments to the sales price occur based on movements 

in quoted market prices up to the end of the QP. The period between provisional invoicing and  

the end of the QP is typically between one and two months post shipment.  

Revenue is generally recognised at the contracted price as this reflects the stand-alone selling price.  

For provisional pricing arrangements, revenue is measured at the amount to which the Group expects to be 

entitled, being the estimate of the price expected to be received at the end of the QP (i.e. at a forward price) 

and a corresponding trade receivable is recognised. Any future changes that occur over the QP are embedded 

within the provisionally priced trade receivables, which are carried at fair value through profit and loss (see note 

10) and are recognised in the Consolidated Income Statement as pricing adjustments in Other Revenue.  

Sales agreements also allow for an adjustment to the sales price based on a survey of the goods by the customer 

(an assay for mineral and moisture content) therefore recognition of the sales revenue is based on the most 

recently determined estimate of product specifications. Adjustments are typically insignificant. 

For those arrangements subject to CIF/CFR shipping terms, freight revenue is allocated from the overall contract 

price at its standalone selling price (where observable) or otherwise at its estimated cost-plus margin. Revenue 

from shipping services is recognised over time until the product is delivered.  

The Group does not disclose sales revenue from freight services separately as it does not consider this to be a 

material component of revenue. 

The Group applies the practical expedient in AASB 15 for its freight services and does not disclose information on 

the transaction price allocated to performance obligations that remain unsatisfied at the end of the reporting 

period as the performance obligations arising under sales arrangements for its commodity products have an 

original expected duration of one year or less. 
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(ii) Rendering of services 

The Group’s Mining Services segment earns revenue from the provision of a range of mining services, including 

crushing and construction services. 

Mining Services 

Revenue from mining services is recognised over time, as the customer simultaneously receives and consumes 

the benefits provided by the Group. As mining services are invoiced on a monthly basis based on the actual 

services provided, or at cost plus margin incurred to date, the Group has used the practical expedient available 

under AASB 15 to recognise revenue based on the right to invoice. This is on the basis that the invoiced amount 

corresponds directly with the value to the customer of the Group’s performance completed to date. 

Crushing Services 

For crushing service contracts specifically, each tonne of ore crushed represents a separate performance 

obligation. Revenue from the rendering of crushing services is measured and recognised as each tonne is crushed 

based on a schedule of rates that is invoiced to the customer, being the estimate of the price to which the Group 

expects to be entitled and a corresponding trade receivable is recognised.  

Mobilisation/demobilisation charges on crushing service contracts, which is not a separate performance 

obligation, constitutes variable consideration that is allocated to each tonne crushed (each performance 

obligation) and is therefore recognised based on the actual tonnes crushed each period, rather than when 

invoiced. 

Construction Services 

With respect to construction services, contracts are assessed to identify the performance obligations contained 

in the contract. The total transaction price is allocated to each individual performance obligation. Typically, the 

Group’s construction contracts contain a single performance obligation.  

Work is performed on assets that are controlled by the customer or on assets that have no alternative use to the 

Group, with the Group having a right to payment for performance to date. As performance obligations are 

satisfied over time, revenue is recognised over time using an input method based on costs incurred, as this is 

considered to be the method that most faithfully depicts the Group’s performance towards completion of the 

performance obligation. 

If the consideration in the contract includes a variable amount, the Group estimates the amount of the 

consideration to which it is entitled in exchange for transferring the goods and services to the customer. The 

Group includes some or all of this variable consideration in the transaction price only to the extent it is highly 

probable that a significant reversal of the cumulative revenue recognised will not occur, i.e. when the associated 

uncertainty with the variable consideration is subsequently resolved. Certain contracts are subject to claims 

which are enforceable under the contract. If the claim does not result in any additional goods or services, the 

transaction price is updated and the claim accounted for as variable consideration. 

Customers are typically invoiced on completion of milestones.  
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Key judgement and estimates: Accounting for construction contracts 

Accounting for construction contracts involves the continuous use of estimates based on a number of 

detailed assumptions. Construction contracts can span accounting periods, requiring estimates and 

assumptions to be updated on a regular basis.  

Accounting estimates resulting from judgements in relation to individual projects may be materially different 

to actual results due to the size, scale and complexity of projects.  

Revenue 

Where performance obligations are satisfied over time, revenue is recognised in the Consolidated Income 

Statement by reference to the estimated progress towards complete satisfaction of each performance 

obligation.  

For construction contracts, revenue is recognised using an input method based on costs incurred, which the 

Group believes faithfully depicts the transfer of goods and services to the customer. In this regard, the Group 

excludes the effects of any inputs that do not depict the Group’s performance in transferring control of goods 

or services to the customer. 

Fundamental to the calculation of the stage of completion is a reliable estimate of forecast costs to complete. 

Forecast costs to complete 

Forecast costs to complete construction contracts are regularly updated and are based on costs expected 

to be incurred when the related activity is undertaken. Key assumptions regarding costs to complete a 

contract include estimation of labour costs, technical costs, impact of delays and productivity. 

Construction contracts may incur additional costs in excess of original cost estimates. Liability for such costs 

may rest with the customer if considered to be a change to the original scope of works. Any additional 

contractual obligations, including liquidated damages, are also assessed to the extent these are due and 

payable under the contract.  

When it is considered probable that total contract costs will exceed total contract revenue, the contract is 

considered onerous and the present obligation under the contract is recognised immediately as a provision. 

Contract claims and disputes 

Where a variation in scope has been agreed with a customer and the corresponding change in the 

transaction price has not been agreed, the variation is accounted for as variable consideration. The estimate 

of variable consideration is determined using the expected value approach taking into account the facts 

and circumstances of each individual contract and the historical experience of the Group, and is reassessed 

throughout the life of the contract. Variable consideration including claims and certain contract variations 

are included in the transaction price only to the extent it is highly probable that a significant reversal in revenue 

will not occur in the future. 

There are a number of factors considered in assessing variable consideration including status of negotiations 

with the customer, outcomes of previous negotiations and legal evidence that provides a basis for 

entitlement. 
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5. OTHER INCOME 

 Group 

 2024 

$M 

2023 

$M 

Fair value gain on investments held at fair value through profit or loss - 47 

Net foreign exchange gain 54 - 

Fair value gain on commodity contracts 15 1 

Gain on remeasurement of equity accounted investments - 69 

Gain on settlement of pre-existing relationship as part of the restructured 

MARBL transaction (note 24) 
51 - 

Gain on acquisition of an additional interest in a joint operation (note 24) 333 - 

Other 21 23 

Other income 474 140 
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6. EXPENSES 

 Group 

 2024 

$M 

2023 

$M 

Profit before tax includes the following specific expenses:   

Depreciation1   

Plant and equipment 315 309 

Depreciation capitalised to assets (17) (22) 

Total depreciation 298 287 

Amortisation2   

Mine development 405 233 

Amortisation capitalised to closing inventory  (89) (74) 

Other 14 4 

Total amortisation 330 163 

Total depreciation and amortisation 628 450 

Impairment   

Exploration and evaluation assets and mine properties (note 15) 67 505 

Intangibles 15 1 

Property, plant and equipment (note 14) 8 282 

Equity accounted investments (note 30) 52 - 

Total impairment 142 788 

Finance costs   

Interest on borrowings 370 251 

Capitalised borrowing costs1, 3 (152) (36) 

Interest on lease liabilities1 18 11 

Other 26 7 

Finance costs expensed 262 233 

Other expenses   

Net foreign exchange loss - 73 

Fair value loss on equity instruments at fair value through profit or loss 238 5 

Short-term leases, low value leases and variable lease payments 2 2 

Loss on hedge of fair value commodity contracts 3 - 

Share of loss from associates and joint ventures accounted for using 

the equity method 
- 4 

Royalties (government and non-government) 326 322 

Rates and land tax 54 45  

Duties and other costs associated with restructured MARBL transaction 57 - 

Loss on disposal of Kemerton 44 - 

Realised loss on sale of financial assets 55 - 

Travel and accommodation  50 34 

Software costs 47 13 

Office and administrative expenses 116 79 

All other operating expenses  125 86 

Total other expenses  1,117 663 

Superannuation expense included in employee benefit expense   

Defined contribution superannuation expense 116 69 

1 Refer to note 14 for accounting policy on depreciation, borrowing costs and leases.  
2 Refer to note 15 for accounting policy on amortisation of mine properties. 

3 The rate used to determine the amount of borrowing costs eligible for capitalisation was 8.74 per cent (FY23: 8.50 per cent). 
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7. INCOME TAX 

Income tax expense 

 Group 

 2024 

$M 

2023 

$M 

Income tax expense   

Current tax – current income tax charge 140 251 

Deferred tax – origination and reversal of temporary differences (150) (145) 

Adjustment recognised in respect of prior periods 1 10 

Aggregate income tax (benefit)/expense (9) 116 

    

Numerical reconciliation of income tax expense and tax at the statutory rate   

Profit before income tax expense 105 360 

Tax at the statutory tax rate of 30% 32 108 

   

Non-deductible expenses 4 2 

Deferred tax benefit arising from the MARBL restructure (180) - 

Foreign tax recognised  73 - 

Trading stock deduction on which deferred tax was not recognised (6) - 

Tax losses utilised in the current year that were not previously recognised - (2) 

Employee Share Trust adjustments 12 (16) 

 (65) 92 

Adjustment recognised for prior periods 1 10 

Current year tax losses not recognised 46 14 

Adjustment to losses not recognised for tax rate in foreign jurisdiction  9 - 

Income tax (benefit)/expense (9) 116 

 

 Group 

 
2024 

$M 

2023 

$M 

Amounts charged directly to equity   

Tax effect on employee share awards (23) (4) 

Tax losses not recognised   

Unused tax losses for which no deferred tax asset has been recognised 229 47 

   

Potential tax benefit on unused losses 60 14 
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Net deferred tax asset/(liability) 

 Group 

 2024 

$M 

2023 

$M 

Deferred tax assets and liabilities comprise temporary differences 

attributable to: 
  

Tax losses 118 47 

Deferred income 35 47 

Accruals 27 18 

Employee benefits 82 36 

Provisions 172 116 

Unrealised foreign exchange loss 5 56 

Financial assets (21) (1) 

Development costs 18 12 

Property, plant and equipment, including right-of-use assets (281) (447) 

Exploration and evaluation (143) (103) 

Prepayments 36 38 

Research and development (8) (8) 

Employee Share Trust/share-based payments 12 5 

Lease liability  18 84 

Other 12 5 

Deferred tax asset/(liability) 82 (95) 

   

Movements:   

Opening balance (95) (221) 

Movements through Equity 23 4  

Credit to consolidated income statement 150 145 

Under/(Over) provision from prior year 4 (23) 

Closing balance  82 (95) 

Accounting policy for income tax 

The income tax expense for the period is the tax payable on that period's taxable income based on the 

applicable income tax rate for each jurisdiction, adjusted by the changes in deferred tax assets and liabilities 

attributable to temporary differences, unused tax losses and adjustments recognised for prior periods. 

Key judgement: Income tax 

The Group is subject to income taxes in the jurisdictions in which it operates. Significant judgement is required 

in determining the provision for income tax.  

There are many transactions and calculations undertaken during the ordinary course of business for which the 

ultimate tax determination is uncertain. Judgement is required to determine the amount of deferred tax assets 

that are recognised based on the likely timing and the level of future taxable profits.  

The Group recognises the amount of tax payable or recoverable based on management’s best estimate of 

the most likely outcome and where the Group has concluded that it is probable that the relevant tax authority 

will accept current judgements. Where the final tax outcome of these matters is different from the carrying 

amounts, such differences will impact the current and deferred tax provisions in the period in which such 

determination is made. 

 

Deferred tax is provided using the liability method on temporary differences between the tax base of assets and 

liabilities and their carrying amounts for financial reporting purposes at the reporting date. 
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The carrying amount of deferred tax assets is reviewed at each reporting date. Deferred tax assets recognised 

are reduced to the extent that it is no longer probable that future taxable profits will be available for the carrying 

amount to be recovered. Previously unrecognised deferred tax assets are recognised to the extent that it is 

probable that there are future taxable profits available to recover the asset. 

Mineral Resources Limited (the “head entity”) and its wholly-owned Australian subsidiaries have formed an 

income tax group under the Australian tax consolidation regime (Tax Group). The head entity and each subsidiary 

in the Tax Group continues to account for its own current and deferred tax amounts. The Tax Group has applied 

the “stand-alone taxpayer” approach in determining the appropriate amount of taxes to allocate to members 

of the Tax Group. 

In addition to its own current and deferred tax amounts, the head entity also recognises the current tax liabilities 

(or assets) and the deferred tax assets arising from unused tax losses and unused tax credits assumed from each 

subsidiary in the Tax Group.  

Assets or liabilities arising under tax funding agreements with the Tax Group are recognised as amounts receivable 

from or payable to other entities in the Tax Group. A Tax Funding Arrangement ensures that the intercompany 

charge equals the current tax liability or benefit of each Tax Group member, resulting in neither a contribution by 

the head entity to the subsidiaries nor a distribution by the subsidiaries to the head entity. 

All members of the Tax Group are parties to a valid Tax Sharing Agreement (TSA), which in the event of a head 

company default, limits the liability of each subsidiary to its respective liability allocation under the TSA (notional 

tax is calculated using the stand-alone taxpayer approach). No amounts have been recognised in the financial 

statements in respect of the TSA on the basis that the possibility of default is remote. 

 
8. EARNINGS PER SHARE 

 Group 

 
2024 

$M 

2023 

$M 

Profit after tax 114 244 

Non-controlling interest 11 (1) 

Profit after income tax attributable to the owners of Mineral Resources Limited 125 243 

   

 Number Number 

Weighted average number of ordinary shares used in calculating basic earnings 

per share 
195,445,205 191,023,237 

Weighted average number of ordinary shares used in calculating diluted 

earnings per share 
197,533,698 192,710,417 

   

 Cents Cents 

Basic earnings per share 64.22 127.37 

Diluted earnings per share 63.54 126.25 

Reconciliation of weighted average number of ordinary shares 

 Group 

 
2024 

Number 

2023 

Number 

Weighted average number of ordinary shares for basic EPS 195,445,205 191,023,237 

Share Rights 2,088,493 1,687,180 

Weighted average number of ordinary shares adjusted for the effect of dilution 197,533,698 192,710,417 

 

A total of 808,827 Share Rights have not been included in the calculation of diluted earnings per share as the 

shares are contingently issuable on conditions other than service.  
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9. CASH AND CASH EQUIVALENTS 

8.  Group 

 2024 

$M 

2023 

$M 

Current   

Cash at bank and on hand  868 1,334 

Short-term deposits and other cash equivalents - 4 

Cash and cash equivalents held in joint operations 40 41 

 908 1,379 
 

Cash and cash equivalents held in joint operations are restricted to the operations of the joint operation in which 

they are recorded. 

Cash flow information – Reconciliation of profit after tax to net cash from operating activities 

 Group 

 2024 

$M 

2023 

$M 

Profit after income tax expense for the year 114 244 

Adjustments for:   

Depreciation and amortisation 628 450 

Share-based payments 32 33 

Foreign exchange differences (45) 73 

Impairment loss 142 789 

Fair value loss/(gain) on investments held at fair value through profit or 

loss 
238 (42) 

Remeasurement of equity accounted investments - (69) 

Duties and other costs associated with restructured MARBL transaction  57 - 

Loss on disposal of Kemerton 44 - 

Gain on acquisition of an additional interest in a joint operation (333) - 

Gain on settlement of pre-existing relationship as part of the restructured 

MARBL transaction 
(51) - 

Other non-cash transactions (32) - 

Change in operating assets and liabilities:   

Increase in trade and other receivables (598) (94) 

Decrease/(Increase) in inventories 161 (265) 

(Increase)/Decrease in deferred tax assets (56) 228 

Increase in other operating assets (55) (5) 

Increase in trade and other payables 1,258 260 

(Decrease)/Increase in provision for income tax (25) 60 

Decrease in deferred tax liabilities (95) (349) 

Increase in provisions 65 41 

Net cash from operating activities 1,449 1,354 
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Cash flow information – Changes in liabilities arising from financing activities 

 Lease/ 

finance 

liability 

Senior 

unsecured 

notes 

Secured 

loans 

Other 

borrowings 
Total 

Group $M $M $M $M $M 

Balance at 1 July 2022  310  2,802 - 14 3,126 

Net change in financing 

cash flows 
(110) - 

- 
(2) (112) 

Acquisition of leases 117 - - - 117 

Exchange differences - 110 - - 110 

Other changes - 5 - (12) (7) 

Balance at 30 June 2023 317 2,917 - - 3,234 

Balance at 1 July 2023  317 2,917 -  3,234 

Net change in financing 

cash flows 
293 1,742 125 (25) 2,135 

Exchange differences - (109) -  (109) 

Other changes (19) 59 - 36 76 

Balance at 30 June 2024 591 4,609 125 11 5,336 

   

Material non-cash investing and financing transactions 

During the period, the Group completed the restructure of the MARBL transaction partially through the exchange 

of assets. Please refer to note 24 for further details.  
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10. RECEIVABLES AND CONTRACT ASSETS 

 Group 

 2024 

$M 

2023 

$M 

Current   

Trade receivables carried at amortised cost  708 492 

Contract assets 29 - 

Trade receivables subject to provisional pricing carried at fair value 51 88 

Other receivables at amortised cost 63 82 

Finance lease receivables1 2 - 

Loan receivables at amortised cost2 163 - 

Cash call receivable 16 - 

Less: Allowance for expected credit losses (5) (4) 

 1,027 658 

Non-current   

Loan receivables at amortised cost2 382 69 

Less: Allowance for expected credit losses - - 

 382 69 

Security deposits 2 1 

Finance lease receivables1  55 - 

 439 70 
 

1 Finance lease receivables are expected to be receipted at an undiscounted value over the following time horizon: less than 12 months $9M, 1 

to 5 years $27M, 5+ years $29M. 
2 Loan receivables at amortised cost are interest-bearing. Loan receivables include $417M loan recognised under the joint arrangement for the 

Onslow Iron Project for funding the costs of other joint operators (Onslow carry loan) that came into effect on the delivery of first ore on ship in 

May 2024. Cash outflows under construction contracts attributable to joint operators are treated as payments to suppliers in the consolidated 

statement of cash flows. 

 

Further information about the Group’s exposure to credit and market risks, and impairment losses for trade 

receivables and contract assets, is included in note 23.  

Accounting policy for trade and other receivables 

Trade receivables 

Trade receivables not subject to provisional pricing are initially measured at the transaction price determined 

under AASB 15. Subsequent to initial recognition, these trade receivables are carried at amortised cost using the 

effective interest rate (EIR) method. These receivables (i.e. receivable not subject to provisional pricing) are non-

interest bearing and are generally on terms of 30 days. The carrying value of these receivables, net of the 

allowance for expected credit losses (see below) approximates fair value. 

The Group’s Lithium and Iron Ore revenue may be subject to provisional pricing. Trade receivables subject to 

provisional pricing are non-interest bearing, and as discussed in note 4 above, are exposed to future commodity 

price movements over the QP. Accordingly, these trade receivables are carried at fair value up until the date of 

settlement. Trade receivables subject to provisional pricing are initially measured at the amount which the Group 

expects to be entitled, being the estimate of the price expected to be received at the end of the QP. The 

accounting policy is described in note 4. The fair value of trade receivables subject to provisional pricing has 

been estimated using quoted forward prices where available. Where quoted forward prices are not available, 

the Group uses market prices based on broker consensus forecast pricing data.  

The full provisional invoice (based on the provisional price) is received in cash when the goods are loaded onto 

the ship, which reduces the initial receivable recognised. The QPs are typically between one and two months 

post shipment and final payment is due between 30-95 days from the end of the QP. Refer to note 23 for the 

Group’s credit risk management policies. 
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Loans and other receivables 

Other receivables generally arise from transactions outside the usual operating activities of the Group. Loans and 

other receivables are classified as financial assets held at amortised cost. The carrying value of these financial 

assets, net of the allowance for expected credit losses, approximates fair value.  

Lease receivables – Group as lessor 

Leases for which the Group is a lessor are classified as finance or operating leases. Whenever the terms of the 

lease transfer substantially all the risks and rewards of ownership to the lessee, the contract is classified as a 

finance lease. All other leases are classified as operating leases. 

Rental income from operating leases is recognised on a straight-line basis over the term of the relevant lease. 

Initial direct costs incurred in negotiating and arranging an operating lease are added to the carrying amount 

of the leased asset and recognised on a straight-line basis over the lease term. 

Amounts due from lessees under finance leases are recognised as receivables at the amount of the Group’s net 

investment in the lease. Finance lease income is allocated to accounting periods to reflect a constant periodic 

rate of return on the Group’s net investment outstanding in respect of the leases. 

Finance lease income is calculated with reference to the gross carrying amount of the lease receivables. 

When a contract includes both lease and non-lease components, the Group applies AASB 15 to allocate the 

consideration under the contract to each component. 

Allowance for expected credit losses 

The Group recognises an allowance for expected credit losses (ECLs) on all receivables and financial assets not 

held at fair value through profit or loss. ECLs are based on the difference between the contractual cash flows 

due in accordance with the contract and all the cash flows that the Group expects to receive, discounted at an 

approximation of the original EIR.  

For trade receivables not subject to provisional pricing, contract assets, lease receivables and other receivables 

with a term of less than 12 months, the Group applies the simplified approach permitted by AASB 9 Financial 

Instruments in calculating ECLs. As a result, the Group does not track changes in credit risk, and instead, 

recognises a loss allowance based on the financial asset’s lifetime ECL at each reporting date. The Group has 

established a provision matrix that is based on its historical credit loss experience, adjusted for forward-looking 

factors specific to the debtors and the economic environment. 

For any other financial assets carried at amortised cost, ECLs are recognised in stages. For credit exposures for 

which there has not been a significant increase in credit risk since initial recognition, ECLs are provided for credit 

losses that result from default events that are possible within the next 12-months (a 12-month ECL). For those credit 

exposures for which there has been a significant increase in credit risk since initial recognition, a loss allowance is 

required for credit losses expected over the remaining life of the exposure, irrespective of the timing of the default 

(a lifetime ECL). 

The Group generally considers a financial asset in default when contractual payments are 90 days past due. 

However, in certain cases, the Group may also consider a financial asset to be in default when internal or external 

information indicates that the Group is unlikely to receive the outstanding contractual amounts in full before 

taking into account any credit enhancements held by the Group. A financial asset is written off when there is no 

reasonable expectation of recovering the contractual cash flows; usually when past due for more than one year 

and not subject to enforcement activity. 
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Key judgement: Classification of loans receivable 

The Group has several loans receivable from various external parties. The Group’s policy is to measure loans 

receivable at amortised cost when the following conditions are met: 

• The financial asset is held with the objective to collect contractual cashflows. 

• The contractual terms of the financial asset specify that the cash flows represent solely payments of 

principal and interest (SPPI) on the principal amount outstanding. 

Determination of whether cash flows represent SPPI requires judgement. In considering whether loans 

receivable meet the SPPI test, the Group takes into consideration the contractual terms of each loan, including 

but not limited to elements of other risks that may be present such as equity risk, development risk and 

commodity risk. Loans that are non-recourse or limited recourse may indicate that cash flows reflect a return 

that is inconsistent with a basis lending arrangement, particularly where returns vary based on the performance 

of an underlying asset. In this regard, the Group also considers: 

• the nature of the borrower and its business 

• the adequacy of any loss absorbing capital held by the borrower 

• expected sources of repayment 

• any other forms of economic recourse. 

 

 The Group has concluded that its loans receivable should be classified as “at amortised cost”. 

 

 
11. INVENTORIES 

 Group 

 2024 

$M 

2023 

$M 

Current   

Raw materials and stores 172 117 

Ore inventory stockpiles 423 475 

Work in progress 12 14 

 607 606 

The cost of inventories recognised as an expense during the year includes $11M in respect of write-downs of 

inventory to net realisable value. 

Accounting policy for inventories 

Raw materials, work in progress and finished goods are stated at the lower of weighted average cost and net 

realisable value. Cost comprises direct materials and delivery costs, direct labour, import duties and other taxes, 

an appropriate proportion of variable and fixed overhead expenditure based on normal operating capacity.  
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12. OTHER ASSETS 

 Group 

 2024 

$M 

2023 

$M 

Current   

Prepayments 71 41 

Foreign exchange forward contracts 4 (1) 

Commodity option contracts 15 1 

Other deposits 8 - 

 98 41 

 
13. OTHER FINANCIAL ASSETS 

 Group 

 2024  

$M 

2023  

$M 

Non-current   

Shares in listed corporations – at fair value through profit or loss 110 206 

Shares in unlisted entity – at fair value through profit or loss 31 - 

 141 206 

   

Reconciliation   

Reconciliation of the fair values at the beginning and end of the current 

and previous financial year are set out below 
  

Opening fair value 206 58  

Additions 597 190 

Disposals (303) (84) 

Transfer to investments accounted for using the equity method (note 30) (65) - 

Revaluation (294) 42 

Closing fair value 141 206 

 

Refer to note 23(f) for further information on fair value measurement. 
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14. PROPERTY, PLANT AND EQUIPMENT 

 Group 

 2024 

$M 

2023 

$M 

Non-current   

Land – gross carrying value at cost 29 28 

   

Right-of-use land – gross carrying value at cost 43 - 

Less: Accumulated depreciation and impairment (1) - 

 42 - 

   

Buildings – gross carrying value at cost 386 320 

Less: Accumulated depreciation and impairment (89) (57) 

 297 263 

   

Right-of-use buildings – gross carrying value at cost 49 40 

Less: Accumulated depreciation and impairment (14) (20) 

 35 20 

   

Right-of-use plant and equipment – gross carrying value at cost 131 511 

Less: Accumulated depreciation and impairment (14)   (136) 

 117   375  

   

Plant and equipment – gross carrying value at cost1 6,319 3,161 

Less: Accumulated depreciation and impairment (1,669)   (874) 

 4,650 2,287 

   

 5,170 2,973  
1 Assets are encumbered to the extent disclosed in note 18. 
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Reconciliations of written down values at the start and end of the current and previous financial year are set 

out below: 

 Land 
Right-of-use 

land 
Buildings 

Right-of-use 

buildings 

Right-of-use 

plant and 

equipment 

Plant and 

equipment 
Total 

Group $M $M $M $M $M $M $M 

Balance at 30 June 2022 29 - 262 24 379 1,469 2,163 

Additions - - 43 3 74 1,369 1,489 

Disposals - - - - (7) (80) (87) 

Impairment of assets (3) - (3) - - (276) (282) 

Transfers 2 - (27) (1) (17) 43 - 

Depreciation expense - - (13) (6) (53) (237) (309) 

Balance at 30 June 2023 28 - 262 20 376 2,288 2,974 

Additions - 17 17 22 6 2,560 2,622 

Disposals - - - - - (11) (11) 

Impairment of assets - - - - - (8) (8) 

Transfers 1 26 37 - (254) 103 (87) 

Asset write-off - - - - - (5) (5) 

Depreciation expense - (1) (19) (7) (11) (277) (315) 

Balance at 30 June 2024 29 42 297 35 117 4,650 5,170 

 
Assets in the course of construction 

Included in property, plant and equipment at 30 June 2024 was an amount of $2,677M (2023: $1,287M) relating 

to expenditure for plant and equipment in the course of construction.  

Impairment testing 

Refer to note 16 for details of impairment testing. 

Accounting policy for property, plant and equipment and Right-of-use assets 

Owned assets 

Items of plant and equipment are stated at cost less accumulated depreciation and impairment losses. The cost 

of self-constructed assets includes the cost of materials, direct labour and an appropriate portion of production 

overheads. The cost of self-constructed and acquired assets includes (i) the initial estimate at the time of 

installation and during the period of use, when relevant, of the costs of dismantling and removing the items and 

restoring the site on which they are located, and (ii) changes in the measurement of existing liabilities recognised 

for these costs resulting from changes in the timing or outflow of resources required to settle the obligation or from 

changes in the discount rate. Where parts of an item of plant and equipment have different useful lives, they are 

accounted for as separate items of plant and equipment. 

Right-of-use assets – Group as a Lessee 

The Group applies a single recognition and measurement approach for all leases where the Group is lessee, 

except for short-term leases and leases of low-value assets (see note 6). A right-of-use asset represents the lessee’s 

right to use a leased asset over the duration of an agreed-upon lease term.  

A right-of-use asset is recognised at the commencement date of a lease. The right-of-use asset is measured at 

cost, less any accumulated depreciation and impairment losses, and adjusted for any remeasurement of lease 

liabilities.  

Right-of-use assets are depreciated on a straight-line basis over the unexpired period of the lease or the estimated 

useful life of the asset, whichever is the shorter. Where the Group expects to obtain ownership of the leased asset 

at the end of the lease term, the depreciation is over its estimated useful life. Right-of use assets are subject to 

impairment. 
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Depreciation 

Depreciation is calculated either on the straight-line method or units of production method. Where the useful life 

of an asset is directly linked to the extraction of commodities or in mining operations, the asset is depreciated 

using the units of production method. For mining fleet used in mining operations, usage hours are used to 

determine the units of production depreciation. For other mining assets, the units of production depreciation is 

based on the depletion of the estimated ore to be mined. Where the useful life is not linked to the quantities of 

commodity produced, assets are generally depreciated on a straight-line basis.  

The estimated useful lives for the principal categories of property, plant and equipment depreciated on a straight-

line basis are as follows: 

Buildings 40 years 

Buildings at mine sites Shorter of 10 years or life of mine 

Right-of-use land Amortised over the term of the lease 

Right-of-use buildings Amortised over the term of the lease 

Right-of-use plant and equipment Amortised over the term of the lease 

Plant and equipment 1 – 10 years 

 

The Group reviews the estimated residual values and expected useful lives of assets at least annually. In particular, 

the Group considers the impact of health, safety and environmental legislation in its assessment of expected 

useful lives and estimated residual values.  

In addition, the Group considers how climate change affects the value of its assets, for example, whether rules 

and regulations relating to climate change reduce useful lives or reduce recoverable value due to assets needing 

to be retired sooner as they do not meet the Group’s required emission standards.  

The Group also considers any reduction in utility that may result from impacts such as rising temperatures and 

other extreme weather events on the Group’s ability to operate assets in the manner intended. 

Subsequent costs 

The Group recognises in the carrying amount of an item of plant and equipment the cost of replacing part of 

such an item when that cost is incurred, if it is probable that the future economic benefits embodied within the 

item will flow to the Group and the cost of the item can be measured reliably. All other costs are recognised in 

the Consolidated Income Statement as an expense as incurred. 

Borrowing costs 

Borrowing costs directly attributable to the acquisition, construction or production of assets that necessarily take 

a substantial period of time to prepare for their intended use or sale are added to the cost of those assets, until 

such time as the assets are substantially ready for their intended use or sale.  

All other borrowing costs are recognised in the income statement in the period in which they are incurred.  
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15. EXPLORATION AND EVALUATION ASSETS AND MINE PROPERTIES 

 Group 

 2024 

$M 

2023 

$M 

Non-current   

Exploration and evaluation assets 987 985 

   

Mine properties – gross carrying value at cost1 4,120 1,616 

Less: Accumulated amortisation and impairment (1,463) (1,048) 

 2,657 568 

1Mine properties include $963M (30 June 2023: $193M) in relation to mines under construction. 

Reconciliations 

Reconciliations of the written-down values at the beginning and end of the current and previous financial years 

are set out below: 

 

 

Exploration 

and evaluation 

assets 

Mine properties Total 

Group $M $M $M 

Balance at 1 July 2022 422 818 1,240 

Additions 155 348  503 

Reassessment of rehabilitation obligations - 105 105 

Additions from acquisition of subsidiary 448 - 448 

Transfer (out)/in  (40) 40 - 

Transferred to held for sale - (5) (5) 

Impairment of assets - (505) (505) 

Amortisation expense - (233) (233) 

Balance at 30 June 2023 985 568 1,553 

    

Balance at 1 July 2023 985 568 1,553 

Additions 335 2,021 2,356 

Reassessment of rehabilitation obligations - 124 124 

Transfer (out)/in  (272) 359 87 

Impairment of assets (57) (10) (67) 

Asset write-off (4) - (4) 

Amortisation expense - (405) (405) 

Balance at 30 June 2024 987 2,657 3,644 

 

Accounting policy for exploration and evaluation assets and mine properties 

Exploration and evaluation assets 

Exploration and evaluation expenditure in relation to separate areas of interest for which rights of tenure are 

current is carried forward as an asset in the balance sheet where it is expected that the expenditure will be 

recovered through the successful development and exploitation of an area of interest, or by its sale; or 

exploration activities are continuing in an area and activities have not reached a stage which permits a 

reasonable estimate of the existence or otherwise of economically recoverable ore reserves. 

A regular review is undertaken of each area of interest to determine the appropriateness of continuing to carry 

forward costs in relation to that area of interest. Where uncertainty exists as to the future viability of certain areas, 

the value of the area of interest is written off or provided against. 
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The carrying value of capitalised exploration and evaluation expenditure is assessed for impairment regularly and 

if after expenditure is capitalised, information becomes available suggesting that the recovery of expenditure is 

unlikely or that the Group no longer holds tenure, the relevant capitalised amount is written off to profit or loss in 

the period in which the new information becomes available.  

Once technical feasibility and commercial viability are demonstrated and the development of the mine is 

sanctioned, exploration and evaluation assets are tested for impairment and transferred to Mine Development. 

Amortisation of the costs carried forward into the development phase is not recognised pending the 

commencement of production. 

Key judgement: Exploration and evaluation costs 

The ultimate recoupment of costs carried forward for exploration and evaluation phases is dependent on the 

successful development and commercial exploitation or sale of the respective mining areas. 

To the extent that capitalised costs are determined not to be recoverable in the future, the expenditure 

incurred in relation to the project or an area of interest will be written off in the period in which this determination 

is made. Factors that could impact the future commercial production at the mine include the level of ore 

reserves and mineral resources, future technology changes which could impact the cost of mining, future legal 

changes, changes in commodity prices, climate change and net zero carbon emissions targets. Refer to note 

2 for more information on climate change and related matters.  

Mine properties 

Development expenditure incurred by or on behalf of the Group is accumulated separately for each area of 

interest in which mineral resources have been identified.  

Such expenditure comprises: 

• cost directly attributable to the construction of a mine and related infrastructure including capitalised 

borrowing costs 

• capitalised exploration and evaluation expenditure relating to the area of interest 

• capitalised stripping costs (see below). 

Mine properties are stated at cost, less accumulated depreciation and accumulated impairment losses. On 

commencement of production, depreciation is charged using the units-of-production method, with separate 

calculations being made for each area of interest.  

The units-of-production basis results in a depreciation charge proportional to the depletion of estimated total ore 

to be mined. These calculations require the use of estimates and assumptions, including the amount of 

recoverable ore (ore to be mined) and estimates of future capital expenditure. The Group adopts a Run of Mine 

(ROM) tonnes of ore produced methodology to calculate this depreciation. 

Mine Development is tested for impairment in accordance with the policy on impairment of assets (note 16). 
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Key estimate: Ore to be mined 

Ore to be mined is an estimate of the amount of product that can be economically and legally extracted 

from the Group's current mining tenements. The Group estimates its ore to be mined based on information 

compiled by appropriately qualified persons able to interpret the geological data.  

The estimation of ore to be mined is to be based on factors such as estimates of foreign exchange rates, 

commodity prices, future capital requirements and production costs, along with geological assumptions, 

mine engineering assumptions and judgements made in estimating the size and grade of the ore body, mine 

design, ore loss and dilution.  

Changes in the ore to be mined estimate may impact on the value of exploration and evaluation assets, 

mine properties, property plant and equipment, provision for rehabilitation and depreciation and 

amortisation charges. 

Key judgement: Mine start date 

The Group assesses each mine under development/construction to determine when a mine moves into the 

production phase, this being when the mine is substantially complete and ready for its intended use. The 

criteria used to assess the start date are determined based on the unique nature of each mine 

development/ construction project, such as the complexity of the project and its location. The Group 

considers various relevant criteria to assess when the production phase is considered to have commenced. 

Some of the criteria used to identify the production start date include, but are not limited to:  

• the level of capital expenditure incurred compared with the original construction cost estimate 

• completion of a reasonable period of testing of the associated mine plant and equipment 

• ability to produce metal in saleable form (within specifications) 

• ability to sustain ongoing production of metal. 

 

When a mine development project moves into the production phase, the capitalisation of certain mine 

development costs ceases and costs are either regarded as forming part of the cost of inventory or expensed, 

except for costs that qualify for capitalisation relating to mining asset additions or improvements, underground 

mine development or mineable reserve development. It is also at this point that depreciation/amortisation 

commences. 

 

With respect to the Onslow Iron mine, first ore on ship was achieved in May 2024. Having regard to the factors 

noted above, the Group has assessed that the Onslow Iron mine was still in the development phase at the 

balance sheet date. 

 

Stripping (waste/overburden removal) costs  

As part of its mining operations, the Group incurs stripping costs both during the development phase and 

production phase of its operations. 

Development stripping costs arise from the removal of overburden and other mine waste materials removed 

during the development of a mine site to access the mineral deposit. Costs directly attributable to development 

stripping activities are capitalised to mine properties. 

Production stripping commences at the time that saleable materials begin to be extracted from the mine and, 

under normal circumstances, continues throughout the life of the mine. Costs of production stripping are charged 

to the Consolidated Income Statement as operating costs when the ratio of waste material to ore extracted for 

a “component” of the ore body is expected to be constant throughout its estimated life.  

A “component" is a specific section of the ore body that is made more accessible by the stripping activity. It will 

typically be a subset of the larger orebody that is distinguished by a separate useful economic life. 
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When the ratio of waste to ore is not expected to be constant, production stripping costs are accounted for as 

follows: 

• All production costs are initially charged to the Consolidated Income Statement and classified as operation 

costs.  

• When the current ratio of waste to ore is greater than the estimated life-of-component strip ratio, a portion 

of the production costs incurred (inclusive of an allocation of relevant overhead expenditure) is capitalised 

to mine properties as a stripping activity asset. Costs are capitalised only if it is probable that future economic 

benefits will flow to the Group, the Group can identify the component of the ore body for which access has 

been improved, and the costs relating to the stripping activity associated with that component can be 

measured reliably. 

• The stripping activity asset recognised is amortised on a units-of-production method over the life of the 

component, unless another method is more appropriate. 

Life-of-component strip ratios are based on estimates of Ore Reserves and Mineral Resources and the latest 

approved mine plan; they are a function of the mine design and therefore changes to that design will generally 

result in changes to the ratios. Changes to the estimated life-of-mine ratio are accounted for prospectively from 

the date of the change. 

 
16. IMPAIRMENT OF NON-FINANCIAL ASSETS 

  
Property, 

plant and 

equipment 

Exploration 

and 

evaluation 

assets 

Mine 

properties 
Intangibles Total 

  $M $M $M $M $M 

Cash generating unit Segment       

Yilgarn Iron Ore 8 57 10 15 90 

 

Impairment of Yilgarn 

An indicator of impairment was identified due to a re-estimation of ore that is available to be mined at current 

forecast consensus prices and increased operating costs. An announcement13 was made in June 2024 that 

operations in the Yilgarn would cease exports by 31 December 2024. MinRes determined that the recoverable 

amount of the cash generating unit (CGU) was $25M and, accordingly, the Group recognised a pre-tax 

impairment expense of $90M with the total assets available for impairment written down to nil.  

 

Impairment assessment of Utah Point 

An indicator of impairment was identified due to a re-estimation of ore that is available to be mined at current 

forecast consensus prices and increased operating costs. MinRes determined that the recoverable amount of 

the CGU exceeded the carrying amount by approximately $167M. Therefore, no impairment expense was 

recognised. 

 

Impairment assessment of Bald Hill 

An indicator of impairment was identified due to a decline in the current short-term forecast consensus prices 

relative to the remaining mine life. MinRes determined that the recoverable amount of the CGU exceeded the 

carrying amount by approximately $26M. Therefore, no impairment expense was recognised. 

 

Impairment assessment of Lucky Bay Garnet 

Indicators of impairment were identified due to a re-estimation of the Mineral Resource that is available to be 

mined at current forecast consensus prices and increased operating costs. MinRes determined that the 

recoverable amount of the CGU exceeded the carrying amount by approximately $93M. Therefore, no 

impairment expense was recognised. 

 

 
13 ASX Announcement 19 June 2024. 
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Recognition and measurement  

Impairment testing is performed for all non-financial assets where there is an indication that an asset may be 

impaired. If an asset does not generate independent cash inflows and its value in use cannot be estimated to 

be close to its fair value, the asset is tested for impairment as part of the CGU to which it belongs.  

The CGU is the smallest identifiable group of assets that generates cash inflows that are largely independent of 

the cash inflows from other assets or groups of assets. The Group’s CGUs are comprised of Wodgina Lithium, Mt 

Marion Lithium, Bald Hill Lithium, Onslow Iron Ore, Yilgarn Iron Ore, Utah Point Iron Ore, Lucky Bay Garnet and 

various individual assets within Mining Services. 

If the carrying amount of the CGU exceeds its recoverable amount, the CGU is written down to its recoverable 

amount (i.e. the carrying amount is impaired) and an impairment expense is recognised in the Consolidated 

Income Statement. The carrying amount in the balance sheet is likewise reduced to its recoverable amount.  

There were no reversals of impairment in the current or prior financial year.  

How recoverable amount is calculated  

The recoverable amount of each CGU is determined based on the higher of its fair value less cost of disposal 

(FVLCD) and its value in use (VIU).  

FVLCD is an estimate of the amount that a market participant would pay for an asset or CGU, less the cost of 

disposal. In determining FVLCD of ore reserves and mineral resources, recent market transactions (where 

available) are considered. If no such transactions can be identified, an appropriate valuation model is used. 

These calculations are corroborated by valuation multiples, quoted share prices for publicly traded companies, 

or other available fair value indicators. 

For mine properties and exploration and evaluation assets, FVLCD is determined using independent market inputs 

to calculate the present value of the estimated future post-tax cash flows expected to arise from the continued 

use of the asset, including the anticipated cash flow effects of any capital expenditure to enhance production 

or reduce cost, and its cost of disposal.  

VIU is determined as the present value of the estimated future cash flows expected to arise from the continued 

operation of the asset in its current form and includes cost associated with its closure. VIU is determined by 

applying assumptions specific to the Group’s continued use and does not consider future development.  

Key assumptions used to determine recoverable amount 

The table below summarises the key assumptions used in the assessment of the recoverable amount under the 

VIU method:  

 

 
Yilgarn Utah Point 

Lucky Bay 

Garnet 

Average 62% Fe Iron Ore (CFR China US$/dmt)  105.66 93.67 N/A 

Average price Garnet ($/dmt FOB Base Price) N/A N/A 372.54 

Average A$:US$ foreign exchange rate 0.68 0.71 0.70 

Ore to be mined (Mwmt)1 2.9 36.9 203.9 

All-in cash cost ($/wmt)2 109.79 93.03 245.99 

Discount rate 9.20% 9.20% 10.50% 
1 Ore to be mined is derived from regularised resource model conversion and the application of tonnage and grade modifying factors. Final 

outcomes and economic limits are defined through a value maximising pit optimisation and strategic mine planning process. 
2 All-in cash cost per tonne is calculated on a stand-alone CGU basis and therefore, will not align to reported guidance. 
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The table below summarises the key assumptions used in the assessment of the recoverable amount under the 

FVLCD method: 

 

 Bald Hill 

Average 6% Li2O spodumene concentrate (CIF China US$/dmt)  1,439 

Average A$:US$ foreign exchange rate 0.70 

All-in cash cost ($/dmt)1 1,041 

Discount rate 9.40% 

1 All-in cash cost per tonne is calculated on a stand-alone CGU basis and therefore, will not align to reported guidance. 

 

Sensitivity analysis  

Yilgarn  

It is considered that there are no reasonably possible changes in the key assumptions underpinning the 

recoverable amounts that, in isolation, would result in a material change to the impairment expense recognised 

for the Yilgarn CGU.  

Utah Point 

It is considered that there are no reasonably possible changes in the key assumptions underpinning the 

recoverable amounts that, in isolation, would result in the recoverable amount being equal to the carrying value.  

Bald Hill 

The Bald Hill recoverable value was determined under the FVLCD method utilising discounted cash flow (DCF) 

techniques for Mineral Reserve, and a market-based approach using a resource multiple for Mineral Resources 

exclusive of Mineral Reserves (level 3 in the fair value hierarchy). The DCF model applied a post-tax real discount 

rate of 9.4 per cent. 

The below movements in assumptions would, in isolation, result in the recoverable value being equal to the 

carrying value: 

• A five per cent decrease in the forecast price assumptions. 

• A five per cent increase in the forecast foreign exchange rate assumptions. 

• A 7.5 per cent increase in the forecast operating cost assumptions. 

Typically, changes in any of the assumptions mentioned above would be accompanied by a change in another 

assumption, which may have an offsetting impact. Action is usually taken to respond to adverse changes in 

assumptions to mitigate the impact of any such change.  

It is considered that there are no reasonably possible changes in other key assumptions underpinning the 

recoverable amount that, in isolation, would result in the recoverable amount being equal to the carrying value. 

Lucky Bay Garnet 

The Lucky Bay Garnet recoverable value was determined under the VIU method. A decrease in the revenue 

assumptions more than five per cent may result in impairment.  
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Key judgements and estimates: Impairment of non-financial assets 

 

Judgements  

Determination of CGUs  

Judgement is applied to identify the Group’s CGUs, particularly when assets belong to integrated operations. 

A key judgement was applied in identifying Koolyanobbing, Carina, Parker Range and Windarling  as a single 

CGU (Yilgarn hub). As a result of blending of ore stock to achieve a marketable grade and purity, this hub 

generates cash inflows as an integrated operation.  

Estimates 

The future recoverability of capitalised mine properties and plant and equipment is dependent on a number 

of key factors including commodity price assumptions, the level of proved and probable reserves and 

measured, indicated and inferred mineral resources, cash outflows including production forecasts, operating 

costs and capital requirements, based on the CGU latest life-of-mine plans.  

Determination of ore to be mined 

The determination of ore to be mined impacts the accounting for asset carrying values, depreciation and 

amortisation rates, deferred stripping costs and provisions for decommissioning and restoration. There are 

numerous uncertainties inherent in estimating ore to be mined and assumptions that are valid at the time of 

estimation which may change significantly when new information becomes available. Changes in the 

forecast prices of commodities, exchange rates, production costs or recovery rates may change the 

economic status of ore to be mined. 

Foreign exchange rates 

Foreign exchange rates are estimated with reference to external market forecasts based on a broker 

consensus view.  

Commodity prices 

Iron ore and lithium prices are estimated with reference to external market forecasts based on a broker 

consensus view. Garnet prices are estimated with reference to existing market pricing. 

Operating and capital costs 

Life-of-mine operating and capital cost assumptions are based on life-of-mine budget.  

Discount rates 

The Group uses real post-tax discount rates applied to real post-tax cashflows. The discount rates are derived 

using the weighted average cost of capital methodology. Adjustments to the rates are made for any risks 

that are not reflected in the underlying cashflows that are specific to the CGU. 

Climate change 

The transition to a low carbon economy and the achievement of net zero carbon emissions can impact asset 

performance. The demand for the Group’s commodities may change as a result of policy, regulatory, 

technology, legal and market changes and societal responses to climate change. Cash flow forecasts used 

as the basis for impairment testing include asset specific risks, including climate-related risks, and therefore 

the Group does not include a separate climate-related risk adjustment in the discount rate applied. VIU 

calculations consider carbon price assumptions over the life-of-mine. 

Due to the short remaining life-of-mine of the Yilgarn CGU, climate change and net zero carbon emissions 

targets are not anticipated to have a significant impact on the project and its expected cash flows. Refer to 

note 2 for more information on climate change and related matters. 

 

Previously recognised impairment – FY23 

In the previous financial year, an impairment expense of $788M was recognised which represented the write-

down of property, plant and equipment and mine properties at Yilgarn and Utah Point ($787M) and intangibles 

($1M). 
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17. TRADE AND OTHER PAYABLES 

 Group 

 2024 

$M 

2023 

$M 

Current   

Trade payables and accruals 1,700 821 

Contract liability (note 4) 84 30 

 1,784 851 

   

Non-current    

Trade payables and accruals 37 - 

Contract liability (note 4) - 65 

Customer prepayment 600 - 

 637 65 

 

Refer to note 23 for further information on financial instruments.  

In June 2024, the Group received a customer prepayment of US$400M ($600M) for delivery of iron ore over FY26-

28. Under the prepayment arrangement, the Group retains full exposure to iron ore prices for product sales. The 

prepayment is classified as a financial liability due to the existence of contingent settlement provisions in the 

contract and is carried at amortised cost.  
 

Accounting policy for trade payables and accruals 

Trade and other payables are initially recognised at fair value and subsequently measured at amortised cost 

using the effective interest rate method. 

Trade payables are non-interest bearing and are normally settled on 30-day terms. Due to the short-term nature 

of these payables, their carrying value approximates their fair value.  

The Group consider that the carrying value of non-current trade and other payables approximates to their fair 

value.  
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18. BORROWINGS 

 Group 

 
2024 

$M 

2023 

$M 

Current   

Senior unsecured notes (i - iv) 79 41 

Loan facility (v) 16 - 

Lease liabilities 12 95 

Financing liabilities (vi) 137 - 

Other borrowings 11 - 

 255 136 

Non-current   

Senior unsecured notes (i - iv) 4,574 2,941 

Less: transaction costs (44) (24) 

Loan facility (v) 109 - 

Lease liabilities 57 222 

Financing liabilities (vi) 385 - 

 5,081 3,139 

 

(i)  US$700M senior unsecured notes offering due 2027, at an interest rate of 8.125 per cent per annum. 

(ii) US$625M senior unsecured notes offering due 2027, at an interest rate of 8.000 per cent per annum. 
(iii) US$625M senior unsecured notes offering due 2030, at an interest rate of 8.500 per cent per annum. 

(iv) US$1.1bn senior unsecured notes offering, issued October 2023, due 2028, at an interest rate of 9.250 per cent per annum. 

(v) Loan facilities relate to a variety of loan arrangements which are due to be repaid over the next 5 to 7 years. Interest rates are floating and 

are determined with reference to either the Secured Overnight Financing Rate or the Bank Bill Swap Bid Rate, plus a margin.  

(vi) Hire purchase agreements to finance mobile equipment post-acquisition, repayable over the next 2 to 5 years at interest rates of between 

1.69 to 7.54 per cent per annum.  

 

As at 30 June 2024, MinRes had access to undrawn debt facilities of $1,925M (30 June 2023: $400M). 

 

Refer to note 23 for further information on financial instruments including the maturity analysis of lease liabilities.

  

Accounting policy for borrowings 

Loans and borrowings 

Loans and borrowings are initially recognised at the fair value of the consideration received, net of transaction 

costs. They are subsequently measured at amortised cost using the effective interest method. 

Where there is an unconditional right to defer settlement of the liability for at least 12 months after the reporting 

date, the loans or borrowings are classified as non-current. 
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Lease liabilities – Group as lessee 

A lease liability is recognised at the commencement date of a lease. The lease liability is initially recognised at 

the present value of the lease payments to be made over the term of the lease, discounted using the interest 

rate implicit in the lease or, if that rate cannot be readily determined, the Group’s incremental borrowing rate.  

Lease payments are comprised of fixed payments less any lease incentives receivable, variable lease payments 

that depend on an index or a rate, amounts expected to be paid under residual value guarantees, exercise 

price of a purchase option when the exercise of the option is reasonably certain to occur, and any anticipated 

termination penalties. The variable lease payments that do not depend on an index or a rate are expensed in 

the period in which they are incurred. 

Lease liabilities are measured at amortised cost using the effective interest method. The carrying amounts are 

remeasured if there is a change in the following: future lease payments arising from a change in an index or a 

rate used; residual guarantee; lease term; certainty of a purchase option and termination penalties.  

When a lease liability is remeasured, an adjustment is made to the corresponding right-of use asset, or to the 

Consolidated Income Statement if the carrying amount of the Right-of-use asset is fully written down. The lease 

liabilities are effectively secured against the Right-of-use assets and revert to the lessor in the event of default. 

The Group applies the short-term lease recognition exemption allowed under the Accounting Standards to leases 

with a term of less than 12 months from commencement date. The Group also applies the low-value assets 

recognition exemption to leases that are considered to be low value. Lease payments for short-term and low-

value leases are expensed on a straight-line basis over the lease term. 

 

19. EMPLOYEE BENEFITS 

 Group 

 2024 

$M 

2023 

$M 

Current   

Employee benefits 269 114 

   

Non-current   

Employee benefits 9 4 

 

The current provision includes amounts for vested long service leave for which the Group does not have an 

unconditional right to defer settlement, regardless of when the actual settlement is expected to occur. Based on 

past experience the Group does not expect all employees to take the full amount of accrued leave or require 

payment within the next 12 months. 
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20. PROVISIONS 

 Group 

 2024 

$M 

2023 

$M 

Current   

Project closure 38 16 

Site rehabilitation 62 56 

Other 40 - 

 140 72 

   

Non-current   

Project closure 7 16 

Site rehabilitation 448 296 

Other 4 4 

 459 316 

 

Movements in provisions 

Movements in each class of provision during the current financial year, other than employee benefits, are set 

out below: 

 
Project 

closure 

Site 

rehabilitation 
Other 

 

Total 

Group – 2024 $M $M $M $M 

Carrying amount at the start of the year 32 352 4 388 

Additional provisions recognised 17 169 102 288 

Amounts used - (18) (62) (80) 

Unused provisions reversed (5) (1) - (6) 

Unwind of discount 1 8 - 9 

Carrying amount at the end of the year 45 510 44 599 

Accounting policy for provisions 

The amount recognised as a provision is the best estimate of the consideration required to settle the present 

obligation at the reporting date, taking into account the risks and uncertainties surrounding the obligation. If the 

time value of money is material, provisions are discounted using a current pre-tax rate specific to the liability. The 

discount rate does not reflect risks for which future cash flow estimates have been adjusted.  

 

The increase in the provision resulting from the passage of time is recognised as a finance cost. 
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Key estimate: Site rehabilitation provisions 

In accordance with the Group’s legal requirements, provision is made for the anticipated costs of future 

restoration and rehabilitation of areas from which natural resources have been extracted.  

The provision includes costs associated with dismantling of assets, reclamation, plant closure, waste site closure, 

monitoring, demolition and decontamination are recognised at the time that environmental disturbance 

occurs.  

The Group considers the impact of climate change as part of the project closure process, including in relation 

to the potential impact on remediation of environmental damage, and the potential for increasing costs due 

to climate-related legislation becoming more onerous in the future. 

Rehabilitation provisions are initially measured at the expected value of future cash flows require to rehabilitate 

the relevant site, discounted to their present value using Australian government bond market yields that match, 

as closely as possible, the timing of the estimated future cash outflows.  

Recognition and measurement of rehabilitation provision requires the use of significant estimates, including but 

not limited to applicable discount rates, timing of cash flows, closure of operations and costs associated with 

rehabilitation activities. 

Key estimates used fall into the following ranges: 

• Inflation rate: 2.5 per cent as of 30 June 2024 (2023: 3.0 per cent). 

• Discount rate: Ranging from 4.07 per cent to 4.80 per cent as of 30 June 2024 (2023: 3.99 per cent to  

4.46 per cent). 

• Period of discounting applied in line with timing of expected rehabilitation ranging from less than one to  

43 years. 

• Majority of rehabilitation expenditure is expected to be concentrated in years 19-26 (2023: 20-26 years). 

 

The liability is remeasured to account for any new disturbance, updated cost estimates, inflation and revised 

discount rates. Changes to the provision are added to or deducted from the related asset and amortised 

accordingly. The restoration provision is separated into current (i.e. estimated costs that are expected to arise 

within 12 months) and non-current (estimated costs that are expected to arise after 12 months) components 

based on the expected timing of these cash flows. 

 

Key estimate: Project closure 

At the completion of some projects, the Group has a liability for redundancy and the cost of relocating crushing 

and other mobile plant. An assessment is undertaken on the probability that such expenses will be incurred in 

the normal course of business for contracting services and is provided for in the financial statements. 
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21. ISSUED CAPITAL 

 Group 

 2024 

Number 

2023 

Number 

2024 

$M 

2023 

$M 

Ordinary shares – issued and fully paid 195,948,655 194,480,644 1,049 969 

Less: Treasury shares (Employee Share 

Plans) 
(1,511,885) (1,494,631) (95) (82) 

 194,436,770 192,986,013 954 887 

 

Movements in issued capital 

 

  

(i) The assets acquired were tenements and related mining information. Given the status of these tenements, being early-stage exploration 

with limited geological knowledge, there is insufficient information to reliably estimate their fair value. Consequently, the transaction is 

valued at the fair value of the MinRes ordinary shares issued as at the transaction date. 

 

Details 
Ordinary  

shares 

Less:  

Treasury shares 
Total 

 

 Number Number Number 

Balance at 30 June 2022 189,201,267 (1,091,931) 188,109,336 

Shares issued under Dividend Reinvestment Plan 269,826 - 269,826 

Purchase of shares under employee share plans - (47,263) (47,263) 

Shares issued under employee share plans 690,243 (690,243) - 

Employee share plan rights exercised - 334,806 334,806 

Shares issued on acquisition of Norwest Energy NL 4,319,308 - 4,319,308 

    

Balance at 30 June 2023 194,480,644 (1,494,631) 192,986,013 

Shares issued under Dividend Reinvestment Plan 77,755 - 77,755 

Shares issued under employee share plans 735,225 (735,225) - 

Employee share plan rights exercised - 717,971 717,971 

Shares issued for Tenements (i) 655,031 - 655,031 

Balance at 30 June 2024 195,948,655 (1,511,885) 194,436,770 

Details 
Ordinary  

shares 

Less:  

Treasury shares 
Total 

 $M $M $M 

Balance at 30 June 2022 558 (54) 504 

Shares issued under Dividend Reinvestment Plan 19 - 19 

Purchase of shares under employee share plans - (2) (2) 

Shares issued under employee share plans 43 (43) - 

Employee shares vested (11) 17 6 

Shares issued on acquisition of Norwest Energy NL 360 - 360 

    

Balance at 30 June 2023 969 (82) 887 

Shares issued under Dividend Reinvestment Plan 5 - 5 

Shares issued under employee share plans 53 (53) - 

Employee shares vested (26) 40 14 

Shares issued for Tenements (i) 48 - 48 

Balance at 30 June 2024 1,049 (95) 954 
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Every member present at a meeting in person or by proxy has one vote and upon a poll each share shall have 

one vote. 

Incremental costs directly attributable to the issue of new shares are shown in equity as a deduction, net of tax, 

from the proceeds. 

Treasury shares 

Movements in treasury shares represent the acquisition of the Company’s shares on market and, from FY23, the 

subscription for new shares, which are anticipated to be allocated to the Company’s employees (other than 

Non-Executive Directors) from the exercise of rights under employee share-based payment plans.  

Shares, required to settle the portion of Directors Fees payable via the allocation of Company shares, continue 

to be purchased on market. Following approval by shareholders at the Annual General Meeting held in 

November 2023, shares required to settle the MD’s entitlements for FY24 and FY25 under the various incentive 

plans to the MD, were (for FY24) and will be (for FY25) acquired via a fresh issue of shares.  

Approval for the issue of shares for this purpose for FY26 will be sought again at the 2024 Annual General Meeting, 

and prospectively at each Annual General Meeting going forward. 

 

22. DIVIDENDS 

 2024 2023 

 
Dividend  

per share 
Total 

Dividend  

per share 
Total 

 Cents $M Cents $M 

Declared during the year     

Final franked dividend for the year ended 30 June 

2023 (2023: 30 June 2022) 
70.00 136 100.00 188 

Interim franked dividend for the year ended 30 

June 2024 (2023: 30 June 2023) 
20.00 39 120.00 230 

 90.00 175 220.00 418 

Declared since the end of the financial year     

Final franked dividend for the year ended 30 June 

2024 (2023: 30 June 2023) 
- - 70.00 136 

 

 Group 

 2024 

$M 

2023 

$M 

Franking credits available for subsequent financial years based on a tax rate 

of 30% 
804        900 

 
The above amounts represent the balance of the franking account as at the end of the financial year, adjusted 

for franking credits that will arise from the payment of the amount of the provision for income tax at the reporting 

date. 
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23. FINANCIAL INSTRUMENTS 

(a) Capital risk management 

The Group's objective when managing capital is to safeguard its ability to continue as a going concern so that it 

can provide returns for shareholders and benefits for other stakeholders, while maintaining an optimum capital 

structure to reduce the cost of capital. 

To maintain or adjust the capital structure, the Group may adjust the amount of dividends paid to shareholders, 

return capital to shareholders, issue new shares or sell assets to reduce debt. 

The Group may look to raise capital when an opportunity to invest in a business or company is seen as value 

adding relative to the current share price at the time of the investment. The Group is pursuing additional 

investments in the short term as it continues to integrate and grow its existing businesses to maximise operating 

synergies and/or meet its strategic objectives. 

The Group is subject to certain financing arrangement covenants. Meeting the requirements of these covenants 

is given priority in all capital risk management decisions. There have been no events of default on financing 

arrangement covenants during the financial year (and none in the prior year). 

The capital risk management policy is unchanged from the prior year.  

Gearing ratio at the reporting date is as follows: 

 Group 

 2024 

$M 

2023 

$M 

Current liabilities – borrowings (note 18) 255 136 

Non-current liabilities – borrowings (note 18) 5,081 3,139 

Total borrowings 5,336 3,275 

Current assets – cash and cash equivalents (note 9) (908)  (1,379) 

Debt, net of cash and cash equivalents 4,428 1,896 

Total equity 3,584 3,522 

Total capital 8,012 5,418 

   

Gearing ratio 55% 35% 

 

(b) Financial risk management objectives 

The Group's activities expose it to a variety of financial risks such as market risk (including foreign currency risk, 

price risk and interest rate risk) credit risk and liquidity risk. The Group's overall risk management program focuses 

on the unpredictability of financial markets and seeks to minimise potential adverse effects on the financial 

performance of the Group. The Group uses derivative financial instruments such as forward foreign exchange 

contracts to manage certain risk exposures. 

Derivatives are exclusively used for hedging and risk management purposes, i.e. not as trading or other 

speculative instruments. The Group uses different methods to measure different types of risk to which it is exposed. 

These methods include sensitivity analysis in the case of interest rates, foreign exchange and other price risks, 

ageing analysis for credit risk and beta analysis in respect of investment portfolios to determine market risk. 

Risk management is carried out by senior finance executives (Finance) under policies approved by the Board of 

Directors (the Board). These policies include identification and analysis of the risk exposure of the Group and 

appropriate procedures, controls and risk limits (refer the Risk Management section of the Operations and 

Financial Review in the Directors’ Report on page 8). Finance identifies, evaluates and hedges financial risks within 

the Group's operating units. Finance reports relevant matters to the Board/Board Committees via various reports 

on at least a quarterly basis.  
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(c) Market risk 

Foreign currency risk 

The Group undertakes transactions denominated in foreign currency and is exposed to foreign currency risk 

through foreign exchange rate fluctuations. 

Foreign exchange risk arises from future commercial transactions and recognised financial assets and financial 

liabilities denominated in a currency that is not the entity's functional currency. The risk is measured using sensitivity 

analysis and cash flow forecasting. 

The Group enters into forward exchange contracts to buy and sell specified amounts of foreign currencies in the 

future at stipulated exchange rates. The objective in entering the forward exchange contracts is to protect the 

Group against unfavourable exchange rate movements for both the contracted and anticipated capital 

expenditure undertaken in foreign currencies. Certain of these foreign exchange forward contracts are 

designated as hedging instruments. 

The carrying amount of the Group's foreign currency denominated financial assets and financial liabilities at the 

reporting date were as follows: 

 2024 2023 

Group 
Assets 

$M 

Liabilities 

$M 

Assets 

$M 

Liabilities 

$M 

US$ denominated 759  5,621  825 3,029 

 

The following table demonstrates the sensitivity of these foreign currency denominated financial assets and 

financial liabilities to a weakening/strengthening in the Australian dollar, with all other variables held constant.  

The impact on the Group’s profit before tax is due to changes in the carrying value of monetary assets and 

liabilities and the fair value of non-designated foreign currency derivatives. The impact on the Group’s pre-tax 

equity also includes the impact of changes in the fair value of forward exchange contracts designated as cash 

flow hedges. 

  2024 2023 

 

AUD strengthened/ 

(weakened) 

% 

Profit before tax 

higher/(lower) 

$M 

Equity 

higher/(lower) 

$M 

Profit before tax 

higher/(lower) 

$M 

Equity 

higher/(lower) 

$M 

US$ denominated +5% 232 231  105 105 

US$ denominated  -5% (256) (256) (116) (116) 

  

Commodity price risk 

The table below summarises the impact on profit before tax for changes in commodity prices on the fair value of 

derivative financial instruments and trade receivables (open shipments subject to provisional pricing).  

The analysis assumes that the iron ore price moves 10% with all other variables held constant. Reasonably possible 

movements in commodity prices were determined based on a review of the last two years’ historical prices and 

economic forecasts. 

  2024 2023 

 

Change in 

price 

% 

Profit before tax 

higher/(lower) 

$M 

Equity 

higher/(lower) 

$M 

Profit before tax 

higher/(lower) 

$M 

Equity 

higher/(lower) 

$M 

Iron Ore +10% 32 32 33 33 

Iron Ore1 -10% (19) (19) (33) (33) 
1 The Group has a commodity derivative (see note 12) in place which creates a partial floor and ceiling to pricing exposure. At year end the 

iron ore price is closer to the lower end of the range so only the floor is within this sensitivity analysis range, thus limiting the downside exposure, 

while not impacting the upside exposure for a 10% change in price. 
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Equity price risk 

The Group’s investments in listed equity securities are susceptible to market price risk arising from uncertainties 

relating to future values of the investments’ securities. The Board reviews and approves all material equity 

investment decisions. 

At the reporting date, the Group’s exposure to listed equity securities at fair value (note 13) was $110M (2023: 

$206M). A decrease of 10 per cent (2023: 10 per cent) on the share prices could have an impact of approximately 

$11M (2023: $20M) on the net profit or loss before tax attributable to the Group. 

Interest rate risk 

The Group's exposure to the risk of changes in market interest rates relates primarily to the Group’s financial 

instruments that have variable interest rates. As at the reporting date, the majority of the Group’s exposure to 

interest rate risk on its variable rate financial instruments is as follows: 

 2024 2023 

Group 

Weighted 

average 

 interest rate % 

Balance 

$M 

Weighted 

average  

interest rate % 

Balance 

$M 

Cash at bank and on hand 4.55% 908 4.22% 1,375 

Loan receivable 7.13% 407 - - 

Net exposure to cash flow interest rate risk  1,315  1,375 
   
 

The Group has considered sensitivity relating to exposure to interest rate risk at reporting date. An 

increase/decrease in interest rate of 100 (2023: 100) basis points would have a favourable/adverse effect on the 

profit before tax of $13M (2023: $14M) per annum. 

 

(d) Credit risk 

Nature of the risk 

Credit risk refers to the risk that a counterparty will default on its contractual obligations resulting in financial loss 

to the Group. The Group's exposure to financial position credit risk relates to the carrying amounts of its financial 

assets; primarily from customer receivables from operating activities, deposits with financial instruments from 

financing activities, and loans receivable.  

Credit risk management: trade receivables and contract assets 

The Group has a strict policy for extending credit to customers, including obtaining credit agency information, 

confirming references and setting appropriate credit limits. The Group obtains guarantees, and arranges credit 

insurance where appropriate, to mitigate credit risk, and obtains letters of credit to mitigate credit risk for 

commodity sales. 

The maximum exposure to credit risk at the reporting date to trade receivables and contract assets is the carrying 

amount, net of any allowances for credit losses, as disclosed in the balance sheet and notes to the financial 

statements. The Group does not hold any collateral (such as listed or unlisted shares) as security for credit risk. 

In monitoring customer credit risk, customers are grouped according to their credit characteristics and 

counterparty credit risk type, including whether they arise from commodity sales, crushing and processing services 

or construction contracts, and the existence of previous financial difficulties.  
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The Group's exposure to credit risk for trade receivables and contract assets by counterparty type as at the 

reporting date was as follows: 

 Group 

 2024 

$M 

2023 

$M 

Commodity sale customers 585 448 

Crushing and processing services customers 96 94 

Other mining services 31 14 

Other 134 102 

 846 658 

 

The Group uses an allowance matrix to measure the ECLs of trade receivables based on shared credit risk 

characteristics and days past due. At 30 June 2024, the Group had $143M (2023: $94M) of trade receivables past 

due. 

These past due receivables substantially relate to customers for whom there is no history of default. On this basis, 

the resulting allowance for credit losses on trade receivables is low; refer to note 10. 

At 30 June 2024, the carrying amount of receivables and contract assets for the Group's three major customers 

(iron ore and lithium commodity sale customers) (2023: five commodity sale customers) totalled $306M (2023: 

$258M). 

The Group has no customers who are credit-impaired at the reporting date. 

Credit risk management: cash deposits and derivatives 

The credit risk on liquid funds and derivative financial instruments is limited, as the counterparties are typically 

Australian banks with a credit rating of at least AA (S&P Global) (FY23: AA) or A3 (Moody’s) (FY23: A3). 

Credit risk management: loan receivables and other financial assets 

Lending to external parties may be provided; secured by acceptable collateral as defined in the Group’s credit 

policy and by business unit procedures.  

The Group restricts its dealings to counterparties that have acceptable internal credit assessments. Should the 

rating of a counterparty fall below certain levels, Group policy dictates that approval by the Board is required to 

maintain the level of the counterparty exposure.  

Alternatively, management may consider closing out positions with the counterparty or novating open positions 

to another counterparty with acceptable credit ratings. 

The Group uses the General Approach to calculate ECLs for loan receivables with a term of more than 12 months. 

As explained in note 10, this ECL is measured as an allowance equal to 12-month ECL unless there has been a 

significant increase in credit risk since initial recognition. In assessing whether the credit risk of a loan receivable 

has significantly increased, the Group takes into account qualitative and quantitative reasonable and 

supportable forward-looking information. In particular, the following information is taken into account when 

assessing whether credit risk has increased significantly since initial recognition: 

• An actual or expected significant deterioration in the financial instrument’s internal credit rating. 

• Existing or forecast adverse changes in business, financial or economic conditions that are expected to cause 

a significant decrease in the debtor’s ability to meet its debt obligations.  

• An actual or expected significant deterioration in the operating results of the debtor.  

• An actual or expected significant adverse change in the regulatory, economic, or technological 

environment of the debtor that results in a significant decrease in the debtor’s ability to meet its debt 

obligations. 

With respect to the non-current loans receivable at 30 June 2024, the Group determined that there has not been 

a significant increase in credit risk since initial recognition of the loans. ECL’s are based on a 12-month ECL (Stage 

1 of the General Approach). As the loss given default is not expected to be significant, no allowance account 

for ECL’s has been recognised at the balance sheet date. 
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(e) Liquidity risk 

Vigilant liquidity risk management requires the Group to maintain sufficient liquid assets (mainly cash and cash 

equivalents) and available borrowing facilities to be able to pay debts as and when they become due and 

payable. 

The Group manages liquidity risk by maintaining adequate cash reserves and available borrowing facilities by 

continuously monitoring actual and forecast cash flows and matching the maturity profiles of financial assets and 

liabilities. 

Financing arrangements 

Unrestricted access was available at the reporting date to the following lines of credit: 

 Group 

 
2024 

$M 

2023 

$M 

Total facilities   

Senior unsecured notes 4,652 2,982  

Loan facility1 262 - 

Lease liability 69 317  

Financing liability2 884 - 

Bridging facility 1,125 - 

Revolving credit facility 800 400 

Bank overdraft3 - 4 

Bank guarantees 65 40  

 7,857 3,743 

Used at the reporting date   

Senior unsecured notes 4,652 2,982  

Loan Facility1 125  -  

Lease liability 69 317  

Financing liability2 522 - 

Bridging facility - - 

Revolving credit facility - - 

Bank overdraft3 -  - 

Bank guarantees 42 32  

 5,410 3,331 

Unused at the reporting date   

Senior unsecured notes -  -  

Loan facility1 137 - 

Lease liability -  - 

Financing liability2 362 - 

Bridging facility 1,125 - 

Revolving credit facility 800 400 

Bank overdraft3 - 4  

Bank guarantees 23 8 

 2,447 412 
1 The loan facility is a club facility that includes a number of separate secured loan facilities under a single common terms deed. 
2 In order to finance various qualifying assets such as mobile mining assets post-acquisition, the Company obtains funding via hire purchase 

agreements. The Company’s hire purchase liabilities are limited by the conditions of both the loan facility and senior unsecured notes to the 

greater of $430M and 10 per cent of the total assets less cash of the borrower group. 
3 The bank overdraft facilities may be drawn at any time and may be terminated by the bank without notice. 
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Remaining contractual maturities 

The following tables detail the Group's remaining contractual maturity for its financial instrument liabilities. The 

tables have been drawn up based on the undiscounted cash flows of financial liabilities based on the earliest 

date on which the financial liabilities are required to be paid.  

The tables include both interest and principal cash flows disclosed as remaining contractual maturities and 

therefore these totals may differ from their carrying amount in the balance sheet. 

 
1 year  

or less 

Between 1 

and 2 years 

Between 2 

and 5 years 

Over  

5 years 

Remaining 

contractual 

maturities 

Group – 2024 $M $M $M $M $M 

Non-derivatives      

Trade and other payables 1,839 284 440 - 2,563 

Senior unsecured notes 393 393 4,455 1,017 6,258 

Loan facility 20 18 52 46 136 

Lease liability 15 11 30 62 118 

Financing liability 162 152 271 - 585 

Total non-derivatives 2,429 858 5,248 1,125 9,660 

    

 
1 year  

or less 

Between 1 

and 2 years 

Between 2 

and 5 years 

Over  

5 years 

Remaining 

contractual 

maturities 

Group – 2023 $M $M $M $M $M 

Non-derivatives      

Trade and other payables 851 65 - - 916 

Senior unsecured notes 241 241 2,599 1,103 4,184 

Lease liability 110 97 135 15 357 

Total non-derivatives 1,202 403 2,734 1,118 5,457 

 

The cash flows in the maturity analysis above are not expected to occur significantly earlier than contractually 

disclosed above. 
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(f) Fair value of financial instruments 

Carrying value versus fair value 

The following table details a comparison of the carrying amounts and fair value of the Group’s financial 

instruments, other than those carried at fair value or those whose carrying amount are a reasonable 

approximation of fair value: 

 Carrying value Fair value 

Group – 2024 $M $M 

Financial Liabilities   

Senior unsecured notes 4,653 4,817 

   

 Carrying value Fair value 

Group – 2023 $M $M 

Financial Liabilities   

Senior unsecured notes 2,982 3,106 

 

Management has assessed that the fair values of cash and short-term deposits, trade receivables, loan 

receivables, trade payables, bank overdrafts, borrowings and other current liabilities carried at amortised cost 

approximate their carrying amounts.  

Fair value hierarchy 

The following tables detail the Group's assets and liabilities, measured or disclosed at fair value, using a three-

level hierarchy, based on the lowest level of input that is significant to the entire fair value measurement: 

• Level 1: Quoted prices (unadjusted) in active markets for identical assets or liabilities that the entity can 

access at the measurement date. 

• Level 2: Inputs other than quoted prices included within Level 1 that are observable for the asset or liability, 

either directly or indirectly. 

• Level 3: Unobservable inputs for the asset or liability. 
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 Level 1 Level 2 Level 3 Total 

Group – 2024 $M $M $M $M 

Assets     

Financial assets held at fair value through 

profit or loss: 
    

- Trade receivables (subject to provisional 

pricing) (note 10) 
- 51 - 51 

- Shares in listed corporations (note 13) 110 - - 110 

- Investment in unlisted entities (note 13)  - 31 31 

- Foreign exchange forward contracts in 

cash flow hedges (note 12) 
- 4 - 4 

- Commodity option contracts (note 12) - 15 - 15 

Total assets 110 70 31 211 

     

Liabilities     

Financial liabilities for which fair values are 

disclosed: 
    

Senior secured notes (note 23(f)) (4,817) - - (4,817) 

Total liabilities (4,817) - - (4,817) 

     

 Level 1 Level 2 Level 3 Total 

Group – 2023 $M $M $M $M 

Assets     

Financial assets held at fair value through 

profit or loss: 
    

- Trade receivables (subject to provisional 

pricing) (note 10) 
- 88 - 88 

- Shares in listed corporations (note 13) 206 - - 206 

- Commodity option contracts (note 12) - 1 - 1 

Total assets 206 89 - 295 

     

Liabilities         

Financial liabilities held at fair value 

through profit or loss: 
    

- Foreign exchange forward contracts in 

cash flow hedges (note 12) 
- (1) - (1) 

Financial liabilities for which fair values are 

disclosed: 
    

Senior secured notes (note 23(f)) (3,106) - - (3,106) 

Total liabilities (3,106) (1) - (3,107) 

 

The Group’s financial instruments were primarily valued using quoted prices in active markets for identical assets 

and liabilities (level 1) or market observable inputs (level 2).  

For financial instruments that are carried at fair value on a recurring basis, the Group determines whether transfers 

have occurred between levels in the hierarchy by reassessing categorisation (based on the lowest level input 

that is significant to the fair value measurement as a whole) at the end of each reporting period. There were no 

transfers between levels during the year. 
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24. RESTRUCTURED MARBL JV TRANSACTION 

Consistent with MinRes' strategy to expand the Groups' commodity footprint, on 23 February 2023 it entered into 

a binding agreement with Albemarle for a change in ownership structure of their interests in the Wodgina lithium 

mine (Wodgina) and Kemerton lithium hydroxide plant (Kemerton). The agreement included an ownership 

change for the Group’s interest in Wodgina to 50/50 (previously 60/40) and Kemerton to 85/15 (from 60/40).  

Further, on 20 July 2023, MinRes amended the terms of the transaction with Albemarle. The amended agreement 

included an ownership change of the remaining interest in Kemerton, resulting in Albemarle taking full ownership 

of Kemerton in exchange for a cash consideration of US$180M. The agreements included completion payments 

to adjust consideration paid for an economic effective date of 1 April 2022.  

Effective 18 October 2023, MinRes’ share of Wodgina increased to 50 per cent and MinRes disposed of its 40 per 

cent interest in Kemerton.  

Since the acquisition of the additional interest in the joint operation, a total of approximately $126M was 

contributed to revenue. If the additional interest had been held from the beginning of the reporting period, a 

total of approximately $182M would have been recognised as revenue. The profit before tax contribution of the 

additional interest in the joint operation was insignificant. 

Acquisition-date fair values 

The fair values of the proportionate share of identifiable assets acquired and liabilities assumed are as follows:  

 

 

 2024 

$M 

Assets  

Mine development 407 

Property, plant and equipment 55 

Inventories 60 

Trade and other receivables 57 

Total assets 579 

Liabilities  

Trade and other payables (44) 

Provisions (5) 

Total liabilities (49) 

Total identified net assets  530 

  

Gain on acquisition of an additional interest in a joint operation 333 

Total consideration 197 
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Acquisition-date fair value of consideration  

 

 2024 

$M 

Interest in Kemerton 746 

Cash (549) 

 197 

Reconciliation of cash payments 

 

 2024 

$M 

Completion payments 267 

Payment of US$180M for 15% of Kemerton 282 

Cash received as consideration and included in acquisition-date fair value of 

consideration 
549 

Gain on settlement of pre-existing relationship as part of the restructured MARBL 

transaction 
51 

Realised foreign exchange loss (12) 

Proceeds from sale of disposal group 588 

 

The gain on acquisition of an additional interest in a joint operation recognised in Other Income in the 

Consolidated Income Statement is a direct result of the time between the economic effective date (1 April 2022) 

and the transaction completion date (18 October 2023). The completion payments ($267M) adjust the purchase 

price to the 1 April 2022 economic effective date agreed between MinRes and Albemarle. 

Disposal of Kemerton 

Kemerton was classified as a disposal group held for sale in the prior financial year. The Group conducted an 

impairment assessment immediately before its classification as a disposal group held for sale and no impairment 

loss was recognised. By the date of disposal on 18 October 2023, an accumulative loss of $44M had been 

recognised on the remeasurement of the disposal group. 

The Kemerton disposal group did not meet the definition of a discontinued operation. The major categories of 

assets and liabilities within the disposal group at the date Kemerton was classified as a disposal group held for 

sale was as follows:  

 

  2023 

  $M 

Assets   

Trade and other receivables  230 

Property, plant and equipment  458 

Inventories  87 

Total assets  775 

Liabilities   

Trade and other payables  (22) 

Provisions  (5) 

Total liabilities  (27) 

Net assets  748 

The fair value of Kemerton at the date of disposal was determined by independent valuers using an income 

approach applying a DCF valuation model (level 3 in the fair value hierarchy). 
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25. ASSET ACQUISITION 

Consistent with MinRes' strategy to expand the Group’s commodity footprint, MinRes acquired a series of mining 

assets and tenements during the year for total cash consideration of $559M. In addition, MinRes acquired the 

equity of Lithco No.2 Pty Ltd and Tawana Resources Pty Ltd for total cash consideration of $100M.  

The transaction has been accounted for as an asset acquisition, whereby the cost of acquisition, including 

directly attributable transaction costs amounting to $44M, has been allocated to the net assets acquired based 

on their relative fair values at the date of acquisition. The Group has applied the initial recognition exemption in 

AASB 112 Income Taxes to all taxable and deductible temporary differences that existed at the acquisition date. 

The total assets and liabilities acquired included trade receivables and other assets of $4M, inventories of $34M, 

property, plant and equipment of $101M, mine properties and exploration and evaluation assets of $655M, along 

with liabilities of $117M which included rehabilitation provisions, employee provisions, trade creditors and other 

provisions and contingencies.  

For the purposes of allocating the cost of acquisition, the fair value of the assets acquired was determined by 

independent valuers. In this regard, the Life of Mine (LOM) mine property was valued using an income approach 

applying the discounted cash flow method (level 3 in the fair value hierarchy) after adjusting for contributory 

assets, comprising plant, equipment and inventory. The value of the residual mineral resources, being part of the 

mine property acquired but not included in the LOM model, were valued using a market comparison approach 

applying the yardstick method (level 3 in the fair value hierarchy). Plant and equipment was valued using the 

Market approach applying the replacement value method adjusted for condition (level 2 in the fair value 

hierarchy). 

As part of the the acquisition of Lithco No.2 Pty Ltd and Tawana Resources Pty Ltd, the Group indemnified the 

vendor for certain liabilities with an estimated maximum exposure of $203M. A provision of $71M recognised at 

acquisition, which was the best estimate of the liability calculated using an expected value approach, based on 

probability-weighted outcomes. 

The transactions were reclassified as an asset acquisition subsequent to the interim reporting period ended 31 

December 2023. The change in classification from a business combination to an asset acquisition has been 

applied retrospectively to the date of acquisition. This has resulted in the following adjustments to the interim 

financial statements reported for the half year ended 31 December 2023:  

• Estimated transaction costs amounting to $17M ($12M net of tax) expensed in the Consolidated Income 

Statement during the interim period ended 31 December 2023 have been reversed. As an asset acquisition, 

these costs are now included in the total cost of acquisition and have been allocated over the net assets 

acquired. As a result of this adjustment, net profit after tax for the interim period ended 31 December 2023 

attributable to owners of MinRes increased from $537M to $549M. Basic earnings per share has increased by 

6 cents per share to 282 cents per share. Retained profits at 31 December 2023 increased from $2,920M to 

$2,932M. The increase in retained profit is offset by a corresponding increase in total assets.  

• Provisional goodwill of $129M recognised as at 31 December 2023 has been eliminated as the total cost of 

acquisition has been allocated over the net assets acquired as set out above. 

Key judgement: Accounting for asset acquisitions 

The transactions referred to above have been accounted for as an asset acquisition as substantially all the fair 

value of the gross assets acquired was concentrated in a group of similar identifiable assets (known as the 

Concentration Test in AASB 3 Business Combinations). This classification required judgement to be applied with 

respect to the measurement of the fair value of assets acquired, and in determining whether the acquired set 

of assets could be grouped together. In this regard, the Group considered the practicality of operating individual 

assets on a standalone basis without incurring significant cost or loss of utility or value. The Group determined 

that at least 90 per cent of the fair value of the gross assets acquired was concentrated in a group of similar 

identifiable assets.  
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26. CONTINGENT LIABILITIES 

Legal contingencies 

(a) Subiaco lease for corporate headquarters 

In July 2020, the Group terminated the lease agreement for a corporate headquarters in Subiaco. The parties 

have since been in dispute over the validity of the termination. Both parties have alleged that they have incurred 

damages in connection with the disputed lease and the termination. 

The status of the dispute is still preliminary and any potential award of damages against the Group is only possible, 

not probable. Accordingly, no additional provision for liability has been made in these financial statements. 

(b) Validity of Wonmunna mining leases 

Fortescue Metals Group (FMG) commenced legal proceedings against the Minister for Mines and Petroleum, the 

DMIRS Registrar and Wonmunna Iron Ore Pty Ltd (a MinRes subsidiary), seeking declarations that the Wonmunna 

mining leases (M47/1423, M47/1424, M47/1425) are invalid. In its claim, FMG alleges that the Minister did not have 

jurisdiction to grant the mining leases in 2012 as the applications for the mining leases in 2008 were not 

accompanied by mineralisation reports. Wonmunna Iron Ore Pty Ltd denies these claims and is defending the 

action. 

The status of the matter is still preliminary and legal costs or potential claims are only possible, not probable. 

Accordingly, no provision for liability has been made in these financial statements. 

(c) Contingent consideration and royalties 

Contingent Consideration and Royalties relate to payment obligations whose existence will only be confirmed 

by the occurrence or non-occurrence of uncertain future events. The Directors consider it appropriate for these 

payments to be recorded only when the future event occurs, therefore the Group has not provided for such 

amounts in these financial statements. 

(d) Other royalties 

Other royalties are payable to government and non-government parties and are based on production and/or 

future product sales.  

There have been no other material changes or new contingent liabilities since the last annual report. 

Bank guarantees 

The Group has provided bank guarantees to third parties in relation to performance of contracts and against 

warranty obligations for a defects liability period after completion of the work. Defects liability periods are usually 

from 12 to 18 months duration. Bank guarantees are issued as security for these obligations. 

 Group 

 2024 

$M 

2023 

$M 

Bank guarantee facility 65 40 

Amount utilised (42) (32) 

Unused facility 23 8 

 

Key judgement: Accounting for contingent consideration payable on asset acquisitions 

In accounting for the cash component of contingent consideration payable on an asset acquisition, including 

future vendor royalties, the Group considers AASB 137 Provisions, Contingent liabilities and Contingent Assets to 

be the applicable accounting standard where the Group can influence or control the crystallisation of the 

contingent payments. Accordingly, no obligation for the cash component of contingent consideration 

payable dependent on the future actions of the Group is recognised at the date of purchase of the related 

asset. These obligations are subsequently recognised by the Group when incurred. 
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27. COMMITMENTS 

 Group 

 2024 

$M 

2023 

$M 

Capital commitments   

Commitments relating to the purchase of property, plant and equipment 

contracted for at reporting date and not recognised as liabilities, 

payable: 

  

- within one year 839 1,124 

- later than one year but no later than five years 120 227  

- later than five years 2 4  

Total capital commitment 961 1,355 

    

 

28. PARENT ENTITY INFORMATION 

Set out below is the supplementary information about the Parent Entity. 

Income statement 

 Parent 

 
2024 

$M 

2023 

$M 

(Loss)/Profit after tax (108) 331 

Total comprehensive (loss)/income (108) 331 

 

Balance sheet 

 Parent 

 2024 

$M 

2023 

$M 

Total current assets 900 1,169 

Total assets 4,498 5,280 

Total current liabilities 478 395 

Total liabilities 2,673 3,288 

Net assets 1,825 1,992 

Equity   

Issued capital 954 887 

Reserves 101 52 

Retained profits 770 1,053 

Total equity 1,825 1,992 

 

Guarantees entered into by the Parent Entity in relation to the debts of its subsidiaries 

Mineral Resources Limited and certain controlled entities are parties to a Deed of Cross Guarantee.  

Contingent liabilities 

A contingent liability exists in relation to the Parent Entity as at 30 June 2024, regarding a dispute over the 

termination of a lease agreement for a corporate headquarters in Subiaco. Refer to note 26(a) for further details.  

Capital commitments – Property, plant and equipment 

The Parent Entity had capital commitments for property, plant and equipment as at 30 June 2024 of $29M  

(2023: $38M). 
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Significant accounting policies 

The accounting policies of the Parent Entity are consistent with those of the Group, except for the following: 

• Investments in subsidiaries are accounted for at cost, less any impairment, in the Parent Entity.  

• Investments in associates are accounted for at cost, less any impairment, in the Parent Entity. 

• Dividends received from subsidiaries are recognised as other income by the Parent Entity. 
 

29. INTERESTS IN SUBSIDIARIES  

The consolidated financial statements incorporate the assets, liabilities and results of the following subsidiaries 

and subsidiaries included in the Closed Group, in accordance with the accounting policy described in note 1: 

  Ownership Interest 

  2024 2023 

Name Country of incorporation % % 

Aggregate Crushing Australia Pty Ltd2 Australia 51.45% 52.62% 

Ashburton Properties Pty Ltd1 Australia 100.00% 100.00% 

Australian Garnet Pty Ltd2 Australia 64.31% 65.77% 

Auvex Resources Pty Ltd1 Australia 100.00% 100.00% 

Bald Hill Lithium Pty Ltd1 Australia 100.00% 100.00% 

Bauxite Mineral Resources Pty Ltd1 Australia 100.00% 100.00% 

Buckland Minerals Transport Pty Ltd1 Australia 100.00% 100.00% 

Bulk Ore Shuttle Systems Pty Ltd2,3 Australia 50.00% 50.00% 

Bungaroo South Pty Ltd1 Australia 100.00% 100.00% 

Cape Preston Logistics Pty Ltd1 Australia 100.00% 100.00% 

Cattamarra Farms Pty Ltd2 Australia 90.00% 90.00% 

Central Systems Pty Ltd2 Australia 64.31% 65.77% 

Concrete Construction (WA) Pty Ltd2 Australia 64.31% 65.77% 

Crushing Service Solutions Pty Ltd2 Australia 51.45% 52.62% 

Crushing Services International Pty Ltd1 Australia 100.00% 100.00% 

Eclipse Minerals Pty Ltd1 Australia 100.00% 100.00% 

Energy Resources Limited1 New Zealand 100.00% 100.00% 

Everthere Pty Ltd1 Australia 100.00% 100.00% 

Flotar Pty Ltd1,2 Australia 100.00% 90.00% 

G & G Mining Fabrication Pty Ltd1 Australia 100.00% 100.00% 

Graphite Resources Pty Ltd1 Australia 100.00% 100.00% 

Gulf Conveyor Systems (WA) Pty Ltd2 Australia 50.00% 50.00% 

Hedland Iron Pty Ltd1 Australia 100.00% 100.00% 

Hitec Energy Pty Ltd1 Australia 100.00% 100.00% 

Iron Resources Pty Ltd1 Australia 100.00% 100.00% 

Kumina Iron Pty Ltd1 Australia 100.00% 100.00% 

LithCo Lithium (Ningbo) Co Ltd China 100.00% 100.00% 

Lithco No.2 Pty Ltd1 Australia 100.00% - 

Lithium Mineral Resources Pty Ltd1 Australia 100.00% 100.00% 

Lithium Resources Pty Ltd1 Australia 100.00% 100.00% 

Lithium Resources Australia Pty Ltd1 Australia 100.00% 100.00% 

Lithium Resources Investments Pty Ltd1 Australia 100.00% 100.00% 

Lithium Resources Operations Pty Ltd1 Australia 100.00% 100.00% 

Lithium Resources Services Pty Ltd1 Australia 100.00% 100.00% 

Lithium Resources Trading Pty Ltd1 Australia 100.00% 100.00% 

Lithium Resources UK Ltd United Kingdom 100.00% 100.00% 
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  Ownership Interest 

  2024 2023 

Name Country of incorporation % % 

Lithium Resources US Ltd Co United States - 100.00% 

Location 53 Pty Ltd2 Australia 50.00% 50.00% 

Magnetite Mineral Resources Pty Ltd1 Australia 100.00% 100.00% 

Mineral Resources (Equipment) Pty Ltd1 Australia 100.00% 100.00% 

Mineral Resources Rail Pty Ltd1 Australia 100.00% 100.00% 

Mineral Resources Transport Pty Ltd1 Australia 100.00% 100.00% 

Mineral Solutions Australia Pty Ltd2 Australia 51.45% 52.62% 

MinRes Air Aircraft Pty Ltd2, 4 Australia 50.00% - 

MinRes Air Facilities Pty Ltd2, 4 Australia 50.00% - 

MinRes Air Flight Operations Pty Ltd2, 4 Australia 50.00% - 

MinRes Air Holdings Pty Ltd2, 4 Australia 50.00% - 

MinRes Child Care Pty Ltd1 Australia 100.00% 100.00% 

MinRes Engineering & Construction Pty Ltd1 Australia 100.00% 100.00% 

MinRes Health Pty Ltd1 Australia 100.00% 100.00% 

MinRes Iron Ore Pty Ltd1 Australia 100.00% 100.00% 

MinRes Marine Pty Ltd1 Australia 100.00% 100.00% 

MinRes Mining Services Pty Ltd1 Australia 100.00% 100.00% 

MinRes Properties Pty Ltd1 Australia 100.00% 100.00% 

MIS.Carbonart Pty Ltd1 Australia 100.00% 100.00% 

MN Battery Minerals Pty Ltd2 Australia 64.31% 65.77% 

MRL Asset Management Pty Ltd1 Australia 100.00% 100.00% 

MRL Rail Pty Ltd1 Australia 100.00% 100.00% 

Mt Marion Holdings Pty Ltd1 Australia 100.00% 100.00% 

Mt Marion Lithium Management Pty Ltd1 Australia 100.00% 100.00% 

Norwest Energy Pty Ltd1 Australia 100.00% 100.00% 

OIPO Pty Ltd1 Australia 100.00% 100.00% 

Onslow Infraco Pty Ltd1  Australia 100.00% 100.00% 

Onslow Iron Pty Ltd1 Australia 100.00% 100.00% 

Onslow Iron Road Pty Ltd4 Australia 100.00% - 

Onslow Steel Pty Ltd1 Australia 100.00% 100.00% 

Ore Sorting Australia Pty Ltd2 Australia 51.45% 52.62% 

Peloton Resources Pty Ltd2 Australia 64.31% - 

PIHA Pty Ltd1 Australia 100.00% 100.00% 

PIHA (Water) Pty Ltd1 Australia 100.00% 100.00% 

Polaris Metals Pty Ltd1 Australia 100.00% 100.00% 

Process Minerals International Pty Ltd1 Australia 100.00% 100.00% 

RDG Technologies Pty Ltd2 Australia 64.31% 65.77% 

Resource Development Group Limited2 Australia 64.31% 65.77% 

Steelpile Pty Ltd1 Australia 100.00% 100.00% 

Tawana Resources Pty Ltd1 Australia 100.00% - 

Vigor Materials Handling Pty Ltd1 Australia 100.00% 100.00% 

Westranch Holdings Pty Ltd1 Australia 100.00% 100.00% 

Wodgina Lithium Pty Ltd1 Australia 100.00% 100.00% 

Wodgina Lithium Project Services Pty Ltd1 Australia 100.00% 100.00% 

Wonmunna Iron Ore Pty Ltd1 Australia 100.00% 100.00% 

Yilgarn Iron Pty Ltd1 Australia 100.00% 100.00% 
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  Ownership Interest 

  2024 2023 

Name Country of incorporation % % 

Onslow Iron Road Trust4 Australia 100.00% - 

Mineral Resources Employee Share Trust1 Australia 100.00% 100.00% 

ACN 611 494 912 Pty Ltd1 Australia 100.00% 100.00% 

ACN 611 495 268 Pty Ltd1 Australia 100.00% 100.00% 

ACN 616 667 442 Pty Ltd1 Australia 100.00% 100.00% 

ACN 616 677 797 Pty Ltd1 Australia 100.00% 100.00% 

ACN 616 678 249 Pty Ltd1 Australia 100.00% 100.00% 

ACN 625 973 006 Pty Ltd1 Australia 100.00% 100.00% 

ACN 629 923 753 Pty Ltd1 Australia 100.00% 100.00% 

ACN 629 927 911 Pty Ltd1 Australia 100.00% 100.00% 

ACN 632 334 037 Pty Ltd1 Australia 100.00% 100.00% 

ACN 632 334 975 Pty Ltd1 Australia 100.00% 100.00% 

ACN 634 817 244 Pty Ltd1 Australia 100.00% 100.00% 

ACN 634 841 811 Pty Ltd1 Australia 100.00% 100.00% 

ACN 641 843 987 Pty Ltd1 Australia 100.00% 100.00% 

ACN 654 242 690 Pty Ltd1 Australia 100.00% 100.00% 

ACN 665 883 509 Pty Ltd1 Australia 100.00% 100.00% 

ACN 665 973 964 Pty Ltd1 Australia 100.00% 100.00% 

ACN 665 974 292 Pty Ltd1 Australia 100.00% 100.00% 

ACN 669 538 809 Pty Ltd Australia 100.00% 100.00% 

ACN 672 099 384 Pty Ltd1 Australia 100.00% 100.00% 

ACN 673 442 950 Pty Ltd1, 4 Australia 100.00% - 

ACN 673 443 948 Pty Ltd1, 4 Australia 100.00% - 
1 Company in Closed Group for year ended 30 June 2024.  
2 Non-fully owned subsidiaries included are not considered to be material to the Group. 
3 MinRes consolidates this entity on the basis that it has de-facto control over Bulk Ore Shuttle Systems Pty Ltd as it is the single largest shareholder 

and has representation on the board of directors. 
4 Newly incorporated entity for year ended 30 June 2024. 
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30. INVESTMENTS ACCOUNTED FOR USING THE EQUITY METHOD  

  Group 

 Nature of Relationship 
2024 

$M 

2023 

$M 

Aquila Resources Pty Ltd Associate 11 69 

Binding Solutions Ltd Associate 36 - 

Delta Lithium Ltd Associate 44 - 

Essential Metals Ltd Associate - 27 

Northern Gateway Master Trust Joint Venture 17 - 

Other1 Joint Ventures - - 

  108 96 
1 Other includes interests in Reed Advanced Materials Pty Ltd, Alita Resources Ltd and PMWI CSI JV Pty Ltd. 

Information relating to equity accounted investments is set out below: 

  Group 

 
Principal place of business/ 

Country of incorporation 

2024 

% 

2023 

% 

Aquila Resources Pty Ltd1 Australia 15.00% 15.00% 

Binding Solutions Ltd2 United Kingdom 18.50% 0.00% 

Delta Lithium Ltd Australia 22.98% 0.00% 

Essential Metals Ltd Australia 0.00% 19.55% 

Northern Gateway Master Trust3 Australia 49.04% 0.00% 
1 Aquila Resources Ltd is accounted for as an associate as the Group has significant influence primarily through representation on Aquila 

Resource Ltd’s Board of Directors. 
2 Binding Solutions Ltd is accounted for as an associate as the Group has significant influence primarily through representation on Binding 

Solutions Ltd’s Board of Directors. 
3Northern Gateway Master Trust is accounted for as a joint venture. The Group has assessed that it has joint control as a result of the Unitholder 

Agreement which specifies that all relevant activities of the trust require unanimous consent from all unitholders. 

Reconciliation of movements in equity accounted investments: 

 Group 

 2024 

$M 

2023 

$M 

Opening carrying amount 96 103 

Acquisition of ownership interest 87 159 

Disposal of ownership interest (27) - 

Associate becoming subsidiary - (145) 

Transfer from financial asset at fair value through profit or loss (note 13)2 65 - 

Reclassification to loan receivable (58) - 

Elimination of profit on intercompany transactions (3) - 

Impairment (note 6)3 (52) - 

Settlement of liability - (17) 

Share of profit / loss after income tax (note 6)1 - (4) 

Closing carrying amount3 108 96 
1 Based on unaudited financial information at the balance sheet date. 
2 On 12 September 2023 the Group obtained significant influence in Delta Lithium Ltd through representation on Delta Lithium Ltd’s Board of 

Directors. 
3 The Group considered impairment indicators in line with AASB 128 Investments in Associates and Joint Ventures and determined that Delta 

Lithium Ltd was impaired as at 30 June 2024 due to a significant decline in its fair value. The investment was impaired to its fair value as at 30 

June 2024. No impairment indicators were present for the Group’s other equity accounted investments. 
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31. INTERESTS IN JOINT OPERATIONS  

The Group has recognised its share of jointly held assets, liabilities, revenues and expenses of joint operations. 

These have been incorporated in the financial statements under the appropriate classifications. Information 

relating to joint operations that are material to the Group are set out below: 

  Ownership of Interest 

 Nature of relationship 
2024 

% 

2023 

% 

Mt Marion Lithium Pty Ltd1 Joint Operation 50.00% 50.00% 

Red Hill Iron Ore Joint Venture2 Joint Operation 57.00% 40.00% 

MARBL Joint Venture3 Joint Operation 50.00% 40.00% 
 

1 The Group accounts for its interests in Mt Marion Lithium Pty Ltd (MML) as a joint operation. Notwithstanding the legal form, other facts and 

circumstances are substantive and demonstrate that the parties to the arrangement have rights to assets and obligations for the liabilities of the 

separate vehicle. MML is involved in mining lithium in the Goldfields region. The joint operation has strategic significance to the Group by virtue 

of its size. The Group’s interest in MML is brought to account by recognising its 50 per cent share of jointly controlled assets, and its share of 

expenses and liabilities incurred. The Group holds an offtake arrangement with MML, under which the Group is entitled to 51 per cent of total 

production and revenue is recognised by the Group when it sells its production entitlement. The Group also holds separate mining and mining 

services arrangements with MML.  
2 On 30 July 2021, the Group reached an agreement with Red Hill Minerals Limited (ASX: RHI; formerly Red Hill Iron Limited) to acquire RHI’s 40 per 

cent participating interest in the Red Hill Iron Ore Joint Venture (RHIOJV) for a total consideration of $400M, of which $200M was paid in 1H22 

and a further $200M was payable on first shipment of iron ore extracted from the RHIOJV tenements. The RHIOJV is involved in mining iron ore in 

the Pilbara region. The joint operation has strategic significance to the Group by virtue of its size. The Group determined that it has joint control 

of the RHIOJV because the agreements governing the RHIOJV requires unanimous consent from the participants to approve decisions relating 

to the relevant activities of the RHIOJV. 

3 From 18 October 2023, on completion of the restructured MARBL transaction (note 24), the Group accounts for its interest in the MARBL Joint 

Venture (MARBL JV) as a joint operation. The Group previously accounted for its interest in the MARBL JV as an undivided interest in the assets of 

the MARBL JV. MARBL JV is involved in mining lithium in the Pilbara region. The joint operation has strategic significance to the Group by virtue of 

its size. 
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32. DEED OF CROSS GUARANTEE  

Pursuant to ASIC (wholly-owned companies) Instrument 2016/785, certain wholly-owned subsidiaries can be 

relieved from the Corporations Act 2001 requirements for preparation, audit and lodgment of their financial 

reports. As a condition of the Class Order, MinRes and each of the subsidiaries listed in note 29 that opted for relief 

during the year (the Closed Group) entered into a Deed of Cross Guarantee (Deed).  

The effect of the Deed is that MinRes has guaranteed to pay any deficiency in the event of winding up of any of 

the subsidiaries under certain provisions of the Corporations Act 2001. The Subsidiaries have also given a similar 

guarantee in the event that MinRes is wound up. All wholly owned entities as at 30 June 2024 have been included 

in the Closed Group. 

The Consolidated Income Statement, summary of movements in retained earnings/(accumulated losses) and 

Consolidated Balance Sheet of the Closed Group are as follows: 

Consolidated Statement of Profit or Loss and Other Comprehensive Income 

 2024 

$M 

2023 

$M 

Revenue 5,070 3,562 

Other income  27 89 

Expenses excluding net finance costs (4,724) (4,088) 

Net finance costs (205) (201) 

Total taxation benefit 71 161 

Profit after taxation 239 (477) 

Total other comprehensive income 5 (5) 

Total comprehensive income 244 (482) 

Reconciliation of Retained Earnings   

Retained earnings at the beginning of the financial year 2,343 3,238 

Profit after taxation for the year 239 (477) 

Dividends (175) (418) 

Retained earnings at the end of the financial year 2,407 2,343 
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Consolidated Statement of Financial Position 

 
2024 

$M 

2023 

$M 

Assets   

Current assets   

Cash and cash equivalents 877 1,350 

Receivables 957 622 

Inventories 454 583 

Disposal group held for sale - 775 

Other assets 93 35 

Total current assets 2,381 3,365 

   

Non-current assets   

Receivables 579 181 

Investments accounted for using the equity method 108 69 

Financial assets 212 109 

Property, plant and equipment 4,949 2,866 

Intangibles 5 22 

Deferred tax assets 200 - 

Exploration and evaluation assets 926 928 

Mine properties 1,542 202 

Total non-current assets 8,521 4,377 

Total assets 10,902 7,742 
   

Liabilities   

Current liabilities   

Trade and other payables 1,484 825 

Borrowings 253 92 

Employee benefits 266 113 

Provisions 103 72 

Current tax liabilities 8 1 

Liabilities associated with disposal group held for sale - 27 

Total current liabilities 2,114 1,130 

   

Non-current liabilities   

Trade and other payables - 63 

Borrowings 4,984 3,045 

Deferred tax - 34 

Provisions 402 296 

Employee benefits 9 4 

Total non-current liabilities 5,395 3,442 

Total liabilities 7,509 4,572 

Net assets 3,393 3,170 

   

Equity   

Issued capital 862 762 

Reserves 124 65 

Retained profits 2,407 2,343 

Equity attributable to the owners of Mineral Resources Limited 3,393 3,170 

Total equity 3,393 3,170 
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33. RELATED PARTY TRANSACTIONS  

Parent Entity 

Mineral Resources Limited is the Parent Entity. 

Subsidiaries 

Interests in subsidiaries are set out in note 29. 

Associates and Joint Ventures 

Interests in associates and joint ventures are set out in note 30. 

Joint operations 

Interests in joint operations are set out in note 31. 

Key Management Personnel 

Disclosures relating to Key Management Personnel are set out in note 34 and the Remuneration Report that is 

audited and forms part of the Directors' Report. 

Transactions with related parties    

Transactions with related parties are at arm’s length. The value of these transactions were as follows: 

 

 

1 As at 30 June 2024, no amount was due and payable (FY23: nil). Lease rental is paid for the occupancy of properties from which some of the 

Group’s operations are performed. Occupation of these premises date back to prior to the Company’s listing in 2006. The ongoing need for the 

occupation of these premises, as well as the rental arrangements, is assessed periodically. 
2 As at 30 June 2024, an amount of $7,475 (FY23: nil) was due and payable. 
3 As at 30 June 2024, an amount of $157,804 (FY23: nil) was due and payable. Charges include agency and marine services related to importation 

and commissioning of maritime assets, draft survey services, hold inspection services, port captaincy services and marine warranty services. 
4 Annual employee remuneration paid to five (FY23: five) close relatives of the Executive KMP employed by the Group. In FY23, one of the five 

employees was employed on a casual basis and earned less than $10,000 for the financial year. The salary and conditions of any family members, 

including any family members of officers of the Company, are applied consistently based on the relevant band of employment and requisite skills 

and experience, benchmarked against comparator roles and reviewed periodically. 

 

 

 

 

 

 

  

 Group 

 Transaction 

values  

for the year 

ended  

30 June 2024 

$ 

Transaction 

values  

for the year 

ended  

30 June 2023 

$ 

Key Management Personnel / Director’s interests   

Lease rent expense1 2,315,834 2,315,843 

Purchase of catering supplies2 56,683 37,299 

Import/export services expense3 1,248,343 427,991 

Remuneration expense for related parties4 874,251 654,690 
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34. KEY MANAGEMENT PERSONNEL DISCLOSURES 

Compensation 

The aggregate compensation made to Directors and other members of Key Management Personnel of the 

Group is set out below: 

1 The comparative information disclosed has been restated to incorporate awards under the LTIP and RPI granted to certain Executive KMP in 

prior years which were omitted in error. The impact on the FY23 total remuneration expense disclosed is an increase of $378,168, consisting of 

$267,291 (being the RPI equity value) and $110,877 (being the LTI equity value). The restatement impact to FY20 is 112,849, FY21 is $144,525 and 

FY22 is $144,525 (all relating to historical RPI Grants).  

 
Detailed information about the remuneration received by each Executive KMP is provided in the Remuneration 

Report that is audited and forms part of the Directors' Report. 

35. SHARE-BASED PAYMENTS 

Expense arising from share-based payment transactions  

The expense recognised for employee services received during the year is shown in the following table: 

 

Number and fair value of share awards granted during the period 

  

Weighted 

average fair 

value 

Granted 

  $ Number 

FY24 STI plan (for Key Executives)* (Share Rights) 53.92 38,374 

FY24 LTI plan (for Key Executives)* (Share Rights) 68.96 107,876 

FY24 LTI and RPI plans (for Employees)* (Share Rights) 56.80 331,050 

FY24 MyShare** (Share Rights) 55.41 171,677 
* The grant date fair value for these awards incorporates the right to future dividends. Dividend Equivalent Rights are issued in lieu of cash payments when 

dividends are declared by the Group. 

** Refer below for further details of the MyShare arrangement. 

 

The weighted average fair value of the above equity instruments granted was determined with reference to the 

share price on the date of grant. 

 

 

 

 Group 

 2024 

$‘000 

2023 

$‘000 

Short-term employee benefits 9,374 8,175 

Post-employment benefits 289 185 

Share-based payments1    (961) 8,759 

 8,702 17,119 

 Group 

 2024 

$‘000 

2023 

$‘000 

Equity-settled share-based payment transactions 35,306 32,496 
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Additional information on the award schemes granted in FY24 is as follows: 

 

• FY24 Short Term Incentive Plan for Key Executives (FY24 STIP) 

Executive KMP are invited to participate in the FY24 STIP, under which a portion of the award over 50 per 

cent of maximum STI is deferred and awarded as share rights, which will be settled in the form of MinRes 

shares that vest progressively over the two years following grant, subject to continued service and 

application of claw back and malus provisions. 

 

• FY24 Long Term Incentive Plan for Key Executives (FY24 LTIP) 

Executive KMP are invited to participate in the FY24 LTIP, under which participants receive share rights in the 

Company, subject to four years of continuing service and testing of the performance measure over a four-

year performance period. The performance measure in relation to the LTIP is the Company’s four-year 

average ROIC over the performance period compared with hurdles set in advance by the Board. Further 

details on the FY24 LTIP are provided in the Remuneration Report. 

 

• FY24 Long Term Incentive and Retention Plan Incentives for Employees (FY24 Employee LTIP and RPI) 

Under the FY24 Employee LTIP and RPI, eligible employees are invited to receive share rights in the Company, 

subject to employees remaining in service for a period of three to five years from the date of grant. Share 

Rights under the plan do not carry voting entitlements. 

 

• FY24 MyShare  

Under the MyShare plan all eligible employees not already participating in other share plans may elect to 

contribute funds to acquire MinRes shares on-market during the financial year. These shares are then subject 

to a 12-month holding period, after which the shares purchased are matched by the Group. Subject to 

satisfactory performance of duties, no other vesting or performance conditions are attached to these shares. 

 

Equity-settled awards outstanding 

Details of equity-settled share awards outstanding as at the reporting date are presented in the following table: 

 
 

Grant Date 

 

Expected 

Vesting Date 

Outstanding at 

30 June 2024 

Number 

Outstanding at 

30 June 2023 

Number 

 

Vesting conditions 

FY20 LTIP (for Executive KMP) Aug-19 Aug-23 236,638 359,413 Performance: Non-market 

FY20 LTIP (for Employees) Sep-19 Jul-22 81,314 169,361 Service  

FY20 RPI (for Employees) Sep-19 Sep-24 802,634 831,437 Service 

FY21 STIP (for Executive KMP) - 

Deferred shares component 
Aug-21 Aug-22 / 23 - 12,736 Service 

FY21 LTIP (for Executive KMP) Sept-20 Aug-24 219,485 219,485 Performance: Non-market 

FY21 LTIP (for Employees) Dec-20 July-23 164,850 360,891 Service 

FY21 RPI (for Employees) Jul-20 Sep-25 125,247 125,247 Service 

FY22 STIP (for Executive KMP) - 

Deferred shares component 
Aug-22 Aug-23 / 24 9,634 21,268 Service 

FY22 LTIP (for Executive KMP) Oct-21 Aug-25 88,924 88,924 Performance: Non-market 

FY22 LTIP (for Executive KMP) Oct-21 Aug-24 5,793 5,793 Service 

FY22 LTIP (for Employees) Jul-21 Aug-24 206,177 210,057 Service 

FY22 RPI (for Employees) Jul-21 Jul-26 28,738 28,738 Service 

FY23 STIP (for Executive KMP) - 

Deferred shares component 
Aug-23 Aug-24 / 25 11,890 11,890 Service 

FY23 LTIP (for Executive KMP) Nov-22 / Dec-22 Aug-26 155,904 155,904 Performance: Non-market 

FY23 RPI (for Executive KMP) Jul-22 Jul-27 10,230 10,230 Service 

FY23 LTIP (for Employees) Jul-22 Aug-25 312,034 345,346 Service 

FY23 RPI (for Employees) Jul-22 Aug-27 34,406 41,567 Service 

FY24 STIP (for Key Executives) - 

Deferred shares component 
Aug-24 Aug-25 / 26 38,374 - Service  

FY24 LTIP (for Key Executives) Jul-23 / Nov-23 Aug-27 107,876 - Performance: Non-market 

FY24 LTIP (for Employees) Oct-23 Aug-26 326,095 - Service 

FY24 RPI (for Employees) Aug-23 Aug-28 4,955 - Service 

FY22 MyShare (for Employees) Jul-21 Jun-23 - 34,873 Service 

FY23 MyShare (for Employees) Jul-22 Jun-24 109,682 110,577 Service 

FY24 MyShare (for Employees) Jul-23 Jun-25 171,677 - Service 
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Outstanding balance in relation to Share Rights under the FY20, FY21, FY22, FY23 and FY24 plans represent awards 

not yet exercised.  

Accounting policy for share-based payments 

Certain employees may receive remuneration in the form of share-based compensation. 

Equity-settled 

Equity-settled transactions are awards of shares, or options over shares, provided to employees in exchange for 

the rendering of services. 

The cost of equity-settled transactions is measured at fair value on grant date and recognised as an expense 

with a corresponding increase in equity over the vesting period. The cumulative charge to the Consolidated 

Income Statement is calculated based on the grant date fair value of the award, the best estimate of the number 

of awards that are likely to vest and the expired portion of the vesting period. The amount recognised in the 

Consolidated Income Statement for the period is the cumulative amount calculated at each reporting date less 

amounts already recognised in previous periods. 

If the non-vesting condition is within the control of the Group or employee, the failure to satisfy the condition is 

treated as a   cancellation. If the condition is not within the control of the Group or employee and is not satisfied 

during the vesting period, any remaining expense for the award is recognised over the remaining vesting period, 

unless the award is forfeited. 
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36. REMUNERATION OF AUDITORS 

During the financial year, the following fees were paid or payable for services provided by the Auditor of the 

company: 

 

 

 

37. EVENTS AFTER THE REPORTING PERIOD 

There were no material events after the reporting period. 

 

 

 

 

END OF FINANCIAL STATEMENTS

 Group 

 2024 

$'000 

2023 

$'000 

Audit services – Ernst & Young    

Audit or review of the financial statements 3,283 1,842 

Other audit services  2,364 3,610 

Total audit services 5,647 5,452 

   

Audit-related services  208 81 

Total audit-related services 208 81 

   

Non-audit services  368 118 

Total non-audit services 368 118 

   

Total Auditors’ remuneration  6,223 5,651 

 Group 

 2024 

$'000 

2023 

$'000 

Audit services – Ernst & Young Foreign Locations   

Audit or review of the financial statements 79 - 

Total Auditors’ remuneration  79 - 

 Group 

 2024 

$'000 

2023 

$'000 

Audit services – Non-EY firms   

Other audit services  464 171 

Total Auditors’ remuneration  464 171 
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CONSOLIDATED ENTITY DISCLOSURE STATEMENT 

BASIS OF PREPARATION  

This Consolidated Entity Disclosure Statement (CEDS) has been prepared in accordance with the Corporations 

Act 2001. It includes certain information for each entity that was part of the Consolidated Entity at the end of the 

financial year.  

Determination of Tax Residency  

Section 295 (3A) of the Corporations Act 2001 defines tax residency as having the meaning in the Income Tax 

Assessment Act 1997. The determination of tax residency involves judgement as there are currently several 

different interpretations that could be adopted, and which could give rise to a different conclusion on residency. 

It should be noted that the definitions of ‘Australian resident’ and ‘foreign resident’ in the Income Tax Assessment 

Act 1997 are mutually exclusive. This means that if an entity is an ‘Australian resident’ it cannot be a ‘foreign 

resident’ for the purposes of disclosure in the CEDS. 

In determining tax residency, the Consolidated Entity has applied the following interpretations:  

(i) Australian tax residency  

The Consolidated Entity has applied current legislation and judicial precedent, including having regard to the 

Tax Commissioner's public guidance in Tax Ruling TR 2018/5. 

(ii) Foreign tax residency  

The Consolidated Entity has used internal tax specialists to determine the tax residency of foreign incorporated 

subsidiaries. The conclusions reached have been reviewed by an independent advisor. 

(iii) Trusts  

Australian tax law does not contain specific residency tests for trusts. Generally, these entities are taxed on a flow-

through basis, so there is no need for a general residence test. Some provisions treat trusts as residents for certain 

purposes, but this does not mean the trust itself is an entity that is subject to tax. 

Disclosures on trusts that are in the Consolidated Entity have been provided in accordance with section 295(3A) 

of the Corporations Act 2001. 

Name of entity Type of entity 
Country of 

incorporation 

Ownership 

interest % 

Country of tax 

residence 

Aggregate Crushing Australia  

Pty Ltd 
Body Corporate Australia 51.45% Australia 

Ashburton Properties Pty Ltd Body Corporate Australia 100.00% Australia 

Australian Garnet Pty Ltd Body Corporate Australia 64.31% Australia 

Auvex Resources Pty Ltd Body Corporate Australia 100.00% Australia 

Bald Hill Lithium Pty Ltd Body Corporate Australia 100.00% Australia 

Bauxite Mineral Resources Pty Ltd Body Corporate Australia 100.00% Australia 

Buckland Minerals Transport  

Pty Ltd 
Body Corporate Australia 100.00% Australia 

Bulk Ore Shuttle System Pty Ltd Body Corporate Australia 50.00% Australia 

Bungaroo South Pty Ltd Body Corporate Australia 100.00% Australia 

Cape Preston Logistics Pty Ltd Body Corporate Australia 100.00% Australia 

Cattamarra Farms Pty Ltd Body Corporate Australia 90.00% Australia 

Central Systems Pty Ltd Body Corporate Australia 64.31% Australia 

Concrete Construction (WA) Pty 

Ltd  
Body Corporate Australia 64.31% Australia 

Crushing Service Solutions  

Pty Ltd 
Body Corporate Australia 51.45% Australia 

Crushing Services International  

Pty Ltd 
Body Corporate Australia 100.00% Australia 

Eclipse Minerals Pty Ltd Body Corporate Australia 100.00% Australia 

Energy Resources Limited Body Corporate New Zealand 100.00% Australia 
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Name of entity Type of entity 
Country of 

incorporation 

Ownership 

interest % 

Country of tax 

residence 

Everthere Pty Ltd Body Corporate Australia 100.00% Australia 

Flotar Pty Ltd Body Corporate Australia 100.00% Australia 

G & G Mining Fabrication Pty Ltd Body Corporate Australia 100.00% Australia 

Graphite Resources Pty Ltd Body Corporate Australia 100.00% Australia 

Gulf Conveyor Systems (WA) 

Pty Ltd 
Body Corporate Australia 50.00% Australia 

Hedland Iron Pty Ltd Body Corporate Australia 100.00% Australia 

Hitec Energy Pty Ltd Body Corporate Australia 100.00% Australia 

Iron Resources Pty Ltd Body Corporate Australia 100.00% Australia 

Kumina Iron Pty Ltd Body Corporate Australia 100.00% Australia 

LithCo Lithium (Ningbo) Co Ltd Body Corporate China 100.00% China 

Lithco No.2 Pty Ltd Body Corporate Australia 100.00% Australia 

Lithium Mineral Resources 

Pty Ltd 
Body Corporate Australia 100.00% Australia 

Lithium Resources Pty Ltd Body Corporate Australia 100.00% Australia 

Lithium Resources Australia  

Pty Ltd 
Body Corporate Australia 100.00% Australia 

Lithium Resources Investments  

Pty Ltd 
Body Corporate Australia 100.00% Australia 

Lithium Resources Operations  

Pty Ltd 
Body Corporate Australia 100.00% Australia 

Lithium Resources Services Pty Ltd Body Corporate Australia 100.00% Australia 

Lithium Resources Trading  

Pty Ltd 
Body Corporate Australia 100.00% Australia 

Lithium Resources UK Ltd Body Corporate United Kingdom 100.00% United Kingdom 

Location 53 Pty Ltd Body Corporate Australia 50.00% Australia 

Magnetite Mineral Resources  

Pty Ltd 
Body Corporate Australia 100.00% Australia 

Mineral Resources Limited Body Corporate Australia N/A Australia 

Mineral Resources (Equipment) 

Pty Ltd 
Body Corporate Australia 100.00% Australia 

Mineral Resources Rail Pty Ltd Body Corporate Australia 100.00% Australia 

Mineral Resources Transport Pty 

Ltd 
Body Corporate Australia 100.00% Australia 

Mineral Solutions Australia Pty Ltd Body Corporate Australia 51.45% Australia 

MinRes Air Aircraft Pty Ltd Body Corporate Australia 50.00% Australia 

MinRes Air Facilities Pty Ltd Body Corporate Australia 50.00% Australia 

MinRes Air Flight Operations Pty 

Ltd 
Body Corporate Australia 50.00% Australia 

MinRes Air Holdings Pty Ltd Body Corporate Australia 50.00% Australia 

MinRes Child Care Pty Ltd Body Corporate Australia 100.00% Australia 

MinRes Engineering & 

Construction Pty Ltd 
Body Corporate Australia 100.00% Australia 

MinRes Health Pty Ltd Body Corporate Australia 100.00% Australia 

MinRes Iron Ore Pty Ltd Body Corporate Australia 100.00% Australia 

MinRes Marine Pty Ltd Body Corporate Australia 100.00% Australia 

MinRes Mining Services Pty Ltd Body Corporate Australia 100.00% Australia 

MinRes Properties Pty Ltd Body Corporate Australia 100.00% Australia 

MIS.Carbonart Pty Ltd Body Corporate Australia 100.00% Australia 

MN Battery Minerals Pty Ltd Body Corporate Australia 64.31% Australia 

MRL Asset Management Pty Ltd Body Corporate Australia 100.00% Australia 

MRL Rail Pty Ltd Body Corporate Australia 100.00% Australia 

Mt Marion Holdings Pty Ltd Body Corporate Australia 100.00% Australia 
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Name of entity Type of entity 
Country of 

incorporation 

Ownership 

interest % 

Country of tax 

residence 

Mt Marion Lithium Management 

Pty Ltd 
Body Corporate Australia 100.00% Australia 

Norwest Energy Pty Ltd Body Corporate Australia 100.00% Australia 

OIPO Pty Ltd Body Corporate Australia 100.00% Australia 

Onslow Infraco Pty Ltd Body Corporate Australia 100.00% Australia 

Onslow Iron Pty Ltd1 Body Corporate Australia 100.00% Australia 

Onslow Iron Road Pty Ltd2 Body Corporate Australia 100.00% Australia 

Onslow Steel Pty Ltd Body Corporate Australia 100.00% Australia 

Ore Sorting Australia Pty Ltd Body Corporate Australia 51.45% Australia 

Peloton Resources Pty Ltd Body Corporate Australia 64.31% Australia 

PIHA Pty Ltd Body Corporate Australia 100.00% Australia 

PIHA (Water) Pty Ltd Body Corporate Australia 100.00% Australia 

Polaris Metals Pty Ltd Body Corporate Australia 100.00% Australia 

Process Minerals International Pty 

Ltd 
Body Corporate Australia 100.00% Australia 

RDG Technologies Pty Ltd Body Corporate Australia 64.31% Australia 

Resource Development Group 

Limited 
Body Corporate Australia 64.31% Australia 

Steelpile Pty Ltd Body Corporate Australia 100.00% Australia 

Tawana Resources Pty Ltd Body Corporate Australia 100.00% Australia 

Vigor Materials Handling Pty Ltd Body Corporate Australia 100.00% Australia 

Westranch Holdings Pty Ltd Body Corporate Australia 100.00% Australia 

Wodgina Lithium Pty Ltd 3 Body Corporate Australia 100.00% Australia 

Wodgina Lithium Project Services 

Pty Ltd 
Body Corporate Australia 100.00% Australia 

Wonmunna Iron Ore Pty Ltd Body Corporate Australia 100.00% Australia 

Yilgarn Iron Pty Ltd Body Corporate Australia 100.00% Australia 

Onslow Iron Road Trust Trust Australia 100.00% Australia 

Mineral Resources Employee 

Share Trust 
Trust Australia N/A Australia 

ACN 611 494 912 Pty Ltd Body Corporate Australia 100.00% Australia 

ACN 611 495 268 Pty Ltd Body Corporate Australia 100.00% Australia 

ACN 616 667 442 Pty Ltd Body Corporate Australia 100.00% Australia 

ACN 616 677 797 Pty Ltd Body Corporate Australia 100.00% Australia 

ACN 616 678 249 Pty Ltd Body Corporate Australia 100.00% Australia 

ACN 625 973 006 Pty Ltd Body Corporate Australia 100.00% Australia 

ACN 629 923 753 Pty Ltd Body Corporate Australia 100.00% Australia 

ACN 629 927 911 Pty Ltd Body Corporate Australia 100.00% Australia 

ACN 632 334 037 Pty Ltd Body Corporate Australia 100.00% Australia 

ACN 632 334 975 Pty Ltd Body Corporate Australia 100.00% Australia 

ACN 634 817 244 Pty Ltd Body Corporate Australia 100.00% Australia 

ACN 634 841 811 Pty Ltd Body Corporate Australia 100.00% Australia 

ACN 641 843 987 Pty Ltd Body Corporate Australia 100.00% Australia 

ACN 654 242 690 Pty Ltd Body Corporate Australia 100.00% Australia 

ACN 665 883 509 Pty Ltd Body Corporate Australia 100.00% Australia 

ACN 665 973 964 Pty Ltd Body Corporate Australia 100.00% Australia 

ACN 665 974 292 Pty Ltd Body Corporate Australia 100.00% Australia 

ACN 669 538 809 Pty Ltd Body Corporate Australia 100.00% Australia 

ACN 672 099 384 Pty Ltd Body Corporate Australia 100.00% Australia 

ACN 673 442 950 Pty Ltd Body Corporate Australia 100.00% Australia 
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Name of entity Type of entity 
Country of 

incorporation 

Ownership 

interest % 

Country of tax 

residence 

ACN 673 443 948 Pty Ltd Body Corporate Australia 100.00% Australia 
 

1 Manager and participant in Red Hill Iron Ore Joint Venture. 
2 Trustee company for Onslow Iron Road Trust  

3 Participant in MARBL Joint Venture 
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In the Directors' opinion: 

• the attached financial statements and notes comply with the Corporations Act 2001, Australian Accounting 

Standards, the Corporations Regulations 2001 and other mandatory professional reporting requirements 

 

• the attached financial statements and notes comply with International Financial Reporting Standards as 

issued by the International Accounting Standards Board as described in note 1 to the financial statements 

 

• the attached financial statements and notes give a true and fair view of the Group's financial position as at 

30 June 2024 and of its performance for the financial year ended on that date 

 

• the Consolidated Entity Disclosure Statement included in the financial statements is true and correct 

 

• at the date of this declaration, there are reasonable grounds to believe that the Company will be able to 

pay its debts as and when they become due and payable 

 

• at the date of this declaration, there are reasonable grounds to believe that the members of the Closed 

Group will be able to meet any obligations or liabilities to which they are or may become subject, by virtue 

of the Deed of Cross Guarantee identified in note 32.   

The Directors have been given the declarations required by section 295A of the Corporations Act 2001. 

 

Signed in accordance with a resolution of Directors made pursuant to section 295(5)(a) of the Corporations Act 

2001. 

On behalf of the Directors 

 

 

 

Chris Ellison  

Managing Director 

 

28 August 2024  

Perth 
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A member firm of Ernst & Young Global Limited 
Liability limited by a scheme approved under Professional Standards Legislation 

Ernst & Young 
11 Mounts Bay Road 
Perth  WA  6000  Australia 
GPO Box M939   Perth  WA  6843 

 Tel: +61 8 9429 2222 
Fax: +61 8 9429 2436 
ey.com/au 

 

Independent auditor’s report to the members of Mineral Resources Limited 

Report on the audit of the financial report 

Opinion 

We have audited the financial report of Mineral Resources Limited (the Company) and its subsidiaries 
(collectively the Group), which comprises the consolidated balance sheet as at 30 June 2024, the 
consolidated income statement, consolidated statement of changes in equity and consolidated statement 
of cash flows for the year then ended, notes to the financial statements, including material accounting 
policy information, the consolidated entity disclosure statement and the directors’ declaration. 

In our opinion, the accompanying financial report of the Group is in accordance with the Corporations Act 
2001, including: 

a. Giving a true and fair view of the consolidated financial position of the Group as at 30 June 2024 and 
of its consolidated financial performance for the year ended on that date; and 

b. Complying with Australian Accounting Standards and the Corporations Regulations 2001. 

Basis for opinion 

We conducted our audit in accordance with Australian Auditing Standards. Our responsibilities under 
those standards are further described in the Auditor’s responsibilities for the audit of the financial report 
section of our report. We are independent of the Group in accordance with the auditor independence 
requirements of the Corporations Act 2001 and the ethical requirements of the Accounting Professional 
and Ethical Standards Board’s APES 110 Code of Ethics for Professional Accountants (including 
Independence Standards) (the Code) that are relevant to our audit of the financial report in Australia. We 
have also fulfilled our other ethical responsibilities in accordance with the Code.  

We believe that the audit evidence we have obtained is sufficient and appropriate to provide a basis for 
our opinion. 

Key audit matters 

Key audit matters are those matters that, in our professional judgment, were of most significance in our 
audit of the financial report of the current year. These matters were addressed in the context of our audit 
of the financial report as a whole, and in forming our opinion thereon, but we do not provide a separate 
opinion on these matters. For each matter below, our description of how our audit addressed the matter is 
provided in that context. 

We have fulfilled the responsibilities described in the Auditor’s responsibilities for the audit of the financial 
report section of our report, including in relation to these matters. Accordingly, our audit included the 
performance of procedures designed to respond to our assessment of the risks of material misstatement 
of the financial report. The results of our audit procedures, including the procedures performed to address 
the matters below, provide the basis for our audit opinion on the accompanying financial report. 
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Recognition of revenue on long-term construction contracts 

Why significant How our audit addressed the key audit matter 

The Group earns revenue from a number of sources, 
including but not limited to Iron Ore sales, Lithium 
sales, mining services and construction contracts. For 
the year ended 30 June 2024, a significant 
component of the Group’s revenue was derived from 
construction contracts.  

Revenue recognition from construction contracts 
involves a significant degree of judgment, with 
estimates being made in relation to: 

► Determining the transaction price under the 
customer contract. 

► Estimating the total anticipated construction 
costs. 

► Measuring the Group’s progress towards the 
complete satisfaction of the performance 
obligations under the customer contract. 

► Providing for onerous contracts, if any.  

The Group’s accounting policies and disclosures for 
construction contract revenue are detailed in Note 4 
to the financial report. 

Due to the judgement required in the determination of 
revenue recognition, we considered the accounting 
for construction contracts to be a key audit matter.  

 

We assessed the construction contract revenue 
calculations prepared by the Group, evaluated the 
assumptions and methodologies used and the 
estimates made. Our audit procedures included the 
following:  

► Understanding the design of controls over the 
Group’s internal methodology for determining 
estimated total contract costs and forecast costs 
to complete work, used to calculate the Group’s 
progress under construction contracts.  

► Assessing any provisions for onerous contracts 
and whether these appropriately reflected the 
expected contractual positions. 

For significant contracts in progress at 30 June 
2024, our audit procedures included: 

► Examining contracts and holding discussions 
with Group executives to understand the specific 
terms and risks of those contracts to evaluate 
the revenue recognition policies adopted by the 
Group. 

► Understanding the performance and status of 
the contracts through enquiries with key 
executives with oversight over the contract 
portfolios.  

► Testing a sample of actual costs incurred 
through the examination of underlying evidence, 
such as payroll costs and external invoices. 

► Assessing the contract status through the 
examination of external evidence, such as 
approved variations, customer correspondence 
and customer confirmations of amounts owed. 

► Analysing the Group’s estimates of total 
contract costs and forecast costs to complete 
work under the contracts.  

► For projects with known disputes, if any, sighting 
claim documentation, meeting with internal 
General Counsel and reviewing supporting 
documentation in relation to the status, 
entitlement, obligations and disclosure of these 
matters.  

We also considered the adequacy and completeness 
of the financial report disclosures.  
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Accounting for investments 

Why significant How our audit addressed the key audit matter 

As at 30 June 2024, the Group held a range of 
investment interests in: 

► Companies, accounted for as investments at fair 
value through profit and loss, joint ventures, 
joint operations, associates or subsidiaries.  

► Unincorporated arrangements, typically 
accounted for as joint operations or undivided 
interests.  

The accounting for these investments is initially 
determined at the point of investment, but 
subsequent matters may impact the accounting on a 
prospective basis.  

These matters include but are not limited to:  

► Changes to ownership interests through 
participation or non-participation in share 
issues, acquisitions or disposals of shares or the 
exercise of options. 

► Changes to the commercial or contractual terms 
of arrangements, impacting decision-making, 
off-take, supply, lease, product sale or other 
factors that may influence the commercial 
nature of the investment relationships.  

The Group’s assessment of the contractual and 
commercial terms of each investment, including 
consideration of any related supply, sale, lease or 
management agreements may impact the 
categorisation of the investment for accounting 
purposes. This in turn may materially impact the 
accounting for the investment upon initial recognition 
and thereafter.  

Due to the volume and materiality of the Group’s 
investments and the risks associated with 
amendments to terms and conditions impacting the 
accounting treatment of the investments on a 
prospective basis, we considered the accounting for 
investments to be a key audit matter.  

We assessed the initial and current period accounting 
for significant investments by examining:  

► Shareholder and other governance contracts 
and agreements, including consideration of 
board composition. 

► Management agreements, where applicable.  

► Sale and supply agreements, where applicable.  

► Options to acquire additional ownership 
interests at future dates.  

► The terms and conditions of all contracts and 
other agreements relevant to understanding the 
commercial substance of the investment 
arrangements.  

Our procedures were designed to test whether the 
Group’s application of AASB 3 Business 
Combinations, AASB 9 Financial Instruments, AASB 
10 Consolidated Financial Statements, AASB 11 Joint 
Arrangements, AASB 12 Disclosure of Interests in 
Other Entities, AASB 15 Revenue from Contracts 
with Customers, and AASB 128 Investments in 
Associates and Joint Ventures had been correctly 
applied. 

We also considered the adequacy and completeness 
of the financial report disclosures. 
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Carrying values of non-financial assets 

Why significant How our audit addressed the key audit matter 

Australian Accounting Standards require the Group to 
assess in respect of the reporting period, whether 
there are any indications that an asset may be 
impaired, or conversely whether reversal of a 
previously recognised impairment may be required. If 
any such indication exists, an entity shall estimate the 
recoverable amount of the asset or Cash Generating 
Unit (CGU). 

At year end, the Group identified impairment 
indicators in respect of the Yilgarn and Utah Point 
CGUs in the iron ore segment and the Bald Hill CGU in 
the lithium segment. The completion of impairment 
testing resulted in an impairment charge of $90 
million being recognised, as disclosed in Note 16 to 
the financial report. No impairment reversals were 
identified. 

Where impairment indicators are identified, 
forecasting cash flows used to determine the 
recoverable amount of a CGU involves critical 
accounting estimates and judgments and is affected 
by expected future performance and market 
conditions.  

The key forecast inputs, including commodity prices, 
foreign exchange rates, forecast production 
outcomes and operating and capital costs used in the 
Group’s impairment assessment, are set out in Note 
16 to the financial report. 

The assessments for indicators of impairment are 
judgmental and include a range of external and 
internal factors. For this reason, we considered the 
impairment testing of the Group’s CGUs and the 
related disclosures in the financial report, to be a key 
audit matter. 

 

Assessing indicators of impairment 

We evaluated the Group’s assessment as to whether 
indicators of impairment or reversal of impairment 
existed. Our evaluation included specific matters 
related to the Group, its CGUs, as well as the industry 
sector and broader market-based indicators. 

Impairment testing of CGUs for which triggers were 
identified 

We focussed on the composition of the forecast cash 
flows and the reasonableness of key inputs used to 
formulate recoverable amounts. These procedures 
included: 

► In conjunction with our valuation specialists: 

► Independently developing a reasonable 
range of forecast commodity prices, based 
upon external data. We compared this 
range to the Group’s forecast commodity 
price assumptions, to challenge whether 
the Group’s assumptions were reasonable. 
In developing our ranges, we obtained a 
variety of reputable third-party forecasts 
and market data. 

► Independently evaluating discount rates 
and foreign exchange rates used by the 
Group for impairment tests. 

► Testing the mathematical accuracy of the 
Group’s discounted cash flow models and 
assessing whether the resulting impairment 
was calculated in accordance with the 
requirements of Australian Accounting 
Standards. 

► Considering the results of independent 
external valuations and assessing the 
qualifications, competence and objectivity 
of the external valuers. 

► Assessing whether all assets and liabilities have 
been correctly allocated to the CGUs.  
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Carrying values of non-financial assets (continued) 

Why significant How our audit addressed the key audit matter 

 
► Understanding the operational performance of 

the CGUs relative to plan, comparing future 
operating and development expenditure within 
the impairment assessments to current 
sanctioned budgets, historical expenditures and 
long-term asset plans and ensuring variations to 
historical budgets were in accordance with our 
expectations based upon other information 
obtained throughout the audit. 

Future production profiles  

A key input to impairment assessments is the Group’s 
production forecasts, which are closely related to the 
mine plans. Our audit procedures focused on the work 
of the Group’s internal experts and included: 

► Assessing the processes associated with 
estimating ore to be mined. 

► Assessing the competence, capability and 
objectivity of the Group’s internal experts 
involved in the estimation process.  

We also considered the findings, competence, 
capability and objectivity of any independent external 
assessments of resources factored into the 
recoverable amount calculations.  

We also considered the adequacy and completeness 
of the financial report disclosures. 
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Site rehabilitation provisions 

Why significant How our audit addressed the key audit matter 

At 30 June 2024, the Group recognised provisions 
for site rehabilitation of $510 million as disclosed in 
Note 20. The calculation of site rehabilitation 
provisions is complex and requires judgmental 
assumptions and estimates to be made by the Group 
regarding rehabilitation timing, extent of activity 
required to comply with environmental legislation and 
regulations, the methodology for estimating costs, 
expected inflation as well as discount rates to 
determine the present value of these cash flows.  

Specialist expertise may be required in the 
determination of certain cost estimates. 

The judgments and estimates in respect of site 
rehabilitation provisions are based upon conditions 
existing at 30 June 2024.  

The significant assumptions and estimates outlined 
above are inherently subjective. Changes to these 
assumptions can lead to changes in the site 
rehabilitation provisions. For this reason, we consider 
the site rehabilitation provision calculation and the 
related disclosures in the financial report to be a key 
audit matter.  

We assessed the site rehabilitation provisions 
prepared by the Group, evaluating the assumptions 
and methodologies used and the estimates made. Our 
audit procedures included the following:  

► Understanding the design of controls over the 
Group’s internal methodology for determining 
and approving cost estimates used to calculate 
the Group’s site rehabilitation provisions.  

► In conjunction with our environmental 
specialists: 

► Assessing the reasonableness and 
completeness of site rehabilitation cost 
estimates based on the relevant current 
legal and regulatory requirements. 

► Assessing the competence, capability and 
objectivity of the Group’s experts engaged 
to carry out the gross site rehabilitation 
cost estimations as a basis for our reliance 
on the output of their work. 

► Comparing current year cost estimates to 
those of the prior year and considering 
explanations from management regarding 
observed changes. 

► Comparing the timing of the future cash 
outflows, cross-checking that these dates were 
consistent with the Group’s life of mine models 
and impairment calculations, where available.  

► Evaluating the appropriateness of the discount 
rates, inflation rates and other inputs to the 
calculations. 

► Testing the mathematical accuracy of the site 
rehabilitation provision calculations. 

We also considered the adequacy and completeness 
of the financial report disclosures. 
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Information other than the financial report and auditor’s report thereon 

The directors are responsible for the other information. The other information comprises the information 
included in the Company’s 2024 annual report other than the financial report and our auditor’s report 
thereon. We obtained the directors’ report that is to be included in the annual report, prior to the date of 
this auditor’s report, and we expect to obtain the remaining sections of the annual report after the date of 
this auditor’s report.  

Our opinion on the financial report does not cover the other information and we do not and will not 
express any form of assurance conclusion thereon, with the exception of the audited sections of the 
Remuneration Report and our related assurance opinion. 

In connection with our audit of the financial report, our responsibility is to read the other information and, 
in doing so, consider whether the other information is materially inconsistent with the financial report or 
our knowledge obtained in the audit or otherwise appears to be materially misstated.  

If, based on the work we have performed on the other information obtained prior to the date of this 
auditor’s report, we conclude that there is a material misstatement of this other information, we are 
required to report that fact. We have nothing to report in this regard. 

Responsibilities of the directors for the financial report 

The directors of the Company are responsible for the preparation of: 

a. The financial report (other than the consolidated entity disclosure statement) that gives a true and fair 
view in accordance with Australian Accounting Standards and the Corporations Act 2001; and; 

b. The consolidated entity disclosure statement that is true and correct in accordance with the 
Corporations Act 2001, and  

for such internal control as the directors determine is necessary to enable the preparation of: 

i. The financial report (other than the consolidated entity disclosure statement) that gives a true 
and fair view and is free from material misstatement, whether due to fraud or error; and 

ii. The consolidated entity disclosure statement that is true and correct and is free of 
misstatement, whether due to fraud or error. 

In preparing the financial report, the directors are responsible for assessing the Group’s ability to continue 
as a going concern, disclosing, as applicable, matters relating to going concern and using the going 
concern basis of accounting unless the directors either intend to liquidate the Group or to cease 
operations, or have no realistic alternative but to do so. 
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Auditor’s responsibilities for the audit of the financial report 

Our objectives are to obtain reasonable assurance about whether the financial report as a whole is free 
from material misstatement, whether due to fraud or error, and to issue an auditor’s report that includes 
our opinion. Reasonable assurance is a high level of assurance, but is not a guarantee that an audit 
conducted in accordance with the Australian Auditing Standards will always detect a material 
misstatement when it exists. Misstatements can arise from fraud or error and are considered material if, 
individually or in the aggregate, they could reasonably be expected to influence the economic decisions of 
users taken on the basis of this financial report. 

As part of an audit in accordance with the Australian Auditing Standards, we exercise professional 
judgment and maintain professional scepticism throughout the audit. We also: 

► Identify and assess the risks of material misstatement of the financial report, whether due to fraud or 
error, design and perform audit procedures responsive to those risks, and obtain audit evidence that 
is sufficient and appropriate to provide a basis for our opinion. The risk of not detecting a material 
misstatement resulting from fraud is higher than for one resulting from error, as fraud may involve 
collusion, forgery, intentional omissions, misrepresentations, or the override of internal control. 

► Obtain an understanding of internal control relevant to the audit in order to design audit procedures 
that are appropriate in the circumstances, but not for the purpose of expressing an opinion on the 
effectiveness of the Group’s internal control.  

► Evaluate the appropriateness of accounting policies used and the reasonableness of accounting 
estimates and related disclosures made by the directors. 

► Conclude on the appropriateness of the directors’ use of the going concern basis of accounting and, 
based on the audit evidence obtained, whether a material uncertainty exists related to events or 
conditions that may cast significant doubt on the Group’s ability to continue as a going concern. If we 
conclude that a material uncertainty exists, we are required to draw attention in our auditor’s report 
to the related disclosures in the financial report or, if such disclosures are inadequate, to modify our 
opinion. Our conclusions are based on the audit evidence obtained up to the date of our auditor’s 
report. However, future events or conditions may cause the Group to cease to continue as a going 
concern.  

► Evaluate the overall presentation, structure and content of the financial report, including the 
disclosures, and whether the financial report represents the underlying transactions and events in a 
manner that achieves fair presentation. 

► Obtain sufficient appropriate audit evidence regarding the financial information of the entities or 
business activities within the Group to express an opinion on the financial report. We are responsible 
for the direction, supervision and performance of the Group audit. We remain solely responsible for 
our audit opinion. 

We communicate with the directors regarding, among other matters, the planned scope and timing of the 
audit and significant audit findings, including any significant deficiencies in internal control that we 
identify during our audit. 
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We also provide the directors with a statement that we have complied with relevant ethical requirements 
regarding independence, and to communicate with them all relationships and other matters that may 
reasonably be thought to bear on our independence, and where applicable, actions taken to eliminate 
threats or safeguards applied. 

From the matters communicated to the directors, we determine those matters that were of most 
significance in the audit of the financial report of the current year and are therefore the key audit matters. 
We describe these matters in our auditor’s report unless law or regulation precludes public disclosure 
about the matter or when, in extremely rare circumstances, we determine that a matter should not be 
communicated in our report because the adverse consequences of doing so would reasonably be expected 
to outweigh the public interest benefits of such communication.  

Report on the audit of the Remuneration Report 

Opinion on the Remuneration Report 

We have audited the Remuneration Report except for the disclosures noted in Section 5.1 and Section 5.5 
relating to non-financial and non-IFRS information, included in the directors’ report for the year ended 30 
June 2024. 

In our opinion, the Remuneration Report of Mineral Resources Limited for the year ended 30 June 2024, 
complies with section 300A of the Corporations Act 2001. 

Responsibilities 

The directors of the Company are responsible for the preparation and presentation of the Remuneration 
Report in accordance with section 300A of the Corporations Act 2001. Our responsibility is to express an 
opinion on the Remuneration Report, based on our audit conducted in accordance with Australian Auditing 
Standards. 

 
 
 
Ernst & Young 
 
 
 
 
D S Lewsen    Philip Teale 
Partner     Partner 
Perth     Perth 
28 August 2024 
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GLOSSARY 

1H, 2H, FY First half, second half, full year 

$ Australian dollar 

US$ United States dollar 

Auditor 
Ernst & Young Australia or “EY” acting in their capacity as external Auditors of the 

Group  

Australian 

Accounting 

Standards 

Australian Accounting Standards are developed, issued and maintained by the 

Australian Accounting Standards Board, an Australian Government agency under 

the Australian Securities and Investments Commission Act 2001 

AASB Australian Accounting Standards Board 

AM Member of the Order of Australia 

ASX The Australian Securities Exchange 

bn Billion 

CAGR Compound annual growth rate 

CEDS Consolidated Entity Disclosure Statement 

CFR Cost and freight rate 

CFR Cost 

Operating costs before interest, tax, depreciation and amortisation (adjusted for 

impact of one-off, non-operating gains or losses), where it pertains to the Iron Ore 

and Lithium segments 

Corporations Act Corporations Act 2001 of the Commonwealth of Australia 

dmt Dry metric tonnes 

EPS Earnings per share 

FOB Cost CFR Cost less royalties and freight  

Functional 

Currency 

The currency of the primary economic environment in which the entity operates as 

defined in AASB 121 The Effects of Changes in Foreign Exchange Rates 

Gross debt Total borrowings and finance lease liabilities 

Gross gearing Gross debt / (gross debt + equity) 

k Thousand 

LTIFR Lost Time Injury Frequency Rate 

M Million 

Mineral Reserves 

A Mineral Reserve is the economically mineable part of a Measured or Indicated 

Mineral Resource. It includes diluting materials and allowances for losses, which may 

occur when the material is mined or extracted and is defined by studies at Pre-

Feasibility or Feasibility level, which include the application of modifying factors. Such 

studies demonstrate that, at the time of reporting, extraction could reasonably be 

justified. Mineral Reserves are sub-divided in order of increasing confidence into 

Probable and Proved classification. 

Mineral Resources / 

Resources 

A concentration or occurrence of material of intrinsic economic interest in or on the 

Earth’s crust in such form, quantity and quality that there are reasonable prospects 

for eventual economic extraction. The location, quantity, grade, geological 

characteristics and continuity of a mineral resource are known, estimated or 

interpreted from specific geological evidence and knowledge. Mineral resources 

are sub-divided, in order of increasing geological confidence, into Inferred, 

Indicated and Measured categories. Where capitalised, this term refers to MinRes’ 

estimated Mineral Resources. 

Net debt/(cash) Gross debt less cash and cash equivalents. Includes finance lease liabilities. 

pcp Prior corresponding period 

Presentation 

Currency 
The currency in which the financial statements are presented as defined in AASB 121 
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Rights 
A right to Shares in the Company under the applicable long-term share incentive 

plan 

ROIC 
Return On Invested Capital calculated as Net Operating Profit After Tax / Invested 

Capital at consensus commodity prices 

T or t Wet metric tonnes unless otherwise stated 

TMM Total Material Mined 

TRIFR Total Recordable Injury Frequency Rate per million hours worked 

TSR 
Total Shareholder Return being CAGR in gain from change in share price plus 

dividends paid 

Underlying EBIT 
Earnings Before Interest and Tax adjusted for impact of one-off, non-operating gains 

or losses 

Underlying EBITDA 
Earnings Before Interest, Tax, Depreciation and Amortisation adjusted for impact of 

one-off, non-operating gains or losses 

Underlying PBT Profit Before Tax adjusted for impact of one-off, non-operating gains or losses 

Underlying NPAT 
Net Profit After Tax adjusted for after tax impact of one-off, non-operating gains or 

losses 

wmt Wet metric tonnes 
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IMPORTANT INFORMATION 

NON-IFRS FINANCIAL INFORMATION 

This Financial Report includes certain metrics, such as Underlying EBITDA, FOB Cost, Return on Invested Capital, 

Underlying Operating Cash Flow before Financing and Tax, that are non-IFRS financial measures within the 

meaning of ASIC Regulatory Guide 230: Disclosing non-IFRS financial information. These non-IFRS measures have 

been calculated by reference to information prepared in accordance with IFRS. However, these non-IFRS 

measures do not have a standardised meaning prescribed by IFRS and may be calculated differently by other 

companies.  

The non-IFRS financial information included in this report is used by MinRes to assess the underlying performance 

of the business. The non-IFRS information has not been subject to audit or review by MinRes’ external auditor. 

Although MinRes believes these non-IFRS measures provide useful information to investors and other market 

participants, readers are cautioned not to place undue reliance on any non-IFRS financial information 

presented. Non-IFRS financial information should be used in addition to, and not as a substitute for, information 

prepared in accordance with IFRS. 

FORWARD-LOOKING STATEMENTS 

This Financial Report contains certain “forward-looking statements” and comments about future events, 

including in relation to MinRes’ businesses, results of operations and financial condition, plans and strategies, 

market conditions, risk management practices and expected trends in the industry in which MinRes currently 

operates. Forward looking statements can generally be identified using words such as, “aim”, “anticipate”, 

“believe”, “could”, “estimate”, “expect”, “going forward”, “intend”, “may”, “plan”, “project”, “seek”, “should”, 

“will”, “would”, “likely”, “predict”, “propose”, “forecast”, “estimate”, “target” and other similar words.  

Indications of, and guidance or outlook on, future earnings, anticipated production, life of mine or financial 

position or performance are also forward-looking statements. These forward-looking statements involve inherent 

known and unknown risks, assumptions, uncertainties, both general and specific, and there is a risk that 

predictions, forecasts, projections and other forward-looking statements will not be achieved.  

Several important factors could cause MinRes’ actual results, performance or achievements, or industry results, 

to differ materially from the plans, objectives, expectations, estimates, targets and intentions expressed or 

implied in such forward-looking statements, and many of these factors are beyond MinRes’ control. Relevant 

factors many include  (but are not limited to) changes in commodity prices, foreign exchange fluctuations and 

general economic conditions, increased costs and demand for production inputs, the speculative nature of 

exploration and project development, including the risks of obtaining necessary licences and permits and 

diminishing quantities or grades of reserves, political and social risks, changes to the regulatory framework within 

which MinRes operates or may in the future operate, environmental conditions including extreme weather 

conditions, recruitment and retention of personnel, industrial relations issues and litigation. 

Forward-looking statements are based on MinRes’ good faith assumptions as to the financial, market, regulatory 

and other relevant environments that will exist and affect MinRes’ business and operations in the future. MinRes 

does not give any assurance that the assumptions will prove to be correct. Circumstances may change and 

the contents of this Financial Report may become outdated as a result. Further, forward-looking statements 

speak only as of the date of this Financial Report, and except where required by law, MinRes does not intend to 

update or revise any forward-looking statements, or to publish prospective financial information in the future, 

regardless of whether new information, future events or any other factors affect the information contained in 

this Financial Report. Readers are cautioned not to place undue reliance on forward-looking statements, 

particularly in the current economic climate with the significant volatility, uncertainty and disruption in world 

markets due to global conflicts and other factors. Nothing in this Financial Report is a promise or representation 

as to the future, and past performance is not a guarantee of future performance. Neither MinRes nor its directors, 

officers, employees and advisors make any representation or warranty as to the accuracy of such statements 

or assumptions. Except for statutory liability which cannot be excluded, each of MinRes, its officers, employees 

and advisors expressly disclaim (to the fullest extent permitted by law) any responsibility for the accuracy or 

completeness of the material contained in these forward-looking statements and exclude all liability whatsoever 

(including in negligence) for any loss or damage which may be suffered by any person as a consequence of 

any information in forward-looking statements or any error or omission or anything otherwise arising in connection 

with these. 
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A:   20 WALTERS DRIVE, OSBORNE PARK, 

       WESTERN AUSTRALIA 6017 

 

P:    LOCKED BAG 13, 

       OSBORNE PARK DC, WA 6916 

 

T:    +61 8 9329 3600 

  

F:    +61 8 9329 3601 

 

E:    RECEPTION@MRL.COM.AU 

 

W:   WWW.MRL.COM.AU 

 

F
or

 p
er

so
na

l u
se

 o
nl

y

mailto:RECEPTION@MRL.COM.AU



